## मरुत्सूकार्थः

# On the meaning of hymns to Maruts in Rgveda.

Interpretation and notes by Dmitri Semenov.

April 2017 - June 2018

Sattarka Publications

Copyright © 2018 Dmitri Semenov

No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced for commer-

cial purposes without permission in writing from the author.

ISBN 978-1-387-86031-9

All rights reserved.

ukṣná ṛṣvấya bíbhrate bheṣajấ śáṃtamā sádam | ásuro hí dhiyấḥ paró prá me mánma bibharmi tád ||

## Contents

Introduction	7
Paradigm	13
Marut-s characteristics	14
The origin of Marut-s	14
Appearance	16
Movements	16
Character	17
Similarity to each other	19
Cognitive characteristics	19
What do Marut-s do	20
Marut-s as benefactors, helpers and warriors	21
Marut-s and sacrifices	22
Marut-s' effects on humans	23
Effects on cognition	23
Effects on emotional and social sphere	24
Effects on physical body	24
Symbols	25
Translation	29
RigVeda 1.15.2	30
RigVeda 1.19	31
RigVeda 1.23.10–12	33
RigVeda 1.31	34
RigVeda 1.37	35
RigVeda 1.38	38
RigVeda 1.39	42
RigVeda 1.64	45
RigVeda 1.85	50
RigVeda 1.86	54

4 CONTENTS

RigVeda 1.87.																56
RigVeda 1.88 .																58
RigVeda 1.161.1	4 .															61
RigVeda 1.165																62
RigVeda 1.166																68
RigVeda 1.167																73
RigVeda 1.168																77
RigVeda 1.169																81
RigVeda 1.171																84
RigVeda 1.172																86
RigVeda 2.34.																87
RigVeda 3.26.4-	6.															92
RigVeda 3.54.13																93
RigVeda 5.29.																94
RigVeda 5.52.																99
RigVeda 5.53.																104
RigVeda 5.54.																108
RigVeda 5.55.																113
RigVeda 5.56.																116
RigVeda 5.57.																119
RigVeda 5.58.																122
RigVeda 5.59.																125
RigVeda 5.60 .				•		•										128
RigVeda $6.50.4$ –	5.															131
RigVeda 6.66 .													•			132
RigVeda 7.56 .				•		•										136
RigVeda 7.57 .				•									•			143
RigVeda 7.58 .																145
RigVeda 7.59 .				•									•			147
RigVeda 7.104.1	8.		•	•		•	•				•	•	•	•		150
RigVeda 8.7				•									•			151
RigVeda 8.20 .				•		•							•	•		158
RigVeda 8.27 .			•	•		•	•					•	•	•		164
RigVeda 8.94 .			•	•		•	•					•	•	•		170
RigVeda 8.96.5–	10			•							•		•			173
RigVeda 10.77				•									•			175
RigVeda 10.78				•		•						•	•		•	178
Vocabulary															1	181
Divinities																182
Environment .		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		184
Martial terms .		•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	•		186
mannan centis.		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	100

CONTENTS 5

	How <i>Marut</i> -s move
	Force, power, and intensity 189
	Marut-s' characteristics 191
	What is asked of <i>Marut</i> -s 194
	Ritual terms
	Various
	Various verbal roots
Index	208
Bibliograp	hy 212

6 CONTENTS

What is *Rgveda*? It is a collection of hymns meticulously preserved in every syllable and every accent by generations of learned Brahmins for at least three thousand years. Ancient Indian tradition holds *Rgveda* to be the "Book of Knowledge" that is a source of many subsequent spiritual ideas and philosophical schools.

The hymns of *Rgveda* were and are interpreted in variety of ways, yet many passages are still obscure. Even when received interpretations yield bring some clarity to the text they do not reveal the light of knowledge attributed to *Rgveda*. In words of Sri Aurobindo,

We have in the Rig Veda ... a body of sacrificial hymns couched in a very ancient language which presents a number of almost insoluble difficulties. It is full of ancient forms and words which do not appear in later speech and have often to be fixed in some doubtful sense by intelligent conjecture; a mass even of the words that it has in common with classical Sanskrit seem to bear or at least to admit another significance than in the later literary tongue; and a multitude of its vocables, especially the most common, those which are most vital to the sense, are capable of a surprising number of unconnected significances which may give, according to our preference in selection, quite different complexions to whole passages, whole hymns and even to the whole thought of the Veda.<sup>1</sup>

. . .

Both of them  $(S\bar{a}yana$  and modern European scholarship) present one characteristic in common, the extraor-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Secret of the Veda [Aur98, pp. 3–4]

dinary incoherence and poverty of sense which their results stamp upon the ancient hymns. The separate lines can be given, whether naturally or by force of conjecture, a good sense or a sense that hangs together; the diction that results, if garish in style, if loaded with otiose and decorative epithets, if developing extraordinarily little of meaning in an amazing mass of gaudy figure and verbiage, can be made to run into intelligible sentences: but when we come to read the hymns as a whole we seem to be in the presence of men who, unlike the early writers of other races, were incapable of coherent and natural expression or of connected thought. Except in the briefer and simpler hymns, the language tends to be either obscure or artificial; the thoughts are either unconnected or have to be forced and beaten by the interpreter into a whole.<sup>2</sup>

This book is an attempt to remedy the problems outlined by Sri Aurobindo, although only for a small segment of *Rgveda*.

Most hymns of Raveda are addressing deva-s, which term deva — can be loosely translated as "divinity" or even "god", but such translations, accepted mostly without scrutiny, contribute to nothing but confusion. The words "god", "divinity" conjure up something absolute, definite, having defined sphere of action, and well separated from other "gods" or "divinities". Yet deva-s of Raveda are born from each other "like days" though being immortal; none of them has full anthropomorphic representation like Olympians, and sometimes they take on each other's functions or even become another deva-s. Thus, in what follows the term will be used as is without any translation. Among as many as thirty three various deva-s singly mentioned in Rayeda there is a troop of deva-s named Marut-s of which none is mentioned individually. Who or what are they? Despite the fact that this troop of deva-s is mentioned in the hymns of Rayeda 424 times, and derivatives of the word marut (marutvat, māruta, sumāruta, mārutī) are used 112 times, it is far from clear. There are several interpretations of Raveda's Marut-s.

Nirukta<sup>3</sup> 11.13-14<sup>4</sup> states that Marut-s belong to a group of deva-s that are "positioned in the middle"  $(madhyasth\bar{a}na)$  and de-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Secret of the Veda [Aur98, p. 6]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>ancient Sanskrit treatise by Yaska on etymology, philology and semantics <sup>4</sup>[Sar98, p.173]

rives the name Marut from "having measured scream or cry" (mitaravin) or from "having measured radiance" (mitarovin) or from "running or fleeing a lot" (mahaddravanti). Neither of these characteristics makes Marut hymns less obscure, and none of them reflects accurately characterizations of Marut-s given in the hymns.

Max Müller and with him many Western indologists accept that Marut-s are powers behind thunderstorms and strong winds.

Marut and maruta in ordinary Sanskrit mean wind, and more particularly a strong wind, differing by its violent character from  $v\bar{a}yu$  or  $v\bar{a}ta$ . ... Storms which root up the trees of the forest, lightning, thunder, and showers of rain, are the background from which the Maruts in their personal and dramatic character rise before our eyes. [Mü, p. XXIII]

Their character has both naturalistic and social aspects. One one hand, they are the embodiment of the thunderstorm, especially of the monsoon, and many of their aspects reflect this natural phenomenon...

As a social phenomenon, the Maruts represent the Männerbund, an association of young men, usually at a stage of life without significant other social ties ..., who band together for rampageous and warlike pursuits.[JB14, p. 49]

A different naturalistic interpretation was given by T.Paramasiva Iyer who equated *Marut*-s with "snows" [Iye11, p.30]. Yet another naturalistic interpretation was given by R.N.Iyengar who proposed in [Iye10] to understand *Marut*-s as *meteoritic showers*.

The main problem with all of the mentioned naturalistic interpretations is that they fit well only to a small fraction of statements about *Marut*-s in the *Rgveda* while making the rest mostly disconnected or irrelevant. An interpretation quite diverging from these was proposed by Sri Aurobindo in the "The Secret of the Veda" where he stated that:

"The Maruts are the powers of Thought which by the strong and apparently destructive motion of their progress break down that which is established and help to the attainment of new formations." [Aur98, p. 255].

The very variety of existing interpretations demonstrates the complexity of the question "Who or what are *Marut-s*?"

This book presents an interpretation of "Marut-s" that builds upon Sri Aurobindo's idea and aims at a unified vision of Marut-s as powers inside individuals that cause formation of troops akin to the Männerbund, and for which naturalistic phenomena mentioned above are a fitting metaphor. The method by which the interpretation is obtained is outlined in [Sem18].

There are several pitfalls of existing interpretations that I attempted to avoid. One is fitting only a small fraction of stanzas about Marut-s, picking and choosing ones that support the proposed idea. Another is to assume simplicity of underlying the hymns of Rgveda ideas which assumption was clearly formulated by Max Müller in [Mü, p.86] in notes to stanza 1.38.4 as "this seems almost too deep and elaborate a compliment for a primitive age" and dominates most attempts at interpretation of Rqveda up to this day (excluding Sri Aurobindo and his followers). Some level of allowable sophistication and depth of conception is set for the text a priori and every phrase that seems to go above that level is talked down and is coerced, emended, twisted into some clumsy simile or platitude. Thus, no a priori limits to sophistication and complexity of ideas of the text are set here. Another pitfall is unrestrained use of word polysemy on one hand, and unjustified by the text identifications of concepts, on the other. Thus the following rules were adopted.

- 1. Proposed interpretation shall fit more than about 90% of relevant stanzas (the other 10% tend to remain obscure due to poetic excesses and now lost cultural contexts);
- 2. adhyātma (reference to individual) shall be presumed to be the key to understanding Marut-s hymns, and that their complexity reflects complexities of psychological processes. "The real thread of the sense is to be found in an inner meaning" [Aur98, p. 9];
- 3. use of word polysemy shall be kept to a minimum while the number of synonyms shall be also minimized thus preserving semantic richness of the text.

It is further assumed that the text abounds in symbols, thus necessitating finding plain-language equivalents for the symbols used, and that the meaning of symbols is the same throughout entire *Rgveda*. Such equivalents will be provided in the next section. Also, meanings assigned to Sanskrit words are made explicit in the Vocabulary section (see 181).

It shall be noted that interpretation of the whole of *Rgveda* with similar assumptions ([RL17, pp.78–88]) was undertaken by

R.L.Kashyap taking works of Sri Aurobindo and T.V. Kapali Shastri as foundation. His assumptions, rules, and vocabulary are presented in [RL17]. The main difference between Sri Aurobindo's interpretation of *Marut*-s in *Rgveda*, R.L.Kashyap's and this one is in meanings assigned to some symbols and words. The difference is significant enough to justify new interpretation and translation.

The plan of this book is to give first an interpretation of the concept "Marut-s" along with the decipherment of symbols involved. Next, to present a translation based on the proposed interpretation of all relevant to Marut-s stanzas from Rgveda, and, finally, to give the vocabulary used for making the translation. Although this book abounds in Sanskrit words, reading and understanding it does not require from the reader any knowledge of Vedic Sanskrit, but those having the knowledge would be able to get a more critical view of its content.



## Paradigm

Instead of building an understanding of ideas related to *Marut*-s step by step as if threading beads of deduction into a string, this presentation will follow an ancient Indian tradition of starting with conclusion, precisely and succinctly formulated, while providing details and justifications thenceforth.

In the deepest, inner psychological sense *Marut*-s are aspirations, yearnings, daydreams, charged with desires/emotions ideas, captivating plans, fancy, life-changing intentions that make one go on a quest. In *Rgveda Marut*-s are related to military activities. Thus, they are depicted as those who have them — young men, who are either inspired by glory, heroic stature, and accomplishments of warriors, or see warriorhood as the path to what they aspire to. Transformations that the inner *Marut*-s (that is, aspirations, yearnings, daydreams, etc.) create in young men and changes that these men effect in the material world around them are compared to those of torrential rain storms. The complexity of *Marut*-hymns is effected by the interweaving of three image threads — aspirations, yearnings, etc., young military recruits and their training, and torrential rain storms — without any clearly indicated separation between them.

Thus, the word "Marut-s" could signify either "aspirations, yearnings, dreams, etc." or young men moved by them to join a military adventure. Throughout the translation there are notes what the word signifies, using "inner Marut-s" in the first case and "recruits" in the second. References to "inner Marut-s" are almost three times more frequent than references to "recruits".

Why the word "recruits" was chosen instead of, for example, "young bloods" (which is also a good choice) used in [JB14], can be somewhat justified by the following constraints. First, one has to find a group of men (Marut-s are often called narah = men) in

a military context. Second, several passages imply that hardened warriors (yudh) or heroes  $(v\bar{v}r\acute{a})$  were not referred to as Marut-s, while the adjective  $m\acute{a}rya$  is often applied to Marut-s, and means "mortal, young man, one about to die" which points at recruits, since among fighters they have the highest chances to be killed in their first or second combats. Next, Marut-s are not presented as "an army"  $(s\acute{e}n\bar{a})$  but mostly as "swarm, flock, troop"  $(s\acute{a}rdha, gan\acute{a})$ , yet they are armed with spears, stones, bows and knifes. They are characterized as "reinforcing, auxiliary" (lit. "adorning", "embellishing" regular troops) with expressions like "most reinforcing by being auxiliary"  $(s\acute{a}ubh\acute{a}s\acute{o}bhis\dot{c}h\bar{a}h)$ . And, lastly, one of the main deeds of both types of Marut-s is to be helpers  $(\acute{a}m\bar{a}h)$ , and, in particular, to help the warrior-par-excellence — Indra.

In sections that follow, characterizations and different aspects of the inner *Marut*-s are given with references to supporting passages from the text.

#### Marut-s characteristics

This section does not present a complete description of *Marut*-s, but gives a set of constraints that an interpretation of *Marut*-s shall fit. Some constraints are not applicable to just any interpretation since meaning of some words and expressions defining a constraint is made definite by an interpretation itself. However, even if relaxed, the constraints given in following subsections and the vocabulary make any existing naturalistic interpretation to be at odds with the text of *Rgveda*.

#### The origin of Marut-s

The mother<sup>5</sup> of Marut-s is called  $P\dot{r}\acute{s}ni^6$ . She is also mentioned as the mother of a mighty one — the bull  $Rudr\acute{a}$  (6.66.3c) — who was born in her resplendent udder (2.34.2cd), and who is the father<sup>7</sup> of Marut-s. It seems that 6.66.3d says that for [anyone] of excellent nature she deposits an embryo of  $Rudr\acute{a}$ .  $P\dot{r}\acute{s}ni$  is said to begot Marut-s for an extensive battle (1.168.9a), and that in her lap they maintain their realm (8.94.2ab).

If the words "Marut-s", "Pṛśni", and "Rudrá" are substituted in the above statements with their symbolical meanings, then they

 $<sup>^{5}\</sup>mathrm{that}$  which creates conditions for something else to manifest, to emerge

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ 1.23.10c, 1,38.4a, 1.85.2d, 5.57.2c, 5.57.3c, 5.59.6c, 8.7.3b, 8.7.17c, 5.58.5c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>1.64.12b, 5.60.5c, 6.50.4a, 6.66.3c, 7.58.5a, 8.20.17a

state that an enticement to transgress, to rebel induces in a young man the process of individuation which together with the enticement gives rise to aspirations, yearnings, daydreams, charged with desires/emotions ideas, captivating plans, fancy, life-changing intentions, etc. that are maintaining their hold on maturing youths through the seductive power to transgress and give them energy to dare risky adventures.

The circumstances of *Marut*-s' birth are sometimes unknown (7.56.2a), sometimes are accompanied by "something terrifying" (7.58.2a); it is stated in 7.56.4 that the circumstances should have been noticed by someone who has mental schemas for an effective contemplation when Prśni "held the udder", that is, when the temptation to transgress captivated the mind and fed imagination. In any case, Marut's are well-born  $^8$  and have an  $\bar{A}ditya$  nature (10.77.8b), and that of honey (7.57.1a). Although they are "immortal", they, like days, are born again and again (5.58.5b). In 3.54.13b and 5.61.14c Marut-s are said to be born from rtá which seems to be an alternative to Prśni and Rudrá. The place of their birth, or emergence, seems to be the Heaven<sup>10</sup>, although the expression "from the Heaven" diváh might mean "of the Heaven".

Once born, Marut-s can grow or become stronger<sup>11</sup>. They grow inside worshipers (1.38.15c) during swallowing of the elixir<sup>12</sup>. Five inner places are mentioned as the places they can grow in — the Earth, the Heaven, the intermediate space, enclosure of flowing waters, and the meeting place of the Heaven (5.52.7). What nurtures them and makes them stronger are the Soma drink<sup>13</sup>, the three pools (8.7.10) (or stores of energy — the spring, the cask, and the well), the inexhaustible causing thunders fountain or spring<sup>14</sup> in particular, cogitations (8.7.19c), the feeling of superiority <sup>15</sup> of their worshipers, and just being extensive 16. Fully grown, they obtain the power to increase in size<sup>17</sup> on their own. Marut-s are characterized as expansive as mountains, growing far and wide<sup>18</sup>.

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  sujātá 5.59.6c, 8.20.8c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> ámartya 1.168.4b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>1.64.2a, 5.54.1c, 5.54.10b, 5.59.6d, 3.54.13b

 $<sup>^{11}\</sup>sqrt{vrdh}$ 5.59.5c, 1.38.15c, 1.85.7a, 1.37.5c  $^{12}{=}Soma$ 1.37.5c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>8.7.3c, 8.7.19b

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$ the store of sexual energy — 8.7.16c, 1.64.6d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> máhas 5.59.6b

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  mahitvaná 1.85.7a, 5.54.5a, 5.55.4a, 1.86.9b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> mahimán 1.167.7b, 1.85.2a, 5.57.4d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>5.57.8d.5.58.8d

#### Appearance

They are manifold<sup>19</sup> like their mother Prsni; they have various representations<sup>20</sup>. They are able to assume any form<sup>21</sup>. They might appear by themselves<sup>22</sup> or are made-to-appear<sup>23</sup>, but they seem to appear within<sup>24</sup>. Their appearance is described as shining<sup>25</sup> as if with a ray of light (10.77.5b), shining with powers to control<sup>26</sup>, shimmering<sup>27</sup> and intricate<sup>28</sup>, well adorned "like mottled deer"<sup>29</sup>, golden<sup>30</sup>; they might have golden visors on the head (8.7.25b) and shining plates on their breasts (2.34.2c), sparkling like warriors (1.64.2d); they can be clearly seen<sup>31</sup>, but are ungraspable like a flame<sup>32</sup>. Verse 3.26.5 states that Marut-s "have rain for a garment", which can be understood as that an expression of  $\beta$ -endorphin accompanies a presence of captivating, inspiring daydreams.

It is their direct<sup>33</sup> or straight<sup>34</sup> appearances that are emphasized. An appearance of Marut-s is causing fear <sup>35</sup>.

#### Movements

The seat or abode of *Marut*-s is in the Heaven<sup>36</sup> — be it highest, middle or the lowest one (5.60.6ab), or, even more specifically, near the vault<sup>37</sup> of the Heaven (1.85.7b). Sometimes they "stay on the mountain" (8.94.12b) which expression might refer to a snowy mountain as a symbol of what lays beyond it — enticing unknown land — and one's aspiration to get there.

When they set out, they mostly emerge from the Heaven<sup>38</sup>, but

```
<sup>19</sup> prśnayas 8.7.10a
<sup>20</sup> citrábhānavas 1.64.7, 1.85.11c
^{21}vi\acute{s}v\acute{a}r\bar{u}pa 10.78.5d
^{22}sv\acute{a}bh\bar{a}nu 5.54.1a
^{23}vyàkta 7.56.1
^{24}ni-\bar{u}h 5.52.11a
^{25}5.55.2b, śúcayah sắryā iva 1.64.2c
<sup>26</sup>ta'vi.siibhirarci'na.h 2.34.1b
^{27}sucandrá 2.34.13d, candrávarṇa 1.165.12c
<sup>28</sup>supe'"sasa 2.34.13d
<sup>29</sup>piśá iva supíśo 1.64.8b
<sup>30</sup>hi'ra.nyavar.na 2.34.11c
^{31} vicetas 5.54.13a
<sup>32</sup> ágrbhītaśocis 5.54.5c
<sup>33</sup> svábhānu 5.53.4a, 5.54.1a, 5.59.1d
^{34}áhrutapsu 8.20.7c
<sup>35</sup>tvesám...ánīkam 1.168.9b, bhīmásamdrá 5.56.2d
<sup>36</sup>1.19.6ab, 1.85.2b
<sup>37</sup>which seems to be above or close to the sahasrāra cakra
<sup>38</sup>1.64.2a, 1.64.4d, 1.38.2b, 5.60.7b
```

might come from the intermediate space (5.53.8b). They arise easily (5.54.10a), and in their movements are agile<sup>39</sup>, swift<sup>40</sup>, quick as lightning (5.54.3a), moving quickly<sup>41</sup>, hasting<sup>42</sup>, or even darting (1.167.2d). The movements are compared to the flight of birds<sup>43</sup> or flow of streaming waters<sup>44</sup>. The movements of *Marut*-s are characterized as volatile<sup>45</sup> and changing direction often ("like fire, going here and there" 6.66.10b, "arraying themselves like antelopes" 10.77.2c).

Marut-s fly through the intermediate space (8.7.35b) crossing the regions (1.64.12c), traversing earthly needs and compulsions of the bodies (1.39.3cd), moving up to the region (5.59.1c), rising upwards<sup>46</sup> like mad conceptions (1.39.5c); they move along their course together with winds (=vital airs)<sup>47</sup>.

Lightning and rays seem to be their running easily chariots<sup>48</sup>. To propel the chariots Marut-s employ dappled mares (=emotion-charged night dreams)<sup>49</sup> and antelopes (=fleeting visions in a wakeful state)<sup>50</sup>.

The means with which *Marut*-s, their chariots, dappled mares, horses and antelopes move or are stopped are contemplation (1.165.2d), understanding (1.39.1c), mental gesture (1.165.1c), vision (8.27.8ab), stanza, or song (8.27.5c).

#### Character

Marut-s are frequently called "men"<sup>51</sup>, and 7.57.6b states that by all characteristics they are men, and not any men but "bulls"<sup>52</sup>.

They are ferocious, violent<sup>53</sup>, vehement<sup>54</sup>, but, unlike natural phenomena, they are vehement through the power to illuminate<sup>55</sup>.

```
^{39}gh\acute{r}su 1.64.12a, ay\acute{a}s 1.168.9b, 3.54.13b, 7.58.2b
^{40}\bar{a}\acute{s}\acute{u}~10.78.5a
^{41} evayávan 2.34.11a
<sup>42</sup> árvat 1.64.13c
<sup>43</sup>1.165.2c, 1.88.1d, 1.85.6b, 7.59.7bc
<sup>44</sup>5.60.3d, 1.64.7b, 5.52.8d, 1.85.6a, 5.59.8d, 5.53.2c
<sup>45</sup> jigatnú 10.78.5c
<sup>46</sup>1.39.5c, 7.56.22d, 8.7.17
<sup>47</sup>8.7.4c, 8.7.17b
<sup>48</sup>3.54.13a, 1.19.8a, 5.60.2b
<sup>49</sup>1.85.4d, 3.26.4b, 3.26.6c, 8.7.28a
<sup>50</sup>1.165.5c, 6.66.7a
<sup>51</sup> nárah 1.39.3b, 1.86.8a, 5.52.8c, 7.56.1a, 7.57.6b, 8.20.7a, etc.
^{52}vrsanah 1.165.1d, 7.58.6c, 8.7.33a, 1.85.4d, 8.20.20c uksánah 1.64.2a
^{53}ugr\acute{a} 1.19.4ab, 1.23.10c, 1.166.8c, 5.57.3d, 5.60.2c
<sup>54</sup> tvesá 1.38.7a, 5.56.9b
<sup>55</sup>tvesádyumna 1.37.4b
```

They are mighty<sup>56</sup>, strong<sup>57</sup> and self-strong like mountains<sup>58</sup>, rugged<sup>59</sup>, energetic<sup>60</sup>, possessing of energies<sup>61</sup>, forceful<sup>62</sup>, pressing forward<sup>63</sup>, bursting forth<sup>64</sup>, and are not to be constrained<sup>65</sup>. They are sovereign<sup>66</sup>, and in-control<sup>67</sup>.

*Marut*-s are full of fervor<sup>68</sup>, have vigour<sup>69</sup>, are unceasing<sup>70</sup>. They are enthusiastic<sup>71</sup>, spirited<sup>72</sup>, of good fighting spirit<sup>73</sup>, seeking to join battles(1.85.8b).

They are impassioned<sup>74</sup>, very passionate<sup>75</sup> and eagerly desiring<sup>76</sup>, seeking benefits<sup>77</sup>, seeking (inner) waters<sup>78</sup>, aiming at the Heaven<sup>79</sup>; they are agitated<sup>80</sup>, exuberant<sup>81</sup> and joyous<sup>82</sup>. At the same time, they are generous<sup>83</sup>, liberal, bountiful<sup>84</sup>, willing to give<sup>85</sup> and giving quickly<sup>86</sup>, not stingy with their powers (5.58.5b).

```
<sup>56</sup> mahánt 5.59.4a, 5.55.2b, 1.166.11a, mahisá 1.64.7a, mahá 8.94.8a, máh
  2.34.11a
57 tavás 1.166.8c
<sup>58</sup> svátavas 1.64.7b, 1.166.2d, 7.59.11a
^{59} párvata 8.20.5b
^{60}tavcute{a}s 1.64.12c
^{61} tvísimant 6.66.10a
^{62}ámavat 1.38.7a, 8.20.7b, 5.59.2a; 5.56.3d
^{63}tur\acute{a} 3.54.13d, 7.56.10a
^{64}udbhíd 5.59.6a
65 ánedya 1.165.12b
^{66} samráj 8.27.22a
^{67}tavis\'{a} 5.54.2a
<sup>68</sup>párijri 1.64.5d, 5.54.2d
<sup>69</sup> ójas 7.56.7a, 2.34.1a
<sup>70</sup>ámrta 1.166.13b, 5.57.8b, 5.58.8b
<sup>71</sup> vedhás 1.64.1a, 5.54.6b
<sup>72</sup> qhŕsvi 1.37.4a
<sup>73</sup> súmakha 1.64.1a
<sup>74</sup>sámanyu 2.34.3d, 5d, 6a, 8.20.1c, 8.27.14a
^{75}tuvimanyu 7.58.2b
76 vanín 1.64.12a, vāvasāná 7.56.10b
^{77}vas\bar{u}y\bar{a} 1.165.1d
^{78}udany\acute{u} 5.54.2a
<sup>79</sup> abhídyu 8.7.25a, 10.77.3d, 10.78.4b
^{80}\bar{a}y\acute{u} 5.60.8c
<sup>81</sup> virapśín 1.166.8c
82 vímahas 1.86.1b
83 sud \tilde{a}nu = 1.15.2c, 1.64.6a, 1.85.10c, 3.26.5d, 7.59.10c, 10.78.5b, 8.7.12a,
  8.7.19a,20a, 8.20.18a, 8.20.23b
84 mīdhvás 8.20.3c, 1.169.6a, tuvīmagha 5.57.8b, 5.58.8b
857.56.18b, 8.27.14b
^{86}i\bar{\imath}r\acute{a}d\bar{a}nu 5.53.5b
```

Marut-s are boisterous<sup>87</sup>, noisy<sup>88</sup>, roaring<sup>89</sup> youths<sup>90</sup>; they are agreeable to  $Rudra^{91}$ , are his recruits<sup>92</sup>, and are called Rudra-s themselves<sup>93</sup>.

#### Similarity to each other

Marut-s are closely related to each other<sup>94</sup> having inner ties<sup>95</sup>; they are connected through words<sup>96</sup> and by having fragments or extracts of each other (7.56.3a). They are companions<sup>97</sup>, and are compared to spokes of a wheel<sup>98</sup> in that that there is no first or last of them and that they point outwards from the same center, and that they are held together<sup>99</sup>; there are brothers with no eldest or youngest among them (5.59.6a, 5.60.5ab).

It is said that Marut-s are of the similar mental vigour<sup>100</sup> and of the same mind<sup>101</sup>. They fit each other (5.52.8c) and act in harmony with each other<sup>102</sup>.

Despite the similarity and relatedness to each other *Marut*-s remain apart through differing representations<sup>103</sup> and some groups of them are pointed at as separate from others (7.56.19, 8.94.10, 1.19.3ab).

#### Cognitive characteristics

*Marut*-s have refined mental power<sup>104</sup>, they are poets gifted with insight<sup>105</sup>, well-tongued<sup>106</sup>, talking to poets of Rgveda (5.53.3a).

```
<sup>87</sup> dhúni 1.64.5a, 8.20.14b
 ^{88} svárity 1.166.11c, svānín 3.26.5c
 <sup>89</sup>1.64.8a, 8.7.3b
 90 yúvan 8.20.17c,18d, 1.165.2a, 5.57.8c, 5.58.3d, 8c
 <sup>91</sup>rudríya 1.38.7b, 3.26.5c, 5.57.7c, 5.58.7d, 8.20.3a
 <sup>92</sup> márya 1.64.2b, 7.56.1b
 931.39.4d, 1.39.7b, 1.85.2b, 8.7.12b, 8.20.2b, etc.
 ^{94}sábandhu 5.59.5a, sánīda 1.165.1a; 1.166.13a, 7.56.1a
 <sup>95</sup>niyu'tvant 5.54.8a
 ^{96} góbandhu 8.20.8c
 <sup>97</sup>sákhi 1.165.13b
 985.58.5a, 8.20.14c, 10.78.4a
 ^{99}sabharas5.54.10a
^{100}sávayas 1.165.1a
^{101}sámanas 8.27.5a
<sup>102</sup> sajósas 5.54.6c, 5.57.1a, 8.27.5b
<sup>103</sup>8.7.8c, 8.7.36c
^{104}p\bar{u}t\acute{a}daksa 5.29.1c, 8.94.7c,10a
<sup>105</sup>kaví 1.31.1c, 5.57.8c, 5.58.3d, 8c, 7.59.11b
<sup>106</sup> sujihvá 1.166.11c
```

They are foresighted  $^{107}$ , have extraordinary illuminating power  $^{108}$ ; they disclose/reveal "all terrestrial realms and luminous spheres of the Heaven" (8.94.9); they have schemas for contemplations  $^{109}$  and their seer is Indra (5.29.1d). They are adept of an asura (Rudra 8.20.17b) and are asura-s themselves (8.27.20a).

Marut-s are competent<sup>110</sup>, artful<sup>111</sup> and acting effectively<sup>112</sup>. They are unerring<sup>113</sup>, irreproachable<sup>114</sup>, faultless<sup>115</sup>, and pure<sup>116</sup>. They are free from deceit<sup>117</sup> through cogitation (8.7.15c) and free from malice<sup>118</sup>. Their powers to control is emphasized<sup>119</sup> and are contributing to *Indra*'s victories (1.39.4).

Marut-s know what is old and what is recent (5.55.8abc), they know desires of those who are yearning, exerting themselves (1.86.8); they find fearlessness among mortals (1.169.2b). Favouring formulas (1.165.2a) and recitations (1.166.13b), enjoying good speech (7.58.6b), they can be pleased with knowledge (1.171.1c), and can be exhilarated by the power to change (7.57.1b). They frequent an endeavoring man (7.56.20b), visiting by means of the mind (1.171.2c), working through knowledge (1.31.1c) with benevolent thoughts (7.56.17d), hurling ideas as if flames of fire (1.39.1b), ascertaining rta (5.57.8b, 5.58.8b) and giving ear to truth (5.57.8c, 5.58.8c). They commingle with each other through their own mental gesture (5.58.5d).

#### What do Marut-s do

Marut-s are agents of change<sup>120</sup>, their power to transform is real<sup>121</sup>. As such, they are agitating<sup>122</sup> again and again (2.34.3c). They agitate the Heaven and the Earth (1.37.6b) and fix them apart (8.94.11ab); they shake off the limits (1.37.6c) and vigorously tear

```
^{107}pr\'acetas 1.39.9b, 1.64.8a
^{108}dasm\'{a}varcas~8.94.8c
^{109}dh \acute{i} ra~3.26.6 {\rm d}
^{110}\bar{\imath}\dot{s}\bar{a}nak\acute{r}t 1.64.5a
^{111}sum\bar{a}y\acute{a} 1.88.1d
^{112}hesákratu~3.26.5d
^{113} as redhant 7.59.6c
^{114}anavadyá 7.57.5b
<sup>115</sup> arepás 1.64.2b, 10.78.1d
^{116}śúci 7.57.5b
<sup>117</sup> ádābhya 2.34.10d, 3.26.4d, 8.7.15c
^{118}adr\'{u}h 1.19.3b, 8.27.9a, 8.27.15a
^{119}t\acute{a}vis\bar{\imath} 2.34.1b, 1.64.5b, 1.39.2c; tavis\acute{a} 5.54.2a
^{120}ś\acute{u}ra 7.56.22b, 10.78.4b; 5.52.2ab, 5.59.5b
<sup>121</sup> satyáśavas 1.86.8b, 9a, 5.52.8b
^{122}dh	ilde{u}ti 7.58.4, 8.20.16d
```

down obstacles (5.56.4a). They shake "the knotty ones" (3.26.4d, 5.54.1b) and make them move back and forth (1.19.7a); they shake celestial places of existence (1.64.5c) and celestial sheath (5.59.8c).

Then, they are sprinkling, abundantly (3.26.4c) and together (7.58.1a), ghee (10.78.4c). They swell "the spring" (5.54.8c), the waters, and ghee-rich juice (1.64.6ab); they discharged a fountain for thirsty Gotama (1.85.11b). They make the ground (=physical body) swell with the juice (1.64.5d), drench the Earth with the juice of honey (5.54.8d).

Marut-s envelope streams (2.34.1a) and carry the waters (5.58.3a), bind the rain (5.58.3b) and blow over *Rodas*-es with it (8.7.16bc). These few images are what gives an impression that Marut-s are connected with stormy raining weather, but 5.58.7d specifies that "the rain" is sweating.

Several other actions are mentioned. *Marut*-s caused a king to be born (5.58.4ab), made a scout for an easy passage (5.59.1a), effected a courser (5.54.14c), and started a fight (5.59.5b).

#### Marut-s as benefactors, helpers and warriors

Marut-s are often mentioned together with Indra, being called his companions (1.165.11cd) and Indra being called their companion (5.57.1a, 1.165.11cd, 5.58.4cd). Marut-s strengthen Indra (8.96.8a) and with their help Indra wins his battles (8.96.7cd, 1.39.4cd). They have gleaming spears <sup>123</sup>, stones (5.54.3a), and lightning bolts (1.88.1a, 8.7.25a) as weapons. They are reinforcing <sup>124</sup> and replenishing <sup>125</sup>.

Marut-s are helping in dire straights "bulls" (1.64.2a) and they help instantly (5.54.15a); they are protectors in battles<sup>126</sup>, they guard against injuries<sup>127</sup>, and fend off deadly weapons (2.34.9d); they drive away hostilities (7.58.6c) and help one to get over conflicts (7.59.2b), guard against evil (1.166.8a) and curses (1.166.8d), and also protect one's recitations (7.56.19c).

 $\it Marut$ -s provide an easy passage 128, an unimpeded path (1.169.5d), a guidance (7.59.1b), they uncover "cows" 129.  $\it Marut$ -s spread out

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup>bhrájadrsti 1.31.1d, 2.34.5b; rstimát 1.88.1b, 3.54.13a

 $<sup>^{124}</sup>$  śubhāná 1.165.3c

 $<sup>^{125} \</sup>pm ibhr$ á 1.19.5a, 1.85.3b, 1.167.4a, 8.7.25c, 8.7.28.c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup>7.56.22d, 7.59.4a

 $<sup>^{127}2.34.9</sup>$ b, 1.166.8a, 5.52.4d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> suvitá 1.38.3b, 5.59.1a, 8.7.33b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup>=contemplation-defining, thematic words; 2.34.1d

a shelter or a refuge  $^{130}$ , and are themselves a refuge (5.53.4c); they give protection  $^{131}$  to courageous ones (5.52.2cd), and shower blessings  $^{132}$  and favours  $^{133}$  onto their worshipers. They give the gift of fighting spirit (8.7.27a) and a satisfaction that does not fade (3.26.6c). *Marut*-s are often asked to be gracious and merciful  $^{134}$ .

They are known<sup>135</sup> to everyone, common to all men<sup>136</sup>, not-disrespected<sup>137</sup>, much desired<sup>138</sup> and ever dear<sup>139</sup>.

#### Marut-s and sacrifices

Marut-s are characterized as "seeking the first of a sacrifice" which epithet they share with Agni, Indra, and Vayu, and are said to be worthy of or deserving a sacrifice 141.

Marut-s are "thirsty" (7.59.4d) for Soma to the point that they ravish it (5.54.6ab) and get intoxicated, exhilarated by it (8.7.14a, 1.85.6d); it is not only Agni who carries it to them, but they drink it themselves from the cup of him who purifies Soma (1.15.2ab); they are, like Indra and Soma itself, in possession of Soma's residue  $^{142}$ .

At a sacrifice they receive loud praises before libations (1.165.12b) and their presence is auspicious (5.60.6b, 3.26.5a). *Marut*-s purify a sacrifice (1.15.2b) and during offerings are helpers (10.77.8a); they help by "crushing those that have placed traps along the course of a sacrifice" (7.104.18d), by being foresighted during intoxications caused by *Soma* (8.7.12c), and by helping *Soma* to procure the rush of vigour (7.56.23d) and be victorious (7.58.4b). They also provide content for *Soma*-induced visions (7.59.6).

```
\begin{array}{c} ^{130} \pm \acute{a}rman\ 1.85.12a,\ 5.55.9b,\ 7.56.25c \\ ^{131} 1.86.1,\ 8.20.15a,\ 1.64.13b \\ ^{132} svast\'{i}\ 7.56.25d,\ 7.57.7d,\ 7.58.6d;\ sumn\'{a}\ 8.20.16d,\ 8.27.10d \\ ^{133} 5.54.14b,\ 7.59.6a \\ ^{134} mrdata\ 5.57.8a,\ 5.58.8a,\ 5.55.9a,\ 8.7.30c \\ ^{135} vi\acute{s}v\'{a}vedas\ 1.64.8b,\ 3.26.4c,\ 5.60.7a,\ 8.27.2c,\ 4c,\ 11c,\ 21c \\ ^{136} vai\acute{s}v\bar{a}nar\'{a}\ 5.60.8d \\ ^{137} \acute{a}dhr_{\vec{i}}ta\ 6.50.4b,\ 6.66.10d \\ ^{138} purusp\'{f}h\ 8.20.2c \\ ^{139} kadhapr\bar{\imath}\ 8.7.31a \\ ^{140} pr\acute{a}yajyu\ 1.39.9a,\ 1.86.7a,\ 5.55.1a,\ 7.56.14b,\ 8.7.33a \\ ^{141} yaj\~{n}\acute{i}ya\ 3.54.13c,\ 5.52.5c,\ 1.87.5d;\ y\acute{a}jatra\ 5.55.10c,\ 5.58.4b,\ 7.57.1a,4c,5c \\ ^{142} ri\~{s}\acute{s}n\ 1.64.12d \\ \end{array}
```

#### Marut-s' effects on humans

Marut-s are said to be beneficial<sup>143</sup>; they evoke admiration<sup>144</sup> and are purifying<sup>145</sup>. They are invigorating<sup>146</sup>, strengthening<sup>147</sup>, giving powers<sup>148</sup> and overwhelming strength<sup>149</sup>, and a lucid fervor<sup>150</sup>. They impart that substance through conveyance of which one might cross over hundred winters (5.54.15) — all-pervading auspicious lifeforce (5.53.13d), and are even asked to give immortality (5.55.4c, 7.57.6c).

#### Effects on cognition

Marut-s are patrons of visions (8.27.2d), they guide cogitation of a sacrificer (7.57.2b) and excite him by means of those visions<sup>151</sup>. They bring right conceptions<sup>152</sup>, spark and develop cogitations (1.165.13c), and find for worshipers mental space (8.27.14d); they create light (1.86.10c).

They strike aside what is persevering, and cause what is ponderous to exhibit itself (1.39.3ab), for an intelligent man they promote mind's obedience through a vision (1.166.13c).

*Marut*-s give an effective gesture<sup>153</sup>, a sacred formulation<sup>154</sup> that achieves its purpose. They also give extensive mental energy<sup>155</sup> and visualizations adorned with the rush of vigour<sup>156</sup>.

Marut-s extend a fence (chardís) for the sake of their worshipers<sup>157</sup>. This "fence" is what makes the mind undisturbed by external or bodily stimuli. Ordinarily it is "stretched out" in a sleep, but various deva-s (Savitr, Agni, Indra, etc.) can put it in place during other states of mind.

```
^{143}v\acute{a}su5.55.8b, 6.50.4b, 7.56.17d, 7.56.20b, 7.59.8b, 8.27.2c, 8.27.9c, 10.77.6c ^{144}panasy\acute{u}5.56.9b, 10.77.3c
```

 $<sup>^{145}</sup>$  pāvaká 1.64.2c, 1.64.12a, 7.57.5b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup>1.39.10a, 5.60.8c, 5.54.13b

 $<sup>^{147}</sup>vrdh\acute{a}$ 1.171.2d

 $<sup>^{148}</sup>tavis\acute{a}ni$  1.166.1d

 $<sup>^{149}</sup>sahas\ 2.34.7d$ 

 $<sup>^{150}\,</sup>dyum$ ántam súsmam 1.64.14b

 $<sup>^{151}</sup>dh\bar{\imath} 5.52.14d$ 

 $<sup>^{152}</sup>man\bar{\imath}s\acute{a}$  10.77.8c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> sumatí 1.166.6b, 7.57.5c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> bráhman 2.34.7b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup>brhád váyah 7.58.3a, 8.7.35

 $<sup>^{156}2.34.6</sup>d$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>8.27.4d, 8.27.20b

#### Effects on emotional and social sphere

Marut-s are "devouring gaps" <sup>158</sup>. It can be interpreted as that they compensate in one's mind what one feels is missing in his/her personality — a quality, a possessions, a status, or a state of mind lack of which is "a gap", an empty space that needs to be filled. 1.87.4c formulates it a bit differently — Marut-s make a recruit "riding what is missing" <sup>159</sup>. In an intelligent man this "devouring of gaps" is for strengthening him (8.27.4ab).

Marut-s are setting free beasts [inside men] (1.166.6d), they give the gift of fighting spirit (8.7.27a), and incite to fight (1.169.2c); they give the strength of resolve<sup>160</sup> and inspire the meek (7.56.20a); they give authority (7.56.7b). At all times Marut-s inspire something immense (1.169.3b).

Marut-s are capable to bend even resolute minds (8.20.1c), and to pass through all-consuming fears (1.86.10b); they are companions of non-wavering impulse to change (5.52.2ab) and end deliberations (8.7.31c). As such, they "pierce defensiveness" (1.86.9c), seek and seize guarding (against changes) inner defenses (7.104.18ab).

At the same time, they are terrifying like a phantom<sup>161</sup>, intimidating like wild beasts<sup>162</sup>, of fearsome appearance<sup>163</sup>, making humans afraid<sup>164</sup>. They shake one's world view (6.50.5d) and disturb equipoise (7.58.2d). Despite these disturbing aspects, *Marut*-s rescue a willing one from anxiety (2.34.15a), or lead it towards a good course (5.54.6cd), and free men from imposed constraints (2.34.15b); they drive away hostilities<sup>165</sup>. Further, they effect delight (1.168.9c, 1.169.3d) and give thrills (1.37.4b), they exhilarate (8.7.20b).

With *Marut*-s' help some attain prophetic inspiration (5.59.4b), some perform manly deeds (5.59.4b). They give rise to feeling of superiority and to vigour (7.58.2c; 7.56.14a).

#### Effects on physical body

Marut-s make the body with its muscles and joints (the knotty one)

 $<sup>^{158}</sup>ri\acute{s}\acute{a}das$  1.64.5a, 5.60.7c, 7.59.9c, 8.27.4b, 8.27.10a  $^{159}rnay \acute{a}van$ 

 $<sup>^{160}</sup>medh\acute{a}$  2.34.7d

 $<sup>^{161}\,</sup>ghor\'{a}varpas$ 1.19.5a, 1.64.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup>2.34.1b; 7.58.2b

 $<sup>^{163}</sup>$ 1.85.8d, 1.168.9b, 5.56.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup>1.39.6d, 8.20.7a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup>7.58.6c, 10.77.6d

tremble with fear<sup>166</sup> and shake<sup>167</sup>, to quake (8.7.4b) and to move back and forth (1.19.7a). It might even make the body go haywire like an overloaded ship goes astray (5.59.2b). They render service to the flesh (8.20.24b) — they loosen hardened (=older) body and set back in order crooked infirmity (8.20.26cd).

Marut-s stir "springs" of the body (5.59.7d) and stir "the waters" (5.58.6c); they discharged a fountain for thirsty Gotama (1.85.11b) and cause "the spring" to swell (7.57.1d). They envelope streams (2.34.1a), refresh Sindhu (8.20.24a) and effect rain (=sweating) (5.58.7d).

Marut-s excite by means of vital airs (8.7.3a), produce bursts of heat (5.54.1c) and induce fervor that is replenishing (7.56.8a). They contribute to effecting a rush of vigour (7.56.23d) and those rushes of vigour that have Marut-s' influence are distinguished (8.7.33c) and make worshipers thrive (7.57.5d).

#### **Symbols**

Here is the list of symbolic meanings. In many cases they are still provisional.

Pṛśni — means "the seductive power of transgression; an enticement to rebel, to transgress or violate social norms".

The "milk" that "the cow" Pṛśni gives is "the energy to dare":

Rudrá — a deva and asura, an entity behind emergence and development of individuality in a person, of inner separation from the family, community, and tribe; Rudrá's missile (hetí, didyát) which poets of Rgveda ask him to divert from them (2.33.14, 6.28.7, 6.74.4, 7.46.3) is a cause of a psychosomatic illness (which illness is described in 6.74.3d "committed fault, crime bound in bodies"), and for which same Rudra has remedies or medicine (bheṣája 2.33, 6.74.3ab, 5.42.11b) which likely denotes unleashing of inner resources of one's being.

Heaven  $dy\acute{u}$  or  $dy\acute{u}$  in the external sense means the sky; in the inner sense, it means "the realm of everything mental", "the pure mentality which is symbolised by Dyaus" [Aur98, p. 118]

 $<sup>^{166}5.59.2</sup>a, 5.59.4c, 7.57.1c, 8.20.5c$ 

 $<sup>^{167}5.54.1</sup>$ b, 5.54.3b, 7.58.1c

Earth pṛthivī́ — in the external sense means "the ground, the land"; in the inner sense, it means "one's physical body, material existence";

- knotty or rugged one *párvata* the flesh and bones of the body with its knotty joints;
- mountain *giri* symbolically it stands for the skull;
- the intermediate space antárikṣa in the external sense means "the air between the sky and the earth"; in the inner sense, it means "psycho-physiological realm; the realm of vital energies or airs; that which mediates between mental and bodily processes".
  - "Dyaus and Prithivi represent the pure mental and the physical consciousness; between them is the Antariksha, the intermediate or connecting level of the vital or nervous consciousness. Dyaus and Prithivi are Rodasi, our two firmaments; but these have to be overpassed, for then we find admission to another heaven than that of the pure mind to the wide, the Vast which is the basis, the foundation (budhna) of the infinite consciousness, Aditi." [Aur98, p. 118]
- *Ródasī* dual, given in translations here as "*Rodas*-es", that denotes the Earth and the Heaven in their inner senses;
- rain vṛṣṭi in the external sense means "continuous descent of something (like stones); sweating"; in the inner sense, it means "expression in the body of some substances that bring reduction of stress, disappearance of pain, relief of suffering"; it is likely that these substances are endorphins, and  $\beta$ -endorphin in particular.
- lightning vidy'ut in the external sense means "lightning or lightning bolt"; in the inner sense, it means "flash of insight; a vision that strikes the mind with a clear picture that shows how disconnected aspects of something fit together to form a whole".
- spear *ṛṣṭi* in the inner sense, it means "an aspect that touches raw emotions".
- chariot  $r\acute{a}tha$  in the inner sense it means in general that which contains and brings something to mind; in particular, it meas a cakra (as understood in tantra-s, and of which

- there are seven major ones) connected with energy flows through spine.
- pole dhur— in the external sense often means "the pole of a chariot"; in the inner sense, it means "the spine".
- a sheath  $k \acute{o} \acute{s} a$  in inner sense it means "the subtle body";
- waters  $\bar{a}pas$  in the external sense it means physical waters like those of rain, of rivers, of lakes. In the internal sense it means "inner waters" referring to the psycho-physiological background of psychological processes that has as a significant component various expressions of hormones and other long-lasting psychoactive substances in the body.
- the spring, the fountain  $\acute{u}tsa$  in the inner sense it means "the store of sexual vigour";
- the cask kavandha in the inner sense it means "the store of endorphins";
- the well udrin in the inner sense it means "the store of sugars-base energy";
- a river sindhu in the external sense it means a river or a particular river called Sindhu; in the internal sense, in singular it means "the flow of  $susumn\vec{a}$ "; in plural it means "flows of sensory stimuli plus flow of stimuli from internal organs plus flow of speech; it can also denote the streams of blood flowing through the body;
- Rodasí— is a symbol of rising Kundalini that creates harmony between the Earth and the Heaven (that is, between the mind and the body);
- bull *vṛṣan* it stands for something or someone mighty, overpowering, forceful, being in charge, in-control, bearing strong sway, impregnating;
- horse áśva in the inner sense it means sometimes "a rhythm", sometimes a charge of energy which might be physical as well as mental;
- dappled mares  $p\dot{r}sat\bar{h}$  emotion-charged night dreams; images in such dreams;

black antelopes étāḥ — fleeting visions, mostly in wakeful state, that might be so strong as to make one momentarily see things among perceived reality that are not there, like taking a bush moved by wind at dusk for a wild animal, or hearing a voice of a person one longs to see in a rustling of the wind;

bird vi — fantasy;

cow  $g\delta$  — symbolically it means a self-replenishing source of something nourishing, strengthening, invigorating the mind and/or body that is called "milk". In the domain or language, "a cow" might means a single word, particularly a thematic, contemplation-defining word, or it might be a verbal expression. An important for Marut's realm non-verbal "cow" is  $Pr\acute{s}ni$ ;

ghee *ghṛtá* — various things that give a momentary boost to energy of some manifestation like real ghee put into a fire makes it brighter and stronger;

abode  $dh\bar{a}man$  — abode, of which elsewhere in Rgveda are mentioned seven; these seven correspond to the seven cakras and are places where deva-s are manifested. There might be other abodes besides these seven.



## Translation

Following are translations of all hymns to Marut-s and of most stanzas characterizing them. The order is the traditional one of rgvedasamhita. Original Sanskrit text is given in IAST transliteration with accents following [RVS00]. When Sanskrit line is broken not at | or || then it is broken at  $pada^1$ 's end unless vowel samdhi prevents that.

Translation follows the original stanza-by-stanza while only in some cases line-by-line since differences in sentence structure between Sanskrit and English prevent that. Sanskrit text employs directly or through verbal forms references to mentioned or implied nouns in a precise manner differentiating between single, dual, and plural forms, so, to avoid confusion, archaic forms of English pronouns "thou", "thy", "thee" are used for references to a single person instead of "you", "your", using the latter only for plural cases. Words in [] have no direct correspondence to the Sanskrit original but are introduced on the basis of syntax and/or context.

```
Here is the complete list of hymns and stanzas translated here: 1.15.2, 1.19, 1.23.10–12, 1.37, 1.38, 1.39, 1.64, 1.85, 1.86, 1.87, 1.88, 1.161.14, 1.165, 1.166, 1.167, 1.168, 1.169, 1.171, 1.172; 2.34; 3.26.4–6, 3.54.13 5.29, 5.52, 5.53, 5.54, 5.55, 5.56, 5.57, 5.58, 5.59, 5.60; 6.50.4–5, 6.66; 7.56, 7.57, 7.58, 7.59, 7.104.18; 8.7, 8.20, 8.27, 8.94, 8.96.5–10; 10.77, 10.78.
```

Syntax markup for these hymns and stanzas that was used for translation can be found at  $http://theasis.net/RgV/RV\_index2.html$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>metric line in Sanskrit poetry

#### RigVeda 1.15

márutah píbata rtúnā potrắd yajñám punītana | yūyám hí sthấ sudānavah || 2||

2. O Marut-s, at the right moment drink from [the cup of] the purifier; purify the sacrifice — since you surely exist, O generous ones!

This verse refers to inner Marut-s.

#### RigVeda 1.19

```
práti tyám cárumadhvarám gopītháya prá hūyase |
mar\'udbhiragna \ \'a \ gahi \ || \ 1 ||
nahí devó ná mártyo mahástáva krátum paráh |
mar\'udbhiragna \ \'a \ gahi \ || \ 2 ||
yé mahó rájaso vidúrvísve deváso adrúhah |
marúdbhiragna \stackrel{.}{a} gahi \parallel 3 \parallel
yá ugrā arkámānrcúránādhrstāsa ójasā
marúdbhiragna á gahi || 4||
yé subhrá ghorávarpasah suksatráso risádasah |
marúdbhiragna á gahi || 5||
yé nákasyádhi rocané diví devása ásate
mar\'udbhiragna\ \'a\ gahi\ ||\ 6||
yá īnkháyanti párvatāntiráh samudrámarnavám
marúdbhiragna á gahi || 7||
á yé tanvánti raśmíbhistiráh samudrámójasā |
marúdbhiragna á gahi || 8||
abhí tvā pūrvápītaye srjāmi somyám mádhu |
marúdbhiragna \stackrel{.}{a} gahi \mid\mid 9 \mid\mid
```

- 1. Thou are invoked upon this agreeable proceeding on its path [sacrifice] for protection. Through *Marut*-s, O *Aqni*, come here!
- Surely not a deva, nor a mortal is mighty beyond your resourcefulness. Through Marut-s, O Agni, come here!
- 3. Who have become acquainted with the great region [those] all [are] free from malice *deva-s*. Through *Marut-s*, O *Agni*, come here!
- 4. Who, ferocious, have shined the ray [those are] not impaired through vigour. Through *Marut*-s, O *Agni*, come here!
- 5. Who [are] replenishing, terrifying like a phantom, [those are] conferring power, devouring gaps [in one's person]. Through *Marut*-s, O *Agni*, come here!
- 6. Who [are] above the luminous sphere of the Heaven's vault [those are] deva-s [that] abide in the Heaven.

  Through Marut-s, O Agni, come here!
- 7. [Those,] who cause the knotty ones to move back and forth, [are] beyond the restless sea<sup>2</sup>.

  Through Maryta O April same hard.
  - Through Marut-s, O Agni, come here!
- 8. Who here have spread by means of rays, [those are] through [their] vigour beyond the sea. Through *Marut*-s, O *Agni*, come here!
- 9. For the sake of precedence in drinking into thee<sup>3</sup> I pour containing Soma honey. Through *Marut*-s, O *Aqni*, come here!

Verses 3–8 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>that is, beyond immediate emotions

 $<sup>^3</sup>Aqni$ 

#### RigVeda 1.23

víśvān devấn havāmahe marútaḥ sómapītaye | ugrấ hí pṛśnimātaraḥ || 10||

jáyatāmiva tanyatúr marútām eti dhṛṣṇuyấ | yácchúbhaṃ yāthánā naraḥ || 11||

haskārā́d vidyútas páry áto jātā́ avantu naḥ | marúto mṛḍayantu naḥ || 12||

- We call upon all deva-s, Marut-s, for a draught of Soma, because ferocious are they whose mother is Pṛśni.
- 11. The thunder of *Marut*-s becomes taunting as [that] of conquerors when you, O men, become a reinforcement.
- 12. [Though] away from this exclamation<sup>4</sup> of the lightning [but] engendered by it, help us!

  May Marut-s be gracious to us!

"Men" in 11.c are military recruits and they are also addressed in 12ab. "Marut-s" here are inner Marut-s. The "thunder and lightning" refer to strong effects of potential, but appearing as very likely, victories upon the minds of men involved in a military campaign.

<sup>4&</sup>quot;thunder" of previous verse

#### RigVeda 1.31

tvámagne prathamó ángirā ŕsirdevó devấnāmabhavaḥ śiváḥsákhā | távavratékaváyo vidmanấpasó'jāyanta marútobhrấjadṛṣṭayaḥ || 1 ||

 Thou, O Agni, the foremost Angiras, a sage, a deva, thou became benevolent companion of deva-s.
 In thy sphere of action gifted with insight ones, working by means of knowledge, emerged — Marut-s having gleaming spears.

Marut-s here are inner Marut-s.

```
krīdám vah sárdho márutamanarvánam rathesúbham
kánvā abhí prá gāyata | 1 |
yé přsatībhirrstíbhih sākám vásībhirañjíbhih |
\acute{a}j\bar{a}yanta\ sv\acute{a}bh\bar{a}navah\ ||\ 2||
ihéva śrnva eṣām káśā hásteṣu yádvádān
ní yấmañcitrámrñjate || 3||
prá vah sárdhāya ghŕsvaye tvesádyumnāya susmíne
deváttam bráhma gāyata | 4 |
prá samsā gósvághnyam krīdám yáchárdho mấrutam |
jámbhe rásasya vāvrdhe | 5|
kó vo vársistha á naro divásca gmásca dhūtayah
yátsīmántam ná dhūnuthá | 6|
ní vo yāmāya mānuşo dadhrá ugrāya manyáve
jíhīta párvato giríh || 7||
yésāmájmesu prthiví jujurvám iva vispátih |
bhiyá yámesu réjate | 8|
sthirám hí jānamesām váyo mātúrníretave
yátsīmánu dvitā sávah | 9 |
údu tyé sūnávo gírah kāsthā ájmesvatnata
vāśrā abhijñú yātave | 10 |
tyám cidghā dīrghám prthúm mihó nápātamámrdhram
prá cyāvayanti yấmabhih || 11||
```

- 1. Ye shall start praising in song, O *Kanva*-s, your playful having *Marut*-s' trait flock to the not-to-be-obstructed reinforcement on chariot.
- 2. [Them,] who with dappled mares, with spears, with pointed knifes, with body-paint emerged appearing as they are;
- one hears as if [they were] right here —
   when whips in hands speak.
   They arranged into a procession what attracts attention.
- 4. Ye shall be singing forth given-by-deva formulation to your thrill-inducing swarm that is spirited, vehement through the power to illuminate.
- 5. Announce not-to-be-killed one among the cows which [is] the playful flock having *Marut-s'* trait. It has grown during swallowing of the elixir.
- 6. Who among you [is] the greatest here when you do not shake off the limits,
  O men agitating the Heaven and the Earth!
- 7. A human entrusts himself to your course:
  to a violent passion
  a rugged mountain shall give way,
- 8. [to you,] during whose marches the Earth shakes with fear in [its] movements like a grown old tribal chief.
- 9. Since the origin of these here is ascertained the mental energy to get away from a mother whatever [comes] after [is] the power to change even more.
- 10. The sons [stirred] up the chants; during [their] marches they endured race-grounds howling [when made] to move on [their] knees.
- 11. Through the drills they cause to depart at least this the long-lasting expansive unremitting descendant of the fog<sup>5</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>"unremitting descendant of the fog" = disorientation, indecisiveness

máruto yáddha vo bálam jánām acucyavītana | girímracucyavītana || 12||

yáddha yánti marútah sám ha bruvaté'dhvanná | śṛṇóti káścideṣām || 13||

prá yāta śībhamāśúbhih sánti kánvesu vo dúvah | tátro sú mādayādhvai || 14||

ásti hí ṣmā mádāya vaḥ smási ṣmā vayámeṣām | víśvam cidấyurjīváse || 15||

- 12. O Marut-s, when indeed yours [was] the power, you stirred the men again and again, you stirred again and again the mountains.
- 13. When *Marut*-s do move, they talk together on the way. Does anyone give ear to them?
- 14. You shall move quickly forward with the swift ones, among *Kaṇva*-s are honors for you to cause much delight there.
- 15. Because it is always your delight, we are forever of these [Marut-s who are] here—just to live the entire life force.

Verses 1–3, 9–13 refer to recruits; verses 4–8, 14–15 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

```
káddha nūnám kadhapriyah pitấ putrám ná hástayoh |
dadhidhvé vrktabarhişah || 1 ||
kvà nūnám kádvo ártham gántā divó ná prthivyấh
kvà vo gấvo ná ranyanti || 2||
kvà vah sumná návyāmsi márutah kvà suvitá |
kvò víśvāni saubhaqā | 3|
yádyūyám prśnimātaro mártāsah syātana
stotá vo amŕtah syāt || 4||
mā vo mrgó ná yávase jaritā bhūdájosyah |
pathá yamásya gādúpa || 5||
mó sú nah párāparā nírrtirdurhánā vadhīt
padīṣṭá tṛṣṇayā sahá || 6||
satyám tvesá ámavanto dhánvañcidá rudríyāsah
miham \ kṛṇvantyavatam \mid \mid 7 \mid \mid
vāśréva vidyúnmimāti vatsám ná mātā sisakti |
yádesām vrstírásarji | 8|
dívā cittámah kṛṇvanti parjányenodavāhéna
y\acute{a}tprthivim vyund\acute{a}nti \parallel 9 \parallel
ádha svanánmarútām vísvamá sádma párthivam
árejanta prá mánusāh || 10||
```

- What now, O ever-dear ones, you have directed attention upon like a father on a son in [his] hands — O you for whom the grass has been twisted?
- 2. Where [are you] now, what [is] your aim? Set out from the Heaven as if from the Earth! Where they delight in you as in cows?
- 3. Where [are] your new favours, O *Marut*-s, where [are] easy to traverse pathways? Where all auspicious [things are]?
- If you, O whose mother is Pṛśni, were mortal, [and] the one praising you could be immortal,
- never your invoker would be unwelcomed
   as wild beast [is unwelcomed] on a [domestic] pasture,
   [or] would approach [you] through the path of restraint.
- May recurring disintegration [or] harm never destroy us, may she<sup>6</sup> fall [away] together with the thirst.
- 7. Verily vehement, forceful, they, agreeable to *Rudra*, bring a windless fog even to a desert<sup>7</sup>.
- 8. The lightning bellows as a lowing cow; like mother [follows] the calf, she follows after the rain of these ones here is released.
- 9. Even by day they make darkness with water-carrying rain-cloud when they make the earth wet.
- 10. Then, from the roar of *Marut*-s, every single terrestrial abode trembled, then humans.

 $<sup>^6</sup>$ the recurring disintegration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>deprivation

```
máruto vīḍupāṇíbhiścitrấ ródhasvatīránu |
yātémákhidrayāmabhiḥ || 11||
sthirấ vaḥ santu nemáyo ráthā áśvāsa eṣām |
súsaṃskṛtā abhíśavaḥ || 12||
áchā vadā tánā girấ jarấyai bráhmaṇaspátim |
agníṃ mitráṃ ná darśatám || 13||
mimīhí ślókamāsyè parjánya iva tatanaḥ |
gáya gāyatrámukthyàm || 14||
vándasva mấrutaṃ gaṇáṃ tveṣáṃ panasyúmarkíṇam |
asmé vṛddhấ asannihá || 15||
```

- 11. O *Marut*-s, do move with strong-hoofed ones along variegated, facing obstructions ones with those whose movements lack interruptions!
- Let wheel-rims be firm for you, chariots, horses of these
   [be] well fashioned, [and] reins [too].
- 13. Without an interruption [do thou] address with a chant for the sake of invocation the master of the sacred formula, *Agni*, seen as a patron.
- 14. Pace the divine voice in [thy] mouth! Like a rain-cloud thou shall stretch [it]. Do thou sing a hymn of praise in the qāyatrī meter.
- 15. Thou do homage to vehement, evoking admiration, radiant, having *Marut-s'* trait troop. Here in us they shall increase.

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s. Verses 13–15 give instructions while addressing a participant of a sacrifice.

Verses 7–10 present analogy of inner *Marut*-s to a violent rainstorm. A windless fog and the roar of stormwinds are not coincident in nature, but corresponding to them in this analogy effects

of inner Marut-s could be. The "windless fog" refers to a state of disorientation caused by being pulled out of familiar environment, that is, out of routine, habitual behaviour. The "desert" is a state of deprivation which causes inner "waters" (see vocabulary entry for ap) to be scarce. A manifestation of inner Marut-s in this state makes a person oblivious to surroundings as if darkness fell during the day, and the visions that negate the deprivation strike person's mind as lightning bolt during a rainstorm and cause release of inner waters as if rain from a cloud. Such visions bring disturbance to routine existence and thus make personal constructs related to material, familiar existence unstable — "every single terrestrial abode trembled", and, as a consequence, constructs related to mental existence — the ones that make one human — also become unstable. When such unstable state occurs, one shall desire for Marut-s to keep coming assuredly, as expressed in verses 11–12, and perform actions described in verses 13–15.

```
prá yáditthấ parāvátaḥ śocírná mấnamásyatha |
kásya krátvā marutah kásya várpasā
k\acute{a}m y\bar{a}tha k\acute{a}m ha dh\bar{u}tayah || 1||
sthirá vah santváyudhā parānúde vīdú utá pratiskábhe
yusmākamastu távisī pánīyasī mā mártyasya māyínah || 2||
párā ha yátsthirám hathá náro vartáyathā qurú
ví yāthana vanínah prthivyā vyāśāh párvatānām | 3|
nahí vah sátrurvividé ádhi dyávi ná bhūmyām risādasah
yusmākamastu távisī tánā yujā rúdrāso nú cidādhŕse || 4 ||
prá vepayanti párvatānví viñcanti vánaspátīn
pró ārata maruto durmádā iva dévāsah sárvayā viśā || 5||
úpo ráthesu přsatīrayugdhvam prástirvahati róhitah
\check{a} vo y\check{a}m\check{a}ya prthiv\check{i} cida\acute{s}rod\acute{a}b\check{b}bhayanta m\check{a}nu\check{s}\check{a}h || 6||
á vo makṣū́ tánāya káṃ rúdrā ávo vṛṇīmahe
gántā nūnám nó'vasā yáthā purétthấ kánvāya bibhyúse || 7||
yuşméşito maruto mártyeşita á yó no ábhva ísate |
ví tám yuyota śávasā vyójasā ví yusmākābhirūtíbhih || 8||
ásāmi hí prayajyavah kánvam dadá pracetasah
ásāmibhirmaruta ā na ūtíbhirgántā vrstím ná vidyútah | 9 |
ásāmyójo bibhrthā sudānavó'sāmi dhūtayah śávah
rsidvíse marutah parimanyáva ísum ná srjata dvísam || 10||
```

- 1. When from afar you hurl forth an idea as if a flame, by whose understanding, with whose phantom, along what [path] you move, what indeed, O agitating ones!?
- May your weapons be steady to push away
  and also firm to withstand,
  may your power of control be more awesome —
  not [that] of having the power to frame ideas mortal.
- 3. When ye strike aside indeed what is persevering, ye cause what is ponderous to exhibit itself; ye traverse earthly needs<sup>8</sup> [and] compulsions<sup>9</sup> of knotty ones.
- 4. Surely the enemy has not found you neither in Heaven, nor on Earth, O devouring gaps! May your power to control

be with [your] companion<sup>10</sup> continually, O true *Rudra*-s, for an assault!

- 5. Then<sup>11</sup>, they<sup>12</sup> stir up the knotty ones, discern principal desires<sup>13</sup>; then you, O Marut-s, rise upwards like mad conceptions, O deva-s, with the entire tribe [of deva-s].
- You harnessed to chariots dappled mares; reddish one<sup>14</sup>, being in front, conveys.
   Even the Earth has listened for your move, humans have become afraid.
- 7. Here we choose promptly your assistance for the sake of offsprings, O Rudra-s. Approach us now with [your] assistance as before [you approached] frightened Kanva.
- 8. What immense sent out here by you, O Marut-s, [or] sent out by a mortal attacks us, deprive that of the power to change, of vigour, of your means of helping.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>lit. "possessing of a desire"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>lit. "reaching to, striving for, obtaining what is desired; food"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>when your power to control is with *Indra* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>worshipers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>lit. "chiefs or lords of desires"

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>Aqni$ 

- 9. O ye who seek the first of a sacrifice, since ye have given [to us] *Kanva* completely, O foresighted ones, come to us with your unhalved means of helping, as lightning bolts [come to] the rain.
- 10. Ye bring unhalved vigour, O generous ones, unhalved power to change, O agitating ones! For hostile to sages, O *Marut*-s, furious one you shall set loose hostility as if an arrow.

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s. Verses 1–6 describe what happens when inner Marut-s "hurl" at a person an idea.

```
výsne sárdhāya súmakhāya vedháse
nódhah suvrktím prá bharā marúdbhyah
apónádhírománasāsuhástyo gírah sámañje vidátheṣvābhúvah || 1 ||
té jajñire divá rsvása uksáno rudrásya máryā ásurā arepásah
pāvakāsah súcayah sūryā iva
sátvā no nádrapsíno ghorávarpasah || 2||
yúvāno rudrā ajárā abhoggháno vavaksúrádhrigāvah párvatā iva
drdhā cidvíśvā bhúvanāni pārthivā
prá cyāvayanti divyāni majmánā || 3||
citrárañjíbhirvápuse vyàñjate váksassu rukmām ádhiyetire subhé
ámsesvesām ní mimrksurrstáyah
sākám jajñire svadháyā divó nárah | 4 |
īśānakŕto dhúnayo riśādaso vātānvidyútastávisībhirakrata
duhántyúdhardivyáni dhútayo
bh\bar{u}mim\ pinvanti\ páyas\bar{a}\ párijrayah\ ||\ 5||
pínvantyapó marútah sudánavah páyo ghrtávadvidáthesvābhúvah
átyam ná mihé ví nayanti vājínam
útsam duhanti stanáyantamáksitam || 6||
mahisāso māyinaścitrábhānavo giráyo ná svátavaso raghusyádah
mṛgā iva hastínaḥ khādathā vánā
yádárunīsu távisīráyuqdhvam | 7|
simhá iva nanadati prácetasah piśá iva supíšo višvávedasah
ksápo jínvantah přsatībhirrstíbhih
sámítsabádhah sávasáhimanyavah | 8 |
ródasī ā vadatā ganaśriyo nrsācah śūrāh śávasāhimanyavah
á vandhúresvamátirná daršatá
vidyúnná tasthau maruto ráthesu vah || 9||
```

1. For the bullish swarm of good fighting spirit [and] enthusiastic, O Nodhas, present a well-twisted verse — for Marut-s. Having schemas for contemplation, as if skillful in art, imaginative,

I anoint chants [that] are assisting during teaching sessions.

- 2. They, helping in dire straights bulls, have emerged from the Heaven recruits of Rudra, faultless asura- $s^{15}$ , purifying, shining like suns, sparkling as warriors, terrifying like a phantom.
- 3. Young Rudra-s not subject to old age, warding off him<sup>16</sup> who lacks enjoyment, they, independent like rugged [mountains], have nurtured [their dreams]. All terrestrial places of existence — even stable ones they cause to shake [and] celestial ones [too] with [their] majesty.
- 4. They display catching the eye body-paints for the sake of beauty, on breasts they fastened shining [plates] for enhancement; spears have rubbed into their shoulders.

At the same time the men emerge spontaneously from the Heaven.

- 5. Acting as competent ones, boisterous, devouring gaps, by means of [their] power to control they effected winds, lightnings; they, shaking the celestial [places of existence], milk the udder; they, full of fervor, make the ground swell with the juice.
- 6. Generous *Marut*-s cause the waters, ghee-rich juice to swell, they, present at teaching sessions.

As if leading away a steed

having the rush of vigour to emit [the semen] they milk inexhaustible causing thunders fountain.

 $<sup>^{15}{\</sup>rm guiding~spirits}$   $^{16}{\it Yam\acute{a}}$ 

7. Mighty, having power to frame ideas, having various representations, like mountains self-strong, [their] flow is rapid.

Like wild elephants you consume forests when you yoked powers to control to reddish [blazes of fire].

8. They, foresighted, roar like lions, well-adorned like mottled deer, known to everyone; with spears they urge on the nights together with dappled mares, completely enraged like snakes annoyed by an impulse to change.

9. Address the two *Rodas*-es, O having troop insignia ones, in a company of men, O agents of change, [you,] enraged like snakes by an impulse to change. Perceived as lack of determination in chariot seats, it remains as if flashing on your chariot, O *Marut*-s.

viśvávedaso rayíbhiḥ sámokasaḥ sámmiślāsastáviṣībhirvirapśínaḥ | ástāra íṣuṃ dadhire gábhastyor anantáśuṣmā vṛṣakhādayo náraḥ || 10||

hiranyáyebhih pavíbhih payovýdha újjighnanta āpathyònápárvatān | makhá ayásah svasýto dhruvacyúto dudhrakýto marúto bhrájadṛṣṭayah || 11||

ghṛṣuṃ pāvakáṃ vanɨnaṃ vɨcarṣaṇiṃ rudrásya sūnúṃ havásā gṛṇīmasi | rajastúraṃ tavásaṃ mắrutaṃ gaṇám rjīsɨnaṃ vṛṣaṇaṃ saścata śriyé || 12||

prá nű sá mártah sávasā jánāṃ áti tasthau va ūtī maruto yámāvata | árvadbhirvājaṃ bharate dhánā nṛbhir āpṛchyaṃ krátumā kṣeti púṣyati || 13||

carkŕtyam marutah prtsú dustáram dyumántam śúsmam maghávatsu dhattana | dhanaspŕtamukthyàm viśvácarṣaṇim tokám puṣyema tánayam śatám hímāh || 14||

nű sthirám maruto vīrávantam rtīsāham rayímasmāsu dhatta | sahasríṇam śatínam śūśuvāṃsam prātármakṣũ dhiyāvasurjagamyāt || 15||

- 10. Known to everyone, furnished with treasures, well-endowed with powers to control, exuberant, they, who are about to shoot, placed an arrow in hands men of unlimited fervor, in helmets with bull-horns.
- 11. With bronze tips, they, strengthened by the juice, strike upwards at the mountains as at impediments. Having fighting spirit, agile, self-moving, shaking what is fixed, acting headstrong [are] Marut-s having gleaming spears.
- 12. We extol with an invocation agile, purifying, desiring, disengaging offspring of Rudra. For a good fortune ye shall follow crossing the regions energetic troop having Maxut-s' trait, receiving the residue of States.

having Marut-s' trait, receiving the residue of Soma, fertilizing.

13. By the power to change that mortal stood above the people whom you, O *Marut*-s, favoured with your protections. With hasting ones he brings the rush of vigour,

with the men — the prizes;

he possesses commendable resourcefulness, he thrives.

14. O *Marut*-s, put into liberal ones

renowned, difficult to overcome in battles, lucid fervor — [the one] that carries away the prize, [that is] worthy of a hymn, [that is] drawing to itself everyone,

so that we can nurture for hundred winters propagating [our] family children.

15. Now then, O *Marut*-s, put into us the treasure that is lasting, rich in heroes, [that] prevailed over assailants, that, containing a thousand,

containing a hundred [gifts], has swelled.

May he, who benefits with visions, come promptly at daybreak!

Verses 1, 3, 4abc, 7cd, 9–11 refer to recruits; lines 12cd address them as well.

Verses 2, 4d, 5, 6, 7ab, 8, 12–15 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

prá yé súmbhante jánayo ná sáptayo yámanrudrásya sūnávah sudámsasah | ródasī hí marútaścakriré vṛdhé mádanti vīrá vidátheṣu ghṛṣvayah || 1||

tá ukṣitấso mahimấnamāśata diví rudrấso ádhi cakrire sádaḥ | árcanto arkáṃ janáyanta indriyám ádhi śríyo dadhire pṛśnimātaraḥ || 2||

gómātaro yáchubháyante añjíbhis tanűṣu śubhrấ dadhire virúkmataḥ | bấdhante víśvamabhimātínamápa vártmānyesāmánu rīyate ghrtám || 3||

ví yé bhrájante súmakhāsa ṛṣṭíbhiḥ pracyāváyanto ácyutā cidójasā | manojúvo yánmaruto rátheṣvá vṛṣavrātāsaḥ pṛṣatīráyugdhvam || 4||

prá yádráthesu přísatīráyugdhvam váje ádrim maruto ramháyantah | utárusásya ví syanti dhárās cármevodábhirvyùndanti bhúma || 5||

á vo vahantu sáptayo raghuṣyádo raghupátvānaḥ prá jigāta bāhúbhiḥ | sídatá barhírurú vaḥ sádaskṛtáṃ mādáyadhvaṃ maruto mádhvo ándhasaḥ || 6||

tè'vardhanta svátavaso mahitvaná nákam tasthúrurú cakrire sádah | víṣṇuryáddhávadvṛṣaṇam madacyútam váyo ná sīdannádhi barhíṣi priyé || 7|| 1. Those who adorn themselves like wives — steeds in a procession,

having marvelous power offsprings of *Rudra*, they, valiant, thrill-inducing, exult in teaching sessions (since *Marut*-s made two *Rodas*-es to gain strength).

2. They, fully grown, obtain the power to increasing in size, they, dreadful, made a seat above, in the Heaven; Singing a hymn of illumination,

giving existence to the power of the senses they whose mother is *Prsni* put on auspicious signs.

3. When they whose mother is cow

adorn themselves with body-paints, they<sup>17</sup>, replenishing, have [already] put onto [their] bodies bright armour.

They force every insidious one back, along their tracks ghee melts,

- 4. who, of good fighting spirit, shine forth with spears vigorously causing to fall even what is firm, when you, O Marut-s, being a troop of bulls, yoked to chariots swift-as-the-mind dappled mares.
- 5. When you yoked to chariots dappled mares making the stone to speed during a rush of vigour, O Marut-s, and they make streams of tamed one<sup>18</sup> loose, they make the earth wet with waters as if it was a [water-|skin.
- 6. Let rapidly flowing steeds<sup>19</sup> convey you; rapidly flying, advance by means of [Soma pressers'] arms; Sit here upon the sacrificial grass made ready for you seat [is] wide.

  Make yourself delighted in the honey<sup>20</sup> from the herb
- Make yourself delighted in the honey<sup>20</sup> from the herb.

7. They grew strong, self-strong by being extensive; they stayed near the vault of the Heaven, they made wide seat. When *Viṣṇu* favours impregnating, oozing exhilaration [drink] like birds they shall sit on the cherished sacrificial grass.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>inner Marut-s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>prob. "the inner Agni" — body heat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>drops of Soma

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ Soma

śűrā ivédyúyudhayo ná jágmayaḥ śravasyávo ná pṛtanāsu yetire | bháyante víśvā bhúvanā marúdbhyo rấjāna iva tveṣásaṃdṛśo náraḥ || 8||

tváṣṭā yádvájraṃ súkṛtaṃ hiraṇyáyaṃ sahásrabhṛṣṭiṃ svápā ávartayat | dhattá índro náryápāṃsi kártavé'hanvṛtráṃ nírapāmaubjadarṇavám || 9||

ūrdhvám nunudre'vatám tá ójasā dādrhānám cidbibhidurví párvatam | dhámanto vānám marútah sudánavo máde sómasya rányāni cakrire || 10||

jihmám nunudre'vatám táyā diśấ
siñcannútsam gótamāya tṛṣṇáje |
ấ gachantīmávasā citrábhānavaḥ
kắmam víprasya tarpayanta dhấmabhiḥ || 11||

yấ vaḥ śárma śaśamānấya sánti tridhấtūni dāśúṣe yachatấdhi | asmábhyaṃ tấni maruto ví yanta rayíṃ no dhatta vṛṣaṇaḥ suvíram || 12|| 8. Just like agents of change,

in constant motion as if always fighting, they seek to join battles as if seeking fame. All places of existence are afraid of *Marut*-s. The men are like kings whose appearance causing fear.

- 9. When *Tvaṣṭṛ*, well-skilled, creates wells-made having thousand spikes golden thunderbolt *Indra* accepts in [that] man works to do: he kills *Vrtra*, lets loose the flood of waters.
- 10. Upwards they vigorously pushed the cistern<sup>21</sup>, they have loosened even a hardening knotty one. Fanning<sup>22</sup> music, generous Marut-s effected [these] joys in the exhibitantion of Soma.
- 11. They pushed the oblique cistern in this direction, discharged a fountain for thirsty Gotama.They who have various representations go to him with an assistance; the poet's desire they shall make satisfied throughout abodes.
- 12. Which your [abodes] are a refuge for exerting himself [man] threefold ones stretch over for a worshiper, for us do extend those, O *Marut-s*! Fix for us the very manly treasure, O bulls!

Verses 1abc, 2cd, 3acd, 4ab, 5cd refer to recruits. Verses 1d, 2ab, 3b, 4cd, 5ab, 6–12 refer to inner *Marut*-s. The phrase "making the stone to speed during a rush of vigour" in verse 5 probably refers to a training exercise when a man, having effected the rush of vigour, throws a stone that in a normal physiological state he could hardly lift.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>prob. "physical heart"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>lit. "blowing" as wind when kindling a fire

```
máruto yásya hí kṣáye pāthấ divó vimahasah
sá sugopátamo jánah || 1||
yajñáirvā yajñavāhaso víprasya vā matīnām
márutah srnutá hávam || 2||
utá vā yásya vājínó'nu vípramátakṣata |
s\acute{a}~g\acute{a}nt\bar{a}~g\acute{o}mati~vraj\acute{e}~||~3||
asyá vīrásya barhísi sutáh sómo dívistisu |
ukthám mádaśca śasyate | | 4 | |
asyá śrosantvá bhúvo víśvā yáścarsanīrabhí
sū́ram citsasrúsīrísah || 5||
pūrvībhirhí dadāśimá śarádbhirmaruto vayám |
\acute{a}vobhi\acute{s}car \dot{s}an \bar{n}\acute{a}m \parallel 6 \parallel
subhágah sá prayajyavo máruto astu mártyah
yásya práyāṃsi párṣatha || 7||
śaśamānásya vā narah svédasya satyaśavasah |
vidá kámasya vénatah | 8 |
yūyám tátsatyaśavasa āvíşkarta mahitvanā |
vídhyatā vidyútā ráksah | 9|
qū́hatā qúhyam támo ví yāta vísvamatrínam |
jyótiskartā yáduśmási || 10||
```

- 1. O *Marut*-s, since over whose abode ye watch from the Heaven, O joyous ones, that one is the best protected person.
- 2. Whether through sacrifices, O ye whose transport is a sacrifice, or from poet's sacred utterances, O Marut-s, do hear the call!
- 3. And whose steeds
  ye fashioned along with the poet
  he is the one who approaches the enclosure rich in cows.
- 4. On sacrificial grass of this valiant one Soma [was] extracted during seeking the Heaven [activities]; the verse and exhilarating drink are repeated.
- 5. May beings hear from this one, who is in front of all drawing-to-themselves, about the sun, about ever-flowing libations.
- 6. Throughout previous autumns we honored [you], O *Marut-*s, through favours of those drawing-to-themselves.
- 7. May he be very fortunate, O seeking the first of [a] sacrifice *Marut-s*, the mortal whose pleasures ye besprinkle.
- 8. Ye know of the desire of him who is yearning, O men, And of him who exerting himself, of him who is sweating, O ye whose power to transform is real!
- 9. Ye, whose power to transform is real, do this openly: through being extensive pierce with lightning bolt the defensiveness.
- 10. Hide kept secret gloom, pass through every all-consuming fear, create the light that we long for!

This hymn refers to inner *Marut-s*.

prátvakṣasaḥ prátavaso virapśínó'nānatā ávithurā rjīṣíṇaḥ | júṣṭatamāso nṛ́tamāso añjíbhir vyānajre ké cidusrấ iva stṛ́bhiḥ || 1||

upahvarésu yádácidhvam yayím váya iva marutah kéna citpathá | ścótanti kóśā úpa vo ráthesvá ghṛtámukṣatā mádhuvarṇamárcate || 2||

prásāmájmesu vithuréva rejate bhűmiryámesu yáddha yuñjáte śubhé | té krīḍáyo dhúnayo bhrájadṛṣṭayah svayáṃ mahitváṃ panayanta dhűtayah || 3||

sá hí svasŕtpŕ;adaśvo yúvā gaṇò'yắ īśānástáviṣībhirấvṛtaḥ | ási satyá ṛṇayấvấnedyo'syấ dhiyáh prāvitấthā vṛṣā gaṇáḥ || 4||

pitúḥ pratnásya jánmanā vadāmasi sómasya jihvā prá jigāti cákṣasā | yádīmíndraṃ śámyṛkvāṇa āśatādínnāmāni yajñíyāni dadhire || 5||

śriyáse káṃ bhānúbhih sáṃ mimikṣire té raśmíbhistá ŕkvabhih sukhādáyah | té vấśīmanta iṣmíṇo ábhīravo vidré priyásya mấrutasya dhấmnah || 6||

- Imagining, projecting power, exuberant,
   not humbled, not staggering,
   receiving the residue of Soma, most welcome, most manly —
   they have anointed themselves thoroughly with body-paints —
   some of them like morning light with stars.
- 2. When midst twists and turns you seek for means to move like mental energy [seeks for means to express itself],

O *Marut*-s, in whatever manner [possible], in your chariots the subtle bodies ooze [the waters]. Sprinkle having the color of honey ghee

for the one who praises [you]!

- 3. During their marches the earth shakes as if staggering. when in [their] movements they join to enhance [the effect] they, sporting, boisterous, having gleaming spears, agitating, they cause [anyone] to be surprised at [his] own might.
- 4. Since such self-propelling having-spotted-horses, young — [is the] troop, agile, authoritative, surrounded by controlling powers, thou<sup>23</sup> are sincere, riding what is missing, not to be constrained. Of this vision futherer [is] then the bullish troop.
- According to custom we address the ancient father Soma.
   The tongue advances with the eye.
   When through effort they<sup>24</sup>, reciting verses, reached him, *Indra*,
- only after that they<sup>25</sup> got worthy-of-a-sacrifice aspects.

  6. Just for auspiciousness they [, recruits,]

furnish themselves with [various] appearances these — with whips, these, well[-protected] with studded leather plates — with reciters of verses Having pointed knives, arrows, [and] not timid, they know the favourite abode related to [inner] Marut-s.

Verses 1–2, 4c, 5c, 6 refer to recruits; verses 3, 4abd, 5d refer to inner *Marut*-s.

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ recruit

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>inner Marut-s

á vidyúnmadbhirmarutah svarkáí ráthebhiryāta ṛṣṭimádbhiráśvaparṇaih | á várṣiṣṭhayā na iṣá váyo ná paptatā sumāyāḥ || 1||

tè'ruṇébhirváramấ piśáṅgaiḥ śubhé káṃ yānti rathatűrbhiráśvaiḥ | rukmó ná citráḥ svádhitīvān pavyấ ráthasya jaṅghananta bhữma || 2||

śriyé kám vo ádhi tanūṣu vấṣīr medhấ vánā ná kṛṇavanta ūrdhvấ | yuṣmábhyaṃ kám marutaḥ sujātās tuvidyumnāso dhanayante ádrim || 3||

áhāni gṛdhrāḥ páryấ va ấgur imấṃ dhíyaṃ vārkāryấṃ ca devím | bráhma kṛṇvánto gótamāso arkáir ūrdhváṃ nunudra utsadhíṃ píbadhyai || 4||

etáttyánná yójanamaceti sasvárha yánmaruto gótamo vah | pásyanhíranyacakrān áyodaṃṣṭrānvidhávato varáhūn || 5||

eṣấ syấ vo maruto'nubhartrí práti ṣṭobhati vāgháto ná vắṇī | ástobhayadvṛthāsām ánu svadhấṃ gábhastyoḥ || 6|| 1. Do come here, O *Marut-s*, by means of having lightning bolts, well-illuminating, fitted with spears,

having horses as wings chariots! Together with for-us-the-strongest libation fly here like birds, O very artful ones!

2. To reinforce, they move by means of giving at will a chance to move upwards, having flame-like bypassing-chariots horses<sup>26</sup>.

Attracting attention as if shining with reflected light [is] he who is furnished with her who is self-positioning<sup>27</sup>.

With the tip of the chariot they<sup>28</sup> shall keep striking the Earth.

3. Just for you<sup>29</sup> to be auspicious,

pointed knives [are] on [their] bodies, by the power of resolve they<sup>30</sup> shall not make earnest desires elevated [into fantasies]. Just for your sake, O good-to-manifest *Marut*-s, inspired to a high degree ones<sup>31</sup> make the rock speed.

4. For days vulture-like [thoughts] were circling around ye, [around] this vision to be effected with [inner] waters, and [around] the  $dev\bar{\imath}^{32}$ .

Gotamas, performing the sacred formula together with illuminating [it] hymns, have pushed upwards the receptacle of the fountain in order to drink.

5. This very [formula] has been figured out as a daily track [is] when, O Marut-s, Gotama was secretly looking at [those of] you [, recruits,] [who] have gold for wheels and metal for teeth<sup>33</sup> running in different directions, hiding anxieties.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$ drops of Soma

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>prob. Sarasvatī

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>worshipers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>inner *Marut*-s

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>Sarasvatī

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>lit. "biter"

6. This very [vision] of you, O Marut-s, bearing after [you], echoes as if being the voice of him who makes the effort—it easily caused [him] to make a succession of exclamations according to the nature of these [thoughts]
[that are] in the two hands<sup>34</sup>.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s; verses 2bcd and 3 mention recruits as "they" and "you" in 5bcd.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>that is, being worked with

## RigVeda 1.161.14

divá yānti marúto bhúmyāgnír ayám váto antárikṣeṇa yāti | adbhíryāti váruṇaḥ samudráir yuṣmấṃ ichántaḥ śavaso napātaḥ || 14||

14. Marut-s move through the Heaven, Agni — along the Earth, this wind moves through the intermediate space, Varuna moves through waters, through the seas — [all of them] striving to obtain you, O offsprings of the impulse to change!

This verse refers to the inner *Marut*-s while recruits are addressed in lines cd as "you" and "offsprings of the impulse to change".

káyā śubhấ sávayasaḥ sánīḍāḥ samānyấ marútaḥ sáṃ mimikṣuḥ | káyā matī kúta étāsa eté'rcanti śúṣmaṃ vṛṣaṇo vasūyấ || 1||

kásya bráhmāṇi jujuṣuryúvānaḥ kó adhvaré marúta ā́ vavarta | śyenā̃ṃ iva dhrájato antárikṣe kéna mahā́ mánasā rīramāma || 2||

kútastvámindra máhinah sánnéko yāsi satpate kím ta itthá | sám pṛchase samarāṇáh śubhānáir vocéstánno harivo yátte asmé || 3||

bráhmāṇi me matáyaḥ śáṃ sutắsaḥ śúṣma iyarti prábhṛto me ádriḥ | ấ śāsate práti haryantyukthémấ hárī vahatastấ no ácha || 4||

áto vayámantamébhiryujānāḥ svákṣatrebhistanvàḥ śúmbhamānāḥ | máhobhirétāṃ úpa yujmahe nvíndra svadhāmánu hí no babhűtha || 5||

#### [Poet $\bar{A}gastya$ :]

 By what enhancement Marut-s — of similar mental vigour, closely related [to each other] have become present together with the universal one<sup>35</sup>? By what mental gesture, from where are these

who have approached?

Bulls roar fervently seeking benefits.

2. Whose formulas youthful ones favoured? Who during proceeding on its path [sacrifice] turned to gliding like hawks in air Marut-s? By means of what mighty contemplation shall we stop [them]?

#### [Leader of Maruts:]

3. Wherefrom you, causing joy, O Indra, do travel alone, O protector of truth?

What [is there] for you [in doing] thus? —
you ask yourself, having met with reinforcing ones [before].
You can answer [it] yourself: that [was] for us,
O possessing the pale yellow<sup>36</sup>,
what [now] yours [was] for us.

#### [Indra:]

4. Formulations [are] for me, the mental gesture [is for me]; fortunately [for me are] extracted [drops of Soma]; the fervor rises; the rock is brought forth for me. They [, the worshipers,] expect [me]; the verses enchant [them]; these two<sup>37</sup> pale yellow carry those [formulations] towards us.

### [Leader of Maruts:]

5. O Indra, since thou became [manifest] according to our natural disposition, hence we, attaching ourselves to readily present<sup>38</sup> [powers], adorning [our] bodies with innately strong [powers], employ with [those] powers the antelopes.

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>Sarasvat\bar{\imath}$ 

 $<sup>^{36}</sup>Soma$ 

 $<sup>^{37}</sup>$ prob. Soma and the moon  $^{38}$ lit. "nearest"

kvà syá vo marutah svadhásīd yánmámékam samádhattāhihátye | ahám hyùgrástaviṣástúviṣmān víśvasya śátroránamam vadhasnáh || 6||

bhűri cakartha yújyebhirasmé samānébhirvṛṣabha pauṃsyebhih | bhűrīṇi hí kṛṇávāmā śaviṣṭhéndra krátvā maruto yádváśāma || 7||

vádhīm vṛtrám maruta indriyéṇa svéna bhẩmena tavisó babhūvấn | ahámetấ mánave viśváścandrāḥ sugấ apáścakara vájrabāhuh || 8||

ánuttamá te maghavannákirnú ná tvávāṃ asti devátā vídānaḥ | ná jáyamāno náśate ná jātó yáni kariṣyá kṛṇuhí pravṛddha || 9||

#### [Indra:]

6. Where was that same natural disposition of yours when you put me [up] to slay the snake by myself <sup>39</sup>? Because I am ferocious, in-control, having authority, with deadly weapons, I bend [the natural disposition] of every enemy [to be favourable to me].

#### [Leader of Maruts:]

- 7. Thou have accomplished much with to-be-deployed for us similar manly deeds, O resembling a bull, just [as] many [deeds] we shall [yet] accomplish, O having the most power to change, O Indra, we, O Marut-s, shall wish [to accomplish]
  - O *Indra*, we, O *Marut*-s, shall wish [to accomplish] through [your<sup>40</sup>] resourcefulness!

#### [Indra:]

8. I have slayed *Vrtra*, O *Marut*-s, having become in control by the power of senses and through my own fury.

For an intelligent man these having-allpervading-glitter waters I, armed with a thunderbolt, made easy-flowing.

### $[\mathit{Maruts}:]$

9. That of thee is not downplayed here, O munificent one!
No one similar to thee is known among deva-s.
May thou, [being] full grown,
accomplish yet-to-be-accomplished [deeds]
which neither just being born nor [already] born one succeeds in.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>lit. "alone"

 $<sup>^{40}</sup>Indra$ 's

ékasya cinme vibhvàstvójo yấ nú dadhṛṣvấnkṛṇávai manīṣấ | aháṃ hyùgró maruto vídāno yấni cyávamíndra ídīśa eṣām || 10||

ámandanmā maruta stómo átra yánme naraḥ śrútyaṃ bráhma cakrá | índrāya vṛṣṇe súmakhāya máhyaṃ sákhye sákhāyastanvè tanúbhiḥ || 11||

evédeté práti mā rócamānā ánedyaḥ śráva éṣo dádhānāḥ | saṃcákṣyā marutaścandrávarṇā áchānta me chadáyāthā ca nūnám || 12||

kó nvátra maruto māmahe vaḥ prá yātana sákhīṃ̃ráchā sakhāyaḥ | mánmāni citrā apivātáyanta eṣấṃ bhūta návedā ma ṛtấnām || 13||

á yádduvasyádduváse ná kārúr asmáñcakré mānyásya medhá | ó ṣú vartta maruto vípramáchemá bráhmāni jaritá vo arcat || 14||

eṣá va stómo maruta iyáṃ gấr māndāryásya mānyásya kāróḥ | éṣấ yāsīṣṭa tanvè vayấṃ vidyấmeṣáṃ vṛjánaṃ jīrádānum || 15||

#### [Indra:]

10. May only mine vigour be abundant whatever [deeds] I, daring, shall still perform with the right conception! Since I am known to be violent, O Marut-s, whatever [things] I were to stir, just I, Indra, will be the master of them.

11. This time, the chant exhilarated me, O Marut-s, that to-be-heard formula ye created for me, O men, for the bull *Indra*, for me who is of good fighting spirit, companions for a companion,

manifestations for a manifestation!

12. Just so, these in opposition to me are splendid, not to be constrained [band], receiving loud praise before the libations.
Observing, O Marut-s, [ye,] having a shimmering appearance, ye seemed good to me [before], ye shall be considered good now.

#### [Poet $\bar{A}gastya$ :]

- 13. Who indeed in this case, O Marut-s, has aroused ye? Journey forth ye, companions, to [your] companions! O attracting attention ones, ye, fanning out cogitations do become cognizant of these my coherences.
- 14. Here since the singer of eulogies rouses [us] as if to ready [us] for action, the strength of resolve of the venerable [singer] took hold of us. Here as well turn to the inspired one, O *Marut*-s; the invoker shall recommend these formulations to ye.

#### [Invoker:]

15. This chant is for you, O Marut-s, this song [is] of a venerable singer [who is] capable to please. Through a libation let it become a mental vigour for him! May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s.

tánnú vocāma rabhasāya jánmane pū́rvaṃ mahitváṃ vṛṣabhásya ketáve | aidhéva yā́manmarutastuviṣvaṇo yudhéva śakrāstaviṣā́ni kartana || 1||

nítyam ná sūnúm mádhu bíbhrata úpa krídanti krīdā vidáthesu ghŕsvayah | nákṣanti rudrā ávasā namasvínam ná mardhanti svátavaso haviskŕtam || 2||

yásmā úmāso amṛtā árāsata rāyáspóṣaṃ ca havíṣā dadāśúṣe | ukṣántyasmai marúto hitā iva purú rájāṃsi páyasā mayobhúvaḥ || 3||

á yé rájāṃsi táviṣībhirávyata prá va évāsaḥ sváyatāso adhrajan | bháyante víśvā bhúvanāni harmyá citró vo yắmaḥ práyatāsvṛṣṭíṣu || 4||

yáttvesáyāmā nadáyanta párvatān divó vā pṛṣṭháṃ náryā ácucyavuḥ | víśvo vo ájmanbhayate vánaspátī rathīyántīva prá jihīta óṣadhiḥ || 5||

yūyám na ugrā marutaḥ sucetúnấriṣṭagrāmāḥ sumatím pipartana | yátrā vo didyúdrádati krívirdatī riṇấti paśváḥ súdhiteva barháṇā || 6|| 1. Now we shall mention this to the impetuous race, the former greatness [we shall describe] to the vanguard of him who resembles a bull.

Like shots of energy on a journey, O loud-sounding  $\mathit{Marut}$ -s, do effect powers  $^{41}$ , O abled ones,

like [those evoked] by a warrior.

 Bringing the honey closer as if one's own son, playful ones are playing during teaching sessions they, thrill-inducing.

Rudra-s with [their] favours come near a reverential one. They, self-strong, do not neglect him who prepares an oblation.

- 3. For whom imperishable helpers granted riches and thriving, for him who worships with an oblation for that one *Marut*-s sprinkle often (as if impelled) the regions with the juice they, becoming [thus] a counterbalance.
- 4. Which here enveloped regions with controlling powers [those] your speedy, self-directing ones<sup>42</sup> sweeped forward. All charming-the-mind places of existence become scary—your varying course [is] among set out spears.
- 5. When they, whose course is violent,
  fill the mountains with noises,
  or [when] agreeable to men ones shook the base of the Heaven,
  every principal desire causes anxiety during your passage;
  like a woman who goes on a chariot, the herb gives way [to you].
- 6. Ye [who are] for us violent, O Marut-s, with her who affords basis for good concentration, ye, of not non-torn-off <sup>43</sup> group, bring [us] an effective mental gesture! Wherever your flesh-biting flame scratches [the mind] it sets free beasts [inside men] with certainty like a well contrived [mental gesture].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>powers keeping under control assailing forces

<sup>42</sup> scouts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>prob. "not asocial"

prá skambhádeṣṇā anavabhrárādhaso'lātṛṇắso vidátheṣu súṣṭutāḥ | árcantyarkáṃ madirásya pītáye vidúrvīrásya prathamấni pauṃṣyā || 7||

śatábhujibhistámabhíhruteraghất pūrbhí rakṣatā maruto yámấvata | jánaṃ yámugrāstavaso virapśinaḥ pāthánā śáṃsāttánayasya puṣṭíṣu || 8||

víśvāni bhadrá maruto ráthesu vo mithaspṛdhyeva taviṣáṇyáhitā | áṃseṣvá vaḥ prápathesu khādáyó'kṣo vaścakrá samáyā ví vāvṛte || 9||

bhűrīṇi bhadrấ náryeṣu bāhúṣu
vákṣassu rukmấ rabhasấso añjáyaḥ |
áṃseṣvétāḥ pavíṣu kṣurấ ádhi
váyo ná pakṣấnvyánu śríyo dhire || 10||

mahánto mahná vibhvò víbhūtayo dūredŕśo yé divyá iva stŕbhiḥ | mandráḥ sujihváḥ sváritāra āsábhiḥ sámmiślā índre marútaḥ pariṣṭúbhaḥ || 11||

tádvah sujātā maruto mahitvanám dīrghám vo dātrámáditeriva vratám | índraścaná tyájasā ví hrunāti tájjánāya yásmai sukŕte árādhvam || 12||

tádvo jāmitvám marutah páre yugé purű yáchámsamamṛtāsa ávata | ayấ dhiyấ mánave śruṣṭímấvyā sākám náro daṃsánairấ cikitrire || 13|| 7. Then they whose giving [becomes] a pillar, [who give] satisfaction that does not fade, [who are] like thorny twigs, [who are] highly praised during teaching sessions, they sing a hymn of illumination to drink the exhilarating one<sup>44</sup>, they know the foremost manly deeds of the hero.

8. By means of having-hundred-enclosures fortresses guard against injury [and] evil him

whom you, O Marut-s, favoured —

the person whom you, O ferocious, strong, exuberant ones, midst flourishing of [his] grandchildren protect from curse.

- 9. All auspicious things, O Marut-s, [are] placed on your chariots like competing with each other powers to control. On long journeys there are studded spaulders on your shoulders your axle spins the wheels evenly.
- 10. Many auspicious things [are] in manly arms, on breasts [are] shining [plates], fierce-looking body-paints antelope skins on shoulders, barbs on the tips, like birds [spread out their] wings they spread out auspicious signs.
- 11. Mighty by being ever-exciting, penetrating, all-pervading, seen at a distance like celestial ones with the stars, pleasantly sounding, well-tongued, noisy by means of [their] mouths,

commingled around *Indra*, *Marut*-s exclaim abundantly.

12. That your state of being extensive,

O good-to-manifest *Marut*-s, [is] long-lasting; like the sway of *Aditi* [is] allotted to ye portion; not even *Indra* through alienation makes it go awry for a person to whom, [because of his] correct actions, ye surrendered.

13. Such<sup>45</sup> [was] your relatedness [to each other] in olden times (when often ye, O imperishable ones, favoured a recitation thus promoting — for an intelligent man — [mind's] obedience through a vision), [that] together men distinguished themselves with wonderous deeds.

<sup>45</sup>extensive

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{44}}Soma$ 

yéna dīrgháṃ marutaḥ śūśávāma yuṣmấkena párīṇasā turāsaḥ | á yáttatánanvrjáne jánāsa ebhíryajñébhistádabhīṣtimaśyām || 14||

eṣá va stómo maruta iyáṃ gírmāndāryásya mānyásya kāróḥ | éṣấ yāsīṣṭa tanvè vayấṃ vidyấmeṣáṃ vṛjánaṃ jīrádānum || 15||

14. With what we have grown the long-lasting [fervor/enthusiasm $^{46}$ ], O Marut-s,

pressing forward through your plenitude, what people here, in the [sacrificial] enclosure, expand, that I will be able to achieve with these sacrifices for the sake of the request.

15. This chant is for you, O Marut-s, this song is of a venerable singer capable to please. Through a libation let it become a mental vigour for him! May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure.

In each of verses 1–5 first two lines refer to recruits, last two lines to inner *Marut*-s. Verses 7,9, 10 refer to recruits; verses 6, 8, 11–15 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

 $<sup>^{-46}</sup>$   $\acute{s}usma$ 

# RigVeda 1.167

sahásram ta indrotáyo nah sahásramíso harivo gūrtátamāḥ | sahásram rấyo mādayádhyai sahasríṇa úpa no yantu vấjāḥ || 1|| ấ nó'vobhirmarúto yāntváchā jyésthebhirvā bṛháddivaiḥ sumāyấḥ | ádha yádeṣāṃ niyútaḥ paramấḥ samudrásya ciddhanáyanta pāré || 2||

mimyákṣa yéṣu súdhitā ghṛtắcī híraṇyanirṇigúparā ná ṛṣṭíḥ | gúhā cárantī mánuṣo ná yóṣā sabhấvatī vidathyèva sáṃ vấk || 3||

párā śubhrā ayāso yavyā sādhāraṇyéva marúto mimikṣuḥ | ná rodasī ápa nudanta ghorā juṣánta vṛdhaṃ sakhyāya devāḥ || 4 ||

jóṣadyádīmasuryà sacádhyai víṣitastukā rodasí nṛmáṇāḥ | á sūryéva vidható ráthaṃ gāttveṣápratīkā nábhaso nétyá || 5||

ásthāpayanta yuvatíṃ yúvānaḥ śubhé nímiślāṃ vidátheṣu pajrấm | arkó yádvo maruto havíṣmān gấyadgātháṃ sutásomo duvasyán ||6||

- [May] thousand of your benefits [be] for us,
   [may there be] a thousand full of the pale yellow
   welcomed [by thee] libations,
   a thousand treasures to make [us] exult;
   may rushes of vigour leading to a thousand different
   things reach us!
- 2. May Marut-s come here to us with [their] favours or, being very artful, together with the best ones of the vast Heaven so much the more

when the most distant internal sources of them cause [them] to dart to the opposite side of the sea.

 In whom she was present, well contrived, smeared with ghee having golden garment, situated below like a spear moving around in secret

like a maiden [walking away] from a man [yet] fit for congregation like fit for a learning session utterance [holding ideas] together.

- 4. Agile, replenishing, with her, extreme, who is [like] a channel, Marut-s mingled like with occupying a middle position one. Not Rodasi — they, terrifying, shall remove themselves so that deva-s would frequent the augment for the sake of the association.
- 5. If now  $asury\bar{a}^{47}$  shall be pleased to accompany [she,]  $Rodas\tilde{i}$ , [her] hair disheveled, [her] mind set on men<sup>48</sup> like  $Sury\bar{a}$  she shall approach a chariot of him who honors [her], looking vehement as a coming [storm] cloud.
- 6. Young men made the young woman to stand by to enhance [her] resilient, intertwined into teaching sessions. When hymn of illumination to ye, O Marut-s, is accompanied by an oblation he, who pressed Soma, rousing [her], shall sing a stanza.

<sup>48</sup>inner Marut-s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>energy to be made a spiritual guide

prá tám vivakmi vákmyo yá eṣām marútām mahimā satyó ásti | sácā yádīm vṛṣamaṇā ahaṃyú sthirā cijjánīrváhate subhāgāḥ || 7||

pánti mitráváruṇāvavadyác cáyata īmaryamó ápraśastān | utá cyavante ácyutā dhruváṇi vāvṛdhá īṃ maruto dắtivāraḥ || 8||

nahí nú vo maruto ántyasmé ārāttāccichávaso ántamāpúh | té dhṛṣṇúnā śávasā śūśuvāṃsó'rṇo ná dvéṣo dhṛṣatā pári ṣṭhuḥ || 9||

vayámadyéndrasya présthā vayám svó vocemahi samaryé | vayám purấ máhi ca no ánu dyűn tánna ṛbhukṣấ narấmánu ṣyāt || 10||

eṣá va stómo maruta iyáṃ gấr māndāryásya mānyásya kāróḥ | éṣấ yāsīṣṭa tanvè vayấṃ vidyấmeṣáṃ vṛjánaṃ jīrádānum || 11||

- 7. I explicate that which is instrumental in making utterances: the power of these *Marut*-s to increase in size is real. When at hand, making mind a bull, seeking ego, steady indeed, she conveys wealthy wives.
- 8. They protect from the unspeakable —

  Mitra, Varuṇa, [Aryaman];
  but Aryaman detests those without a merit.

  Even unshaken, stable [personal constructs] become unhinged;
  he, for whom giving is a choice, has grown, O Marut-s!
- 9. Surely not during your, O Marut-s, presence among us at some distance [from you] they have reached the limit of power to change. They, swelling the hostility as if it was a flood, with the strength to dare should have defiantly stood around.
- 10. Today we are *Indra*'s dearest, tomorrow we might be speaking in a tumult of a battle; we [were] in the past [*Indra*'s dearest], and day after day [something] great [is there] for us; Would for our sake *Rbhukṣan* of men be near along with that!
- 11. This chant is for you, O Marut-s, this song is of a venerable singer capable to please. Through a libation let it become a mental vigour for him! May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s. "They" and "we", "us" in verses 9 and 10 refer to recruits and warriors.

### RigVeda 1.168

yajñáyajñā vaḥ samaná tuturváṇir dhíyaṃdhiyaṃ vo devayá u dadhidhve | á vo'rvácaḥ suvitáya ródasyor mahé vavṛtyāmávase suvṛktíbhiḥ || 1||

vavráso ná yé svajáh svátavasa íṣaṃ svàrabhijáyanta dhűtayah | sahasríyāso apáṃ nórmáya āsá gávo vándyāso nókṣáṇah || 2||

sómāso ná yé sutástṛptắṃśavo hṛtsú pītáso duváso násate | áiṣāmáṃseṣu rambhíṇīva rārabhe hásteṣu khādíśca kṛtíśca sáṃ dadhe || 3||

áva sváyuktā divá ấ vṛthā yayur ámartyāḥ káśayā codata tmánā | areṇávastuvijātấ acucyavur dṛḍḥāni cinmarúto bhrājadṛṣṭayaḥ || 4||

kó vo'ntármaruta ṛṣṭividyuto réjati tmánā hánveva jihváyā | dhanvacyúta iṣấṃ ná yấmani purupráṣā ahanyò náitaśaḥ || 5||

kvà svidasyá rájaso maháspáram kvávaram maruto yásminnāyayá | yáccyāváyatha vithuréva sámhitam vyádrinā patatha tvesámarnavám || 6|| 1. Pair of sacrifices after pair of sacrifices to you

[performed] in the same way — seeking ways to overcome; you have directed attention

upon leading to deva-s vision of you after vision.

I might employ ye coming here for an easy passage between the two *Rodas*-es

for the mighty one to assist with well-twisted [visions<sup>49</sup>].

2. As those hiding, which self-manifested self-strong ones shall become manifest for a draught of *svàr*, [those are] agitating, numbering in thousands

like the waves of the waters,

to be saluted reverentially immediately as oxen or cows.

3. Like Soma [juices], which, extracted, [are] satiating the stalk<sup>50</sup>, imbibed in the hearts, rousing, they<sup>51</sup> do not rest.

Over their shoulders, [Pṛśni] grasped strongly

like having hooks  $[net^{52}]$ ;

a studded leather strap [is] on [their] hands, and a dagger fits in.

4. Self-yoked, they came down wantonly from the Heaven. O immortals, with a whip do incite [these ones]! They, *Marut*-s having gleaming spears, non-dusty<sup>53</sup>, born in multitude, caused even strongholds to shake.

5. O Marut-s whose spears are like lightning bolts, who amongst you makes [what was firm] to shake just as if with jaw [and] a tongue <sup>54</sup>?

Stirring the desert as if during series of refreshing draughts, [you are] inciting many

like the flickering one<sup>55</sup> [does] every day.

6. Where [is], do you think, the high of this great region where [is] the low, O *Marut*-s, in which you have arrived? When ye cause to shake what was put [well-fitting] together as if [it was put together] precariously ye dash through causing fear restless [sea] like a stone.

 $<sup>^{49}\,</sup>dhiyáh$ 

 $<sup>^{50}</sup>$  = the spine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>inner *Marut*-s

 $<sup>^{52}</sup>$   $nidh\bar{a}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>=non-material

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>"with jaw and a tongue" = "with speech"

 $<sup>^{55}</sup> Agni$ 

sātírná vó'mavatī svàrvatī tveṣấ vípākā marutaḥ pípiṣvatī | bhadrấ vo rātíḥ pṛṇató ná dákṣiṇā pṛthujráyī asuryèva jáñjatī || 7||

práti stobhanti síndhavah pavíbhyo yádabhríyām vácamudīráyanti | áva smayanta vidyútah pṛthivyām yádī ghṛtám marútah pruṣṇuvánti || 8||

ásūta pṛśnirmahaté ráṇāya tveṣámayā́sāṃ marútāmánīkam | té sapsarā́so'janayantā́bhvam ādítsvadhā́miṣirā́m páryapaśyan || 9||

eṣá va stómo maruta iyáṃ gấr māndāryásya mānyásya kāróḥ | éṣấ yāsīṣṭa tanvè vayấṃ vidyấmeṣáṃ vṛjánaṃ jīrádānum || 10||

#### 7. Like acquisition of you —

forceful, possessing of svar, [yet] vehement, your gift is transforming, O Mar'ut-s, overfull, auspicious like a present to an officiating priest given by him who grants abundantly —

given by him who grants abundantly – like spreading widely  $asury\bar{a}^{56}$ , glittering.

- 8. The rivers clank on par with arrows when they<sup>57</sup> cause coming from the clouds sound to arise; lightning bolts shall flash down onto the Earth if *Marut*-s sprinkle ghee.
- 9. Pṛśni begot [them] for an extensive battle; an appearance of agile Marut-s is causing fear; they, accompanied by delight, caused an immense [energy] to manifest [itself], just then they beheld [its] vigorous inherent disposition.
- 10. This chant is for you, O Marut-s, this song is of a venerable singer capable to please. Through a libation let it become a mental vigour for him! May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s but for 3cd, 9d that mention recruits as "they". The imagery of verse 4–9 is metaphorical of experiencing formation of stunning plans from vague but daring idea midst painful memories.

<sup>57</sup>rivers

 $<sup>^{56}</sup>$ energy to be made a spiritual guide

### RigVeda 1.169

maháścittvámindra yatá etűn maháścidasi tyájaso varūtấ | sá no vedho marútāṃ cikitvấnsumnấ vanuṣva táva hí préṣṭhā || 1||

áyujranta indra viśvákṛṣṭīr vidānāso niṣṣídho martyatrā | marútāṃ pṛtsutírhā́samānā svàrmīḍhasya pradhánasya sātáu || 2||

ámyaksá ta indra rstírasmé sánemyábhvam marúto junanti | agnísciddhí smātasé susukván ápo ná dvīpám dádhati práyāmsi || 3||

tváṃ tắ na indra táṃ rayíṃ dā ójiṣṭhayā dákṣiṇayeva rātím | stútaśca yấste cakánanta vāyó stánaṃ ná mádhvaḥ pīpayanta vấjaiḥ || 4||

tvé rấya indra tośátamāḥ praṇetấraḥ kásya cidṛtāyóḥ | té ṣú ṇo marúto mṛḍayantu yé smā purấ gātūyántīva devấḥ || 5||

práti prá yāhīndra mīḍhúṣo nṛ́n maháḥ pārthive sádane yatasva | ádha yádeṣāṃ pṛthubudhnāsa étās tīrthé nāryáḥ paúṃsyāni tasthúḥ || 6||

práti ghoráṇāmétānāmayásāṃ marútām śṛṇva āyatāmupabdíḥ | yé mártyaṃ pṛtanāyántamúmair ṛṇāvấnaṃ ná patáyanta sárgaiḥ || 7||

tvám mánebhya indra viśvájanyā rádā marúdbhiḥ śurúdho gó agrāḥ | stávānebhi stavase deva deváir vidyámeṣám vṛjánam jīrádānum || 8||

- Thou, O Indra, against even a great [alienation]
   coming to these here,
   against even a great alienation thou are a protector.
   [Being] such, O enthusiastic one, thou are noticing our Marut-s;
   procure [their] favours since they<sup>58</sup> are dear to thee!
- 2. They, finding fearlessness among mortals, conferred upon thee, O *Indra*, every race of men. *Marut*-s' incitement to fight is racing forth to gain the prize of which result is *svàr*.
- 3. Such spear<sup>59</sup> is present in us for thee, O *Indra*; at all times *Marut*-s inspire something immense—just like fire blazing in brushwood, like waters [effect] an island, they effect delights.
- 4. O Indra, thou shall give us this treasure like a gift [given] by a ferocious prolific cow; and, O eulogized one, [stanzas], which seek to be liked by thee and by  $V\bar{a}yu$ ,

which seek to be liked by thee and by  $V\bar{a}yu$ , shall swell with rushes of vigour like udder [becomes full] of honey.

- In thee, O *Indra*, are the most satisfying rewards —
  harbingers of whoever is seeking *rta*.

  May they, *Marut*-s, treat us kindly —
  deva-s who up till now provided an unimpeded path.
- 6. Set out towards liberal men, O Indra, quickly marshal thyself to an earthly seat now when having extensive base antelopes of these stay like manly deeds of him who raises it up at a passage.
- 7. Audible is the rattling of terrifying antelopes [and] of agile coming near *Marut*-s who with helpers shall speed going into battle mortal as an indebted [man is] by swarms [of incitements to repay].
- 8. Thou, O *Indra*, with her<sup>60</sup> who is good for everybody, with *Marut*-s,

dispense to sons of Mana proliferating preceded by words riches! By extolled deva-s, O deva, thou are extolled. May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure!

<sup>59</sup>"incitement to fight" *pṛtsuti* of verse 2

<sup>60</sup>prob. Aditi

<sup>58</sup> favours

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s.

### RigVeda 1.171

práti va enấ námasāhámemi sūkténa bhikṣe sumatíṃ turấṇām | rarāṇátā maruto vedyấbhir ní hédo dhattá ví mucadhvamáśvān || 1||

eṣá va stómo maruto námasvān hṛdấ taṣṭó mánasā dhāyi devāḥ | úpemấ yāta mánasā juṣāṇấ yūyáṃ hí ṣṭhấ námasa ídvṛdhấsaḥ || 2||

stutáso no marúto mṛḍayantūtá stutó maghávā śámbhaviṣṭhaḥ | ūrdhvá naḥ santu komyá vánānyáhāni víśvā maruto jigīṣá || 3||

asmādaháṃ taviṣādīṣamāṇa índrādbhiyā maruto réjamānaḥ | yuṣmábhyaṃ havyā níśitānyāsan tānyāré cakṛmā mṛḍátā naḥ || 4||

yéna mấnāsaścitáyanta usrấ
vyùṣṭiṣu śávasā śáśvatīnām |
sá no marúdbhirvṛṣabha śrávo dhā
ugrá ugrébhi stháviraḥ sahodấḥ || 5||

tváṃ pāhīndra sáhīyaso nṛ́n bhávā marúdbhirávayātaheḍāḥ | supraketébhiḥ sāsahírdádhāno vidyāmeṣáṃ vṛjánaṃ jīrádānum || 6||  I approach ye in this manner — with reverence, with well-recited [chant<sup>61</sup>]

> I wish to partake in effective mental gesture of those who press forward.

Be pleased with knowledge, O *Marut-s*, keep inside the anger, unharness your horses.

- 2. This, a chant for you, O *Marut-s*, [is] full of veneration; fashioned with the heart, it was conceived in mind, O *deva-s!* Visiting often by means of the mind, come really close since you are strengthening from just a veneration [of you].
- Eulogized, may Marut-s be gracious to us, and, eulogized, [may] the munificent one [be] the best at granting well-being!
   May our budding desires be elevated, [and may] all days, O Marut-s, [be elevated] by the desire to win.

4. I [am] escaping from this one, from the controlling one, trembling with the fear of *Indra*, O *Marut-s!*For ye oblations were prepared —

we made them far from [here] — be gracious to us!

- 5. With what the sons of Mana make themselves attentive to morning lights during day-breaks with the power to change of ever-recurring [dawns], [being] such, together with Marut-s, O resembling bull, thou shall give us an auditory impression [thou,] a violent together with violent ones, an enduring one, giving overwhelming strength one.
- 6. Do thou protect, O *Indra*, men from the overbearing one!
  By means of *Marut*-s become the one whose anger is appeased!
  By means of conspicuous ones [thou are] receptive
  [and] have means to bestow victory.

May we find possessing sap and strength, quick to bestow [sacrificial] enclosure!

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s.

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{61}}stoma$ 

# RigVeda 1.172

citró vo'stu yấmaścitrá ūtí sudānavaḥ |
máruto áhibhānavaḥ || 1||
āré sấ vaḥ sudānavo máruta ṛñjatí śáruḥ |
āré áśmā yámásyatha || 2||
tṛṇaskandásya nú víśaḥ pári vṛṅkta sudānavaḥ |
ūrdhvấnnaḥ karta jīváse || 3||

- May your course be varying, varying with your means of helping, O generous *Marut-s*! [Ye are] of snake[-like] appearance.
- 2. Far she [is], O generous *Marut*-s, your straight-aiming missile, far the rock which you hurl.
- 3. Shun the tribes of *Tṛṇaskanda*,O generous ones!Make us elevated in order to live.

This hymn refers, most likely, to recruits.

### RigVeda 2.34

dhārāvarā marúto dhṛṣṇvòjaso mṛgā ná bhīmāstáviṣībhirarcínaḥ | agnáyo ná śuśucānā ṛjīṣíṇo bhŕmim dhámanto ápa gā avrnvata || 1||

dyávo ná stŕbhiścitayanta khādíno vyàbhríyā ná dyutayanta vṛṣṭáyaḥ | rudró yádvo maruto rukmavakṣaso vṛṣājani pṛśnyāḥ śukrá ū́dhani || 2||

ukṣánte áśvāṃ̃ átyāṃ̃ ivājíṣu nadásya kárṇaisturayanta āśúbhiḥ | híraṇyaśiprā maruto dávidhvataḥ pṛkṣáṃ yātha pṛṣatībhiḥ samanyavaḥ || 3||

pṛkṣé tấ víśvā bhúvanā vavakṣire mitrấya vā sádamấ jīrádānavah | pṛṣadaśvāso anavabhrárādhasa rjipyấso ná vayúneṣu dhūrṣádah || 4||

índhanvabhirdhenúbhī rapśádūdhabhir adhvasmábhiḥ pathíbhirbhrājadṛṣṭayaḥ | á haṃsáso ná svásarāṇi gantana mádhormádāya marutaḥ samanyavaḥ || 5||

á no bráhmāṇi marutaḥ samanyavo narāṃ ná śáṃsaḥ sávanāni gantana | áśvāmiva pipyata dhenúmúdhani kártā dhíyaṃ jaritré vájapeśasam || 6||

tám no dāta maruto vājínam rátha āpānám bráhma citáyaddivédive | íṣam stotŕbhyo vrjáneṣu kāráve saním medhấmáriṣṭam duṣṭáraṃ sáhah || 7|| 1. Marut-s whose vigour is defying, enveloping streams, are intimidating like wild beasts, shining with powers to control. Like blazing fires have a residue, they, kindling a restless [youth], uncovered the cows <sup>62</sup>.

2. They, in studded leather plates, attract attention like starry heavens:

they flashed forth like coming from clouds arcs of rainbow when bull *Rudra* was born in the resplendent udder of *Pṛśni* for you, O having shining [plates] on [your] breasts *Marut*-s!

 They sprinkle horses like coursers [are] during races with reed's "ears";

they make themselves press forward with the speeding [horses]. Having golden lips, O *Marut*-s, agitating again and again, you, O impassioned ones, journey by means of dappled mares to satiation.

4. To satiate, they, [the dappled mares,]

nourish all these facets of life;

quick to bestow, [come] here at any time to be [our] patrons! Having dappled horses, [they who] give satisfaction that does not fade,

they who are guiding chariots [are] as if made to go straight midst enticements.

- 5. With inflaming, yielding milk, having full udder ones<sup>63</sup>, come, having gleaming spears, here by unveiled ways like bar-headed geese to [their] nests for the exhibitantion of the honey, O impassioned *Marut-s*!
- 6. Come to our sacred formulations, pressings [of Soma], O impassioned Marut-s, like men's blessing! Cause the milch-cow to swell like a mare — in the udder, effect for an invoker a visualization adorned with the rush of vigour.
- 7. Him you shall give to us, O Marut-s,

who possesses the rush of vigour, [who is] on the chariot, [and] the sacred formulation that achieves its purpose, that day-after-day is making [us] to attend;

[give] a libation to singers of hymns in sacrificial enclosures, [and] to [this] singer [of eulogies],

[give] a reward — the strength of resolve, [and] secure, difficult to overcome, overwhelming strength.

\_\_\_\_\_\_

 $<sup>^{62}</sup>$ =contemplation-defining, the matic words  $^{63}$ =contemplation-defining, the matic words

yádyuñjáte marúto rukmávakṣasó'śvān rátheṣu bhága ấ sudấnavaḥ | dhenúrná śíśve svásareṣu pinvate jánāya rātáhaviṣe mahīmíṣam || 8||

yó no maruto vṛkátāti mártyo ripúrdadhé vasavo rákṣatā riṣáḥ | vartáyata tápuṣā cakríyābhí tám áva rudrā aśáso hantanā vádhaḥ || 9||

citrám tádvo maruto yấma cekite přísnyā yádűdharápyāpáyo duhúh | yádvā nidé návamānasya rudriyās tritám járāya juratấmadābhyāh || 10||

tánvo mahó marúta evayávno vísnoresásya prabhrthé havāmahe | híranyavarnānkakuhányatásruco brahmanyántaḥ śáṃsyam rádha īmahe || 11||

té dáśagvāḥ prathamā yajñámūhire té no hinvantūṣáso vyùṣṭiṣu | uṣā ná rāmī́raruṇáıráporṇute mahó jyótiṣā śucatā gó arṇasā || 12|| 8. When lucky<sup>64</sup> Marut-s, having shining [plates] on [their] breasts, yoke horses to chariots, they, generous,

for a person who willingly presents offerings,

[cause to swell] a potent libation

like a milch-cow in stalls causes to swell [her udder] for a calf.

- 9. Which mortal deceiver has put us in the presence of that which tears.
  - O beneficent ones, cause the burning wheel<sup>65</sup> to turn against him,

guards [us] against [that] injury,

fend off, O *Rudra*-s, the destructive weapon of him who does not recite!

10. In many ways that procession of yours, O *Marut-s*, keeps piling up:

when friends milked the udder of *Prsni*,

or when [it happens] to censure him who praises himself,

O agreeable to Rudra ones,

[or when it happens] to wear out the third one<sup>66</sup> of those who are getting old, O free from deceit ones!

11. We call upon such you, mighty quickly moving *Marut*-s, while bringing forward hastening *Viṣṇu* — we, raising sacrificial ladle, uttering sacred formula, approach [you,] golden-in-appearance, prominent,

[as] to-be-repeated accomplishment of [our] wishes.

12. They, the foremost daśagva-s<sup>67</sup>, conducted a sacrifice — may they impel us at first lights of dawn,

like the dawn — quickly, with a glowing light,

with a flood of  $cows^{68}$  —

[that] hides spots of darkness<sup>69</sup>

by means of giving a chance to move upwards ones $^{70}$ .

 $<sup>^{64}</sup>$ lit. "in luck"

 $<sup>^{65}</sup>$ the  $manip\bar{u}ra$  cakra

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>the *viśuddha* cakra

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> daśagva is, probably, "a commander of ten men"; an analogue in Roman army was called decanus.

 $<sup>^{68}</sup>$ inspiring words

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>"spots of darkness"= "dark, depressing gaps in the night dreams"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> prospects, expectations, plans, anticipations of the coming day

té kṣoṇībhiraruṇébhirnāñjîbhī rudrā ṛtásya sádaneṣu vāvṛdhuḥ | niméghamānā átyena pājasā suścandráṃ várṇaṃ dadhire supéśasam || 13||

tấṃ iyānó máhi várūthamūtáya úpa ghédenấ námasā gṛṇīmasi | tritó ná yấnpáñca hótṛnabhíṣṭaya āvavártadávarāñcakríyấvase || 14||

yáyā radhráṃ pāráyathátyáṃho yáyā nidó muñcátha vanditắram | arvácī sá maruto yá va ūtír ó sú vāśréva sumatírjigātu || 15||

- 13. They, *Rudra*-s, have augmented themselves in seats of *rta* with shouts, with as-if-rising-upwards body-paints. Ejaculating internally together with Soma<sup>71</sup>, through firmness, they assumed shimmering intricate appearance.
- 14. [He who is] asking these for an extensive shelter as a favor (we certainly approach [them] in such case with praises, with reverence)

[shall be] like *Trita* approaching five envokers for assistance, so that by means of [that] wheel he would turn

less important ones to furtherance [of important ones].

15. With what you rescue a willing one from anxiety, with what you free from imposed constraint the praiser, that is coming here, O *Marut*-s, which is a help to you! May [such] effective mental gesture come easily like a cow!

Verses 2ab, 3ab, 4cd, 8 refer to recruits as "they", verses 1, 2cd, 3cd, 5–7, 9–11, 15 refer to inner *Marut*-s as "you" while 13, 14 refer to them as "they".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>lit. "courser"

#### RigVeda 3.26.4–6

prá yantu vájāstávisībhiragnáyaḥ śubhé sámmiślāḥ pṛṣatīrayukṣata | bṛhadúkṣo marúto viśvávedasaḥ prá vepayanti párvatāṃ ádābhyāḥ || 4||

agniśríyo marúto viśvákṛṣṭaya ấ tveṣámugrámáva īmahe vayám | té svāníno rudríyā varṣánirṇijaḥ simhấ ná hesákratavah sudấnavah || 5||

vrátamvrātam gaņámgaņam sušastíbhir agnérbhámam marútāmója īmahe | pṛṣadaśvāso anavabhrárādhaso gántāro yajñám vidáthesu dhírāh || 6||

4. May fiery rushes of vigour together with powers to control [them] come forth!

Commingled to enhance, they employ dappled mares. Sprinkling abundantly *Marut*-s, known to everyone, free from deceit, shake the knotty ones.

- We, of every race of men, approach
   having auspiciousness of fire Marut-s
   with request for vehement energetic assistance.
   They [are] noisy, agreeable to Rudra, having rain for a garment,
   like lions acting effectively and fast, generous.
- 6. Swarm after swarm, troop after troop,
  with good hymns of praise
  we approach Maratts vigour to [reach] the wrath of f

we approach *Marut*-s vigour to [reach] the wrath of fire.

Having dappled horses, they,

who give satisfaction that does not fade,

possessing schemas for contemplation during teaching sessions, [are] arriving at the sacrifice.

These verses refer to inner *Marut*-s.

# RigVeda 3.54.13

vidyúdrathā marúta ṛṣṭimánto divó máryā ṛtájātā ayấsaḥ | sárasvatī śṛṇavanyajñíyāso dhấtā rayíṃ sahávīraṃ turāsaḥ || 13||

13. [Since] having lightning for a chariot, having spears, agile, born of rta recruits from Heaven — Marut-s — [and] Sarasvatī would listen, may they, worthy of a sacrifice, bestow the treasure coming with the valiant one, O pressing forward ones!

This verse refers to inner *Marut-s*.

#### RigVeda 5.29

tryàryamá mánuṣo devátātā trī rocaná divyá dhārayanta | árcanti tvā marútaḥ pūtádakṣās tvámeṣāmṛṣirindrāsi dhīraḥ || 1 ||

ánu yádīṃ marúto mandasānám árcanníndraṃ papiváṃsaṃ sutásya | ádatta vájramabhí yádáhiṃ hánnapó yahvírasṛjatsártavá u || 2||

utá brahmāṇo maruto me asyéndraḥ sómasya súṣutasya peyāḥ | táddhí havyáṃ mánuṣe gấ ávindad áhannáhiṃ papivấṃ índro asya || 3||

ádródasī vitarám ví skabhāyat samvivyānáścidbhiyáse mrgám kaḥ | jígartimíndro apajárgurāṇaḥ práti śvasántamáva dānavám han || 4||

ádha krátvā maghavantúbhyam devá ánu víšve adaduh somapéyam | yátsúryasya harítah pátantīh puráh satírúparā étaśe káh || 5||

náva yádasya navatím ca bhogắn sākám vájreṇa maghávā vivṛścát | árcantíndraṃ marútaḥ sadhásthe tráiṣṭubhena vácasā bādhata dyấm || 6||

sákhā sákhye apacattűyamagnír asyá krátvā mahisá trí śatáni | trí sākámíndro mánusah sárāmsi sutám pibadvrtrahátyāya sómam || 7||

- Three [things] Aryaman [maintains]
   throughout man's service to deva-s,
   three celestial luminous spheres they maintain.
   Having refined mental power Marut-s praise thee,
   having mental schemas for an effective contemplation,
   thou are their seer. O Indra!
- 2. After that *Marut*-s praised exhilarated *Indra* who has drank extracted [*Soma*]; he reclaimed thunderbolt. When he hit the snake<sup>72</sup>, he released restless waters to flow.
- 3. And may *Indra*, O *Marut*-s-formulators, drink of well-pressed Soma for my sake! This oblation found cows for a human, *Indra* drinking it slayed the snake.
- 4. Afterwards, he propped the two *Rodas*-es farther off, [and,] even clothed to scare the beast, taunting the swallower, [being] in opposition to the hissing one, *Indra* fended off the demon <sup>73</sup>.
- 5. Then through understanding, O munificent one, all deva-s yielded to you a drink of Soma when in the course of flickering you made directly present flying bay mares<sup>74</sup> of the sun secondary.
- 6. When with the thunderbolt the munificent one shall cut simultaneously nine and ninety coils of this one into pieces, *Marut*-s [would] praise *Indra* in the meeting place.

  Do ye vex the Heaven with an utterance in *tristubh* meter!
- A companion for a companion, Agni with the skill of this one quickly roasted three hundred buffaloes.
   To slay Vṛṭra, Indra shall drink extracted Soma three channels of a man at the same time.

 $^{73} \dot{d\bar{a}} nava$ 

 $<sup>^{72}\,</sup>Vrtr\acute{a}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>=rays

trí yáchatá mahisáṇāmágho más trí sárāṃsi maghávā somyápāḥ | kāráṃ ná víśve ahvanta devá bháramíndrāya yádáhiṃ jaghána || 8||

uśánā yátsahasyàiráyātaṃ gṛhámindra jūjuvānébhiráśvaiḥ | vanvānó átra saráthaṃ yayātha kútsena deváirávanorha śúṣṇam || 9||

prányáccakrámavrhah sűryasya kútsāyānyádvárivo yátave'kah | anáso dásyūṃramṛṇo vadhéna ní duryoṇá āvṛṇanmṛdhrávācah || 10||

stómāsastvā gaúrivīteravardhannárandhayo vaidathináya píprum | á tvámṛjíśvā sakhyáya cakre pácanpaktírápibaḥ sómamasya || 11||

návagvāsaḥ sutásomāsa índraṃ dáśagvāso abhyàrcantyarkáiḥ | gávyaṃ cidūrvámapidhấnavantaṃ táṃ cinnáraḥ śaśamānấ ápa vran || 12||

kathó nú te pári carāṇi vidvấn vīryà maghavanyá cakártha | yá co nú návyā kṛṇávaḥ śaviṣṭha prédu tấ te vidátheṣu bravāma || 13||

etá vísvā cakṛváṃ indra bhúryáparīto janúṣā vīryèṇa | yá cinnú vajrinkṛṇávo dadhṛṣvánná te vartá táviṣyā asti tásyāḥ || 14||

índra bráhma kriyámāṇā juṣasva yấ te śaviṣṭha návyā ákarma | vástreva bhadrá súkṛtā vasūyú rátham ná dhírah svápā ataksam || 15|| 8. When thou devoured three hundred buffaloes in a month, [and when] thou, the munificent one, drank up three containing Soma channels, all deva-s called up a battle, as if [it was] a song, for Indra's sake so that he would slay the snake.

9. When you two,  $U\acute{s}anas$  with overwhelming ones [and thou], O Indra,

came to the house by means of speeding horses, procuring thus for thyself a warrior on a chariot, thou traveled with *Kutsa*;

with deva-s thou became master of  $\acute{S}usna$ .

- 10. Thou teared off the other wheel of the sun; for *Kutsa* thou created another mental space to move [in]. Thou killed faceless *dasyu*-s with a deadly weapon, thou put into a bind those whose speech is insulting.
- 11. Chants of *Gaurivīti* strengthened thee, thou made *Pipru* to submit to *Vaidathina*, *Rjiśvan* made thee ready for companionship. Ripening what is being cooked thou drank Soma of this one.
- 12. Navagva-s who pressed Soma, Daśagva-s praise Indra with hymns of illumination. Exerting themselves men discovered just that—related to cows, wide, providing shelter [place].
- 13. How shall I, knowing thee, encompass heroic [deeds] that thou performed [before], O munificent one, and those recent [ones] that you performed, O most swollen? During teaching sessions we will proclaim those of thee.
- 14. Performing all these repeatedly, O *Indra*,

through valour unencompassed

by circumstances of manifestation,

[and because of these] which thou, O wielding a thunderbolt, daring, performed,

there is no one who [can] remove this controlling power.

15. O *Indra*, enjoy this sacred formulation,

[this] being made [pressings<sup>75</sup> of Soma] which we, novices, made for thee, O most swollen one! Like lovely well-made garments,

like an intelligent artificer — a chariot,

I, seeking what's beneficial, formed in mind [this formulation].

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{75}}s$ á $vanar{a}ni$ 

Verses 2, 3, 12, 15 refer recruits, verses 1, 6 to inner Marut-s.

# RigVeda 5.52

```
prá syāvāsva dhṛṣṇuyārcā marúdbhirṛkvabhiḥ
yé adroghámanuṣvadháṃ śrávo mádanti yajñíyāḥ || 1||
té hí sthirásya śávasah sákhāyah sánti dhrsnuyā
té yāmannā dhṛṣadvínastmánā pānti śáśvataḥ || 2||
té syandráso nóksánó'ti skandanti sárvarīh
marútāmádhā máho diví ksamā ca manmahe || 3||
marútsu vo dadhīmahi stómam yajñám ca dhrsnuyā
víśve yé mānuṣā yugā pānti mártyaṃ riṣáḥ || 4||
árhanto yé sudánavo náro ásāmiśavasah
prá yajňám yajňíyebhyo divó arcā marúdbhyah | 5|
á rukmáirá yudhá nára rsvá rstírasrksata
ánvenām áha vidyúto marúto jájjhatīriva
bh\bar{a}n\acute{u}rartatm\acute{a}n\bar{a}div\acute{a}h \parallel 6 \parallel
yé vāvrdhánta pấrthivā yá urấvantárikṣa ấ
vrjáne vā nadīnām sadhásthe vā mahó diváh | 7|
śárdho mấrutamúchamsa satyáśavasamýbhvasam
utá sma té subhé nárah prá syandrá yujata tmánā | 8|
```

- 1. Sing forth daringly, O  $\acute{S}yav\bar{a}\acute{s}va$ , together with reciting verses Marut-s who, worthy of sacrifice, delight, according to their nature, in a loud praise that is without falsehood.
- Since they are daringly —
  companions of non-wavering impulse to change,
  they really protect on the journey many
  who are possessing of courage.
- 3. Like streaming oxen<sup>76</sup> they jump over night's boundaries<sup>77</sup> therefore we agree with the might of *Marut*-s in things mental and bodily<sup>78</sup>.
- Among Marut-s we can establish your<sup>79</sup> praise and sacrifice — daringly — [among Marut-s] who all [protect] generations of men, protect a mortal from injury.
- 5. Which are deserving, generous men of unhalved power to change do thou commend [their, recruits'] sacrifice to [them] [who are] worthy of sacrifice to *Marut*-s from the Heaven.
- 6. Here with shining [breast-plates], here with a warrior, the men<sup>80</sup>, helping in dire straights, cast spears. Certainly agreeable to these [are] lightnings [that are] as if highlighting Marut-s; a representation shall arise on its own from the Heaven.
- 7. Which ones shall grow earthen which ones in the wide one, in the intermediate space, or in the enclosure of flowing waters or in the meeting place of the mighty Heaven —
- 8. announce having Marut-s' trait flock and they, in order to enhance him whose power to change is real, who is prudent, [they,] the streaming men shall fit with each other.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>=drops of Soma

 $<sup>^{77}{\</sup>rm that}$  is appear as vivid dreams that are difficult to distinguish from reality  $^{78}{\rm lit.}$  "in the Heaven and on Earth"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>recruits'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>recruits

utá sma té párusnyāmūrnā vasata śundhyávah utá pavyá ráthānāmádrim bhindantyójasā | 9| ápathayo vípathayó'ntaspathā ánupathāh etébhirmáhyam námabhiryajñám vistará ohate | 10 | ádhā náro nyòhaté'dhā niyúta ohate ádhā pārāvatā íti citrā rūpāni dársyā || 11 || chandastúbhah kubhanyáva útsamá kīríno nrtuh té me ké cinná tāyáva tīmā āsandrsí tvisé || 12|| yá rsvá rstívidyutah kaváyah sánti vedhásah támrse márutam ganám namasyá ramáyā girá || 13|| ácha rșe mấrutam ganám dānấ mitrám ná yoṣáṇā divó vā dhṛṣṇava ójasā stutā dhībhíriṣaṇyata || 14|| nú manvāná esām devām̃ áchā ná vaksánā |  $d\bar{a}n\dot{a}$  saceta sūríbhiry $\dot{a}$ ma $\dot{s}$ rutebhira $\ddot{n}$ j $\dot{b}$ bhih || 15|| prá yé me bandhvesé gấm vócanta sūráyah pŕśnim vocanta mātáram | ádhā pitáramismínam rudrám vocanta šíkvasah | 16 | saptá me saptá śākína ékamekā śatá daduh yamúnāyāmádhi śrutámúdrādho gávyam mrje

ní rádho ásvyam mrje || 17||

- And they<sup>81</sup>, in [the river] Paruṣṇō, seeking to become purified, shall clothe in wool; they also vigorously cleave the stone<sup>82</sup> with the tip of chariots<sup>83</sup>.
- 10. "Converging, diverging,
  between paths, following a path ..." —
  using these characteristics for my sake
  he who spreads [the sacrificial grass] deliberates upon a sacrifice.
- 11. Now, men<sup>84</sup> appear within, then series of verses deliberate upon [the appearances], then the distant ones [appear] thus attracting attention images are to be observed.
- 12. Chanting rhythmically incantations, the praisers, desiring water, danced towards the fountain. They to me [are] like some thieves the helpers came in sight to agitate.
- 13. As for those who help in dire straights,
  whose spears are like lightning bolts —
  the poets are enthusiastic [about them] —
  that troop having *Marut-s'* trait, O sage,
  pay homage to, please [them] by means of a chant.
- 14. May gifts [go] towards having *Marut*-s' trait troop, O sage, like a maiden [goes towards] a patron, or, from the Heaven, O daring ones, may ye, vigorously eulogized, excite by means of *dhī*-s.
- 15. He who is thinking of these [Marut-s] now [goes] towards deva-s as if [they were] nourishments. He can assist the acts of giving together with patrons whose drills are famous,

who [have anointed themselves] with body-paints.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>recruits

 $<sup>^{82}</sup>$  "cleave the stone" = "make energy move upwards through  $sahasr\bar{a}ra$  cakra"  $^{83}$  "the tip of chariots" = "the topmost part of piercing all cakras column of energy"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup>inner Marut-s

16. Who at seeking a connection mentioned to me the cow<sup>85</sup> they, the patrons of the sacrifice, called *Prśni* the mother.

Now they, empowered, call the possessing-arrows father Rudra.

17. Seven, seven powerful [meters] gave to me one-by-one a hundred [images<sup>86</sup>].

As heard over Yamunā [river] —

I polish up the bounty consisting of cows<sup>87</sup>

I rub in<sup>88</sup> the bounty consisting of horses<sup>89</sup>.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s, while recruits are mentioned as noted and one of them addresses a sage who performs the sacrifice in 1, 13, 14. In verse 1 "*Marut*-s" refers to the recruits.

 $<sup>^{85}</sup>$ thematic word

 $<sup>^{86}</sup>r\bar{u}p\bar{a}ni$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup>contemplation-defining words

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup>=internalize

 $<sup>^{89}</sup>$ =rhythms

# RigVeda 5.53

```
kó veda jánameṣām kó vā purá sumnéṣvāsa marútām
yádyuyujré kilāsyàh || 1 ||
áttánráthesu tasthúsah káh súsrāva kathá yayuh
kásmai sasruh sudáse ánvāpáya ídābhirvṛṣṭáyah sahá || 2||
té ma āhuryá āyayúrúpa dyúbhirvíbhirmáde
náro máryā arepása imānpásyanníti stuhi || 3||
yé añjísu yé vásísu svábhanavah sraksú rukmésu khadísu
\dot{s}r\bar{a}y\dot{a} \dot{r}athesu dhanvasu || 4||
yuşmākam smā ráthām ánu mudé dadhe maruto jīradānavah |
vrstí dyávo yatíriva || 5||
á yám nárah sudánavo dadāśúse diváh kóśamácucyavuh
ví parjányam srjanti ródasī ánu dhánvanā yanti vṛṣṭáyaḥ || 6||
tatrdānāh síndhavah kṣódasā rájah prá sasrurdhenávo yathā
syanná áśvā ivádhvano vimócane ví yádvártanta enyàḥ || 7||
á yāta maruto divá ántáriksādamádutá
māva sthāta parāvátaḥ || 8||
mā vo rasānitabhā kúbhā krúmurmā vah síndhurní rīramat |
mấ vah pári sthātsaráyuh purīsínyasmé ítsumnámastu vah || 9||
```

- 1. Who has found the birth place of these?
  And who before has been in *Marut-s'* graces when spotted deer united?
- 2. Who attended to these, standing on chariots ones, whence did they travel?
  For whom who gives well did they afterwards flow [as] allies, [like] rains together with libations?
- 3. They said to me, those who came daily along with the birds during intoxication, "beholding these faultless recruits [as] men, praise [them] thus".
- 4. Which ones midst body-paints, pointed knives, garlands, shining studded leather plates, are appearing directly they are the refuge midst chariots and bows<sup>90</sup>.
- 5. Like bright days follow restraints [caused] by rain, I direct [my mind] to follow your chariots to be happy, O giving quickly *Marut*-s,
- 6. Which sheath of the Heaven generous men shook for the worshiper, according to [that one] they cast rain-cloud over both *Rodas*-es; the rains move through the desert<sup>91</sup>.
- 7. When black deer turn hither and thither, piercing streams flow forth by pounding the [great<sup>92</sup>] region; [they flow forth] like milch-cows [expecting to be milked], spreading like horses when let go off the road.
- 8. Ye, O *Marut*-s, do come close from the Heaven, from the intermediate space, even from near by!

  Do not stay away at a distance!
- 9. Let not Rasā, Anitabhā, Kumbhā, Krumu, let not Sindhu cause ye to stop! Let not carrying rubbish Sarayu obstruct ye, may your benevolence be just for us!

 $^{92}\,ma\dot{h}$ 1.19.3a

 $<sup>^{90}</sup>$ "midst chariots and bows" = "in the thick of battle"

 $<sup>^{91}\</sup>mbox{"the rains"}$  here are "expressions of hormones", while "the desert" is the body in the state of deprivation

```
tám vah sárdham ráthānām tvesám ganám mấrutam návyasīnām
ánu prá yanti vrstáyah | 10|
śárdhamśardham va esām
vrátamvrātam ganámganam sušastíbhih |
ánu krāmema dhītíbhiḥ || 11||
kásmā adyá sújātāya rātáhavyāya prá yayuḥ |
enā yāmena marútah || 12||
yéna tokáya tánayāya dhānyàm bījam váhadhve áksitam
asmábhyam táddhattana yádva ímahe
rádho viśváyu saubhagam || 13||
átīyāma nidástiráh svastíbhirhitvávadyámárātīh
vṛṣṭvī śáṃ yórāpa usrí bheṣajáṃ syāma marutaḥ sahá | 14||
sudeváh samahāsati suvīro naro marutah sá mártyah |
yám trấyadhve syấma té | 15|
stuhí bhojánstuvató asya yámani ránangávo ná yávase |
yatáh pűrvām iva sákhīmránu hvaya girá grnīhi kāmínah | 16|
```

- Following this your defiant troop of chariots,
   [following] having Marut-s' trait vehement troop of fresh ones<sup>93</sup>,
   rains come forth.
- 11. We go after your every swarm of these [recruits], every troop, every band, with good hymns of praise, with visualizations.
- 12 For whom today

who is well-born, who has given an oblation,

Marut-s have journeyed in this manner along [some] course?

13. With what ye for the sake of children propagating [our] family conveyed inexhaustible seed —

when we approach you, do impart to us that —

the accomplishment of [our] desires —

all-pervading auspicious life-force.

- 14. Would we, having abandoned with [your] blessings
  - the unspeakable, [and] holding [us] back [inner conflicts<sup>94</sup>], go over [and] beyond imposed constraints!

Raining well-being [and] health

waters at dawn [are] a medicine —

would we be with [them], O Marut-s!

- 15. Somehow well-surrounded with *deva-s*, with manly ones, is that mortal, O men *Marut-s*,
  - whom ye cherish may we be such [mortals]!
- 16. Do praise benefactors of the praiser

during journey of this  $[troop^{95}]$  —

they shall rejoice as cows midst grass.

Recall those who are going as former companions, with a chant extol the impassioned ones.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s. Verses 9–11, 16 refer to recruits.

 $<sup>^{93}</sup>$ recruits

 $<sup>^{94}\,</sup>dvisas$ 

 $<sup>95 \</sup>acute{s} ardha$ 

prá sárdhāya mấrutāya svábhānava imấm vắcamanajā parvatacyúte | gharmastúbhe divá ấ pṛṣṭhayájvane dyumnáśravase máhi nṛmṇámarcata || 1||

prá vo marutastavisá udanyávo vayovŕdho aśvayújah párijrayah | sám vidyútā dádhati vásati tritáh svárantyápo'vánā párijrayah || 2||

vidyúnmahaso náro áśmadidyavo vätatviso marútah parvatacyútah | abdayá cinmúhurá hrādunīvŕta stanáyadamā rabhasá údojasah || 3||

vyàktűnrudrā vyáhāni śikvaso vyàntárikṣaṃ ví rájāṃsi dhūtayaḥ | ví yádájrāṃ ájatha nāva īṃ yathā ví durgāṇi maruto nāha riṣyatha || 4||

tádvīryàṃ vo maruto mahitvanáṃ dīrgháṃ tatāna sűryo ná yójanam | étā ná yắme ágṛbhītaśociṣó'naśvadāṃ yánnyáyātanā girím || 5|| Then, since I dedicated this utterance to appearing directly, having Marut-s' trait swarm, to [that swarm, which is] shaking knotty ones<sup>96</sup>,
 [which is] producing bursts of heat,
 [which is] from the Heaven,
 [which] can sacrifice backwards<sup>97</sup>
ye<sup>98</sup> shall praise in verses the great courage

for the sake of inspiring auditory impression.

2. Then, [because] for your, O Marut-s, sake

they<sup>99</sup>, in-control, seeking waters, full of fervor, effect [as if] with lightning

horse<sup>100</sup>-yoked increasing mental vigour [verses<sup>101</sup>] — the third resounds, the waters, full of fervor, make helpful [abodes<sup>102</sup>] to resound.

- 3. Quick as lightning men whose weapons are stones—
  turbulent like wind, shaking the knotty one *Marut*-s—
  just by suddenly giving waters [are] restraining rambling<sup>103</sup>,
  [they,] thundering, captivating, overpowering.
- 4. When through the nights, O Rudra-s, through the days,
  O empowered ones,
  through the intermediate space, through the regions,
  O agitating ones,

ye drive through the planes just like ships [through waters], [or] through narrow passages, O *Marut*-s, ye are surely not hurt.

5. This valour, O *Marut*-s, has been extending your being extensive for a long time as the sun [extends] the state of yoking

[for a day of wagon-track].

Like antelopes on a move, non-graspable like a flame [you were] when ye were passing

over non-giving-[passage]-to-horses mountain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup>physical bodies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>="for past events"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>recruits

 $<sup>^{99}</sup>$ inner  $\mathit{Marut}\text{-s}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup>rhythm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> rk-s

 $<sup>^{102}\</sup>dot{b}huvana$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup>voiced discontent

ábhrāji śárdho maruto yádarṇasáṃ móṣathā vṛkṣáṃ kapanéva vedhasaḥ | ádha smā no arámatiṃ sajoṣasaś cákṣuriva yántamánu neṣathā sugám || 6||

ná sá jīyate maruto ná hanyate ná sredhati ná vyathate ná riṣyati | nấsya rấya úpa dasyanti nótáya ṛṣiṃ vā yáṃ rấjānaṃ vā súṣūdatha || 7||

niyútvanto grāmajíto yáthā náro'ryamáṇo ná marútaḥ kabandhínaḥ | pínvantyútsaṃ yádināso ásvaran vyùndanti pṛthivíṃ mádhvo ándhasā || 8||

pravátvatīyám prthiví marúdbhyaḥ pravátvatī dyaurbhavati prayádbhyaḥ | pravátvatīḥ pathyà antárikṣyāḥ pravátvantaḥ párvatā jīrádānavaḥ || 9||

yánmarutah sabharasah svarnarah sűrya údite mádathā divo narah | ná vó'śvāh śrathayantáha sísratah sadyó asyádhvanah pārámaśnutha || 10||

áṃseṣu va ṛṣṭáyaḥ patsú khādáyo vákṣassu rukmā maruto ráthe śúbhaḥ | agnībhrājaso vidyúto gábhastyoḥ śíprāḥ śīṛṣásu vítatā hiraṇyáyīḥ || 11||

tám nákamaryó ágrbhītaśociṣam rúśatpíppalam maruto ví dhūnutha | sámacyanta vrjánátitviṣanta yát sváranti ghóṣam vítatamṛtāyávaḥ || 12||

- 6. When the flock<sup>104</sup> is "parched"<sup>105</sup>, O Marut-s, ye ravish the full-of-waves one<sup>106</sup> like a worm [robs] a tree, O enthusiastic ones, [so that] then, you, O acting in harmony with each other, would certainly lead our unrelenting [anxiety] towards a good course like an eye [leads] him who is moving.
- 7. Whom ye well prepare, be he a king or a sage, he is not oppressed, O *Marut-s*, nor killed, nor does he blunder, nor goes astray, nor suffer wrong; neither his wealth is exhausted, nor his favours.
- 8. Having inner ties like men gaining a village [easily] as if from an arbitrator —

  Marut-s, in possession of the [celestial] cask, swell the spring; when able ones intone, they drench the Earth with juice of honey.
- This Earth [is] affording a swift motion to Marut-s, this Heaven becomes affording a swift motion to those which are appearing;

belonging to the middle region paths
[are] affording a swift motion;
giving quickly knotty ones [are] affording a swift motion.

- 10. O held together, arising easily *Marut*-s, when ye revel in the risen sun, O men from the Heaven, your horses certainly do not relax [while] running, on the same day ye reach the end of this one's path.
- 11. Over your shoulders spears, over ankles studded leather plates, on breasts shining [plates], O  $\it Marut$ -s,

a reinforcement on a chariot,

in hands — lightning bolts sparkling with the fire rendering extended over the heads visors golden.

12. You, O Marut-s, agitate this having-no-pain space of him who tends upwards non-graspable like a flame, shining berry!

When they, who seek *rta*, are violently agitated [and] utter long battle-cry, sacrificial enclosures are put<sup>107</sup> together;

<sup>105</sup> "hardened, toughened"

 $<sup>^{104}</sup>$ recruits

 $<sup>^{106}\</sup>mathrm{Soma}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup>lit. "bent"

yuṣmādattasya maruto vicetaso rāyáḥ syāma rathyò váyasvataḥ | ná yó yúchati tiṣyò yáthā divò'smé rāranta marutah sahasrínam || 13||

yūyám rayím maruta spārhávīram yūyámṛṣimavatha sāmavipram | yūyámárvantam bharatáya vājam yūyám dhattha rājānam śrustimántam || 14 ||

tádvo yāmi dráviṇaṃ sadyau utayo yénā svàrṇá tatánāma nṛ̃m̃rabhí | idáṃ sú me maruto haryatā váco yásya tárema tárasā śatáṃ hímāh || 15||

13. O clearly seen Marut-s, may we be charioteers of given by you wealth that is full of mental and bodily vigour! They handed over to us again and again — O Marut-s — the thousand-fold [treasure] that does not vanish like Tisya from the sky!

14. O *Marut*-s, you [favor] the treasure [that is as] desirable as the valiant one<sup>108</sup>,

you favor a seer who is stirred by a chant, you effect a courser for the sake of being maintained [Agni] the rush of vigour,

you appoint an amenable king.

15. I solicit that substance from you, O assisting instantly ones, with which we would extend as-if-svàr towards the men — O Marut-s, be pleased with this my speech — through conveyance of which we might cross over hundred winters.

Verses 2, 11, 12, refer to recruits; verses 1, 3–10, 13–15 refers to inner *Marut*-s.

<sup>108</sup> prob. Indra

práyajyavo marúto bhrájadṛṣṭayo bṛhádváyo dadhire rukmávakṣasaḥ | íyante áśvaiḥ suyámebhirāśúbhiḥ śúbhaṃ yātấmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 1||

svayám dadhidhve táviṣīm yáthā vidá bṛhánmahānta urviyá ví rājatha | utấntárikṣaṃ mamire vyójasā śúbhaṃ yātấmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 2||

sākám jātáh subhvàh sākámukṣitáḥ śriyé cidá pratarám vāvrdhurnáraḥ | virokíṇaḥ súryasyeva raśmáyaḥ śúbhaṃ yātámánu ráthā avṛtsata || 3||

ābhūṣéṇyaṃ vo maruto mahitvanáṃ didrkṣéṇyaṃ súryasyeva cákṣaṇam | utó asmāṃ amṛtatvé dadhātana śúbhaṃ yātāmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 4||

údīrayathā marutaḥ samudrató
yūyáṃ vṛṣṭíṃ varṣayathā purīṣinaḥ |
ná vo dasrā úpa dasyanti dhenávaḥ
śúbhaṃ yātāmánu ráthā avṛṭsata || 5||

yádásvāndhūrsú pṛṣatīráyugdhvam hiranyáyānprátyátkāṃ̃ ámugdhvam | vísvā ítspṛdho maruto vyàsyatha súbhaṃ yātāmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 6||

ná párvatā ná nadyò varanta vo yátrácidhvam maruto gáchathédu tát | utá dyávāpṛthiví yāthanā pári śúbham yātámánu ráthā avṛtsata || 7||  O seeking the first of [a] sacrifice! Having gleaming spears, having shining [plates] on [their] breasts Marut-s obtained vast mental energy; they do come by means of swift easy to restrain horses —

they do come by means of swift easy to restrain horses — chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement <sup>109</sup>.

- 2. By yourselves ye took hold of the power to control as you know (how); in a wide [space] shine, O mighty from a distance ones! Even space in-between they vigorously traversed chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 3. Born at the same time, of excellent nature, grown together just for auspiciousness the men become further augmented. As the rays of unblurred [by clouds] sun chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 4. Your extensiveness has to be attended to, [and] is to be desired to be seen like the appearing of the sun. O would you bring us to immortality chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 5. You excite like the sea,
  you cause the rain [of stones] to fall down,
  O carrying rubbish ones!
  For you, O accomplishing wonderful deeds ones,
  the cows are not exhausted –
  chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 6. When you yoke horses, dappled mares to the poles [of chariots], [and] put on golden armour, you scatter all adversaries, O *Marut-s*, chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 7. Not mountains, nor rivers obstruct you; whatever you fix the gaze upon there you just go; and you move around the Earth and the Heaven chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.

 $<sup>^{109}</sup>$ auxiliary troops

yátpūrvyám maruto yácca nútanam yádudyáte vasavo yácca śasyáte | víśvasya tásya bhavathā návedasaḥ śúbham yātāmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 8||

mṛḍáta no maruto mā vadhiṣṭanāsmábhyaṃ śárma bahuláṃ ví yantana |
ádhi stotrásya sakhyásya gātana
śúbhaṃ yātāmánu ráthā avṛtsata || 9||

yūyámasmánnayata vásyo áchā níraṃhatíbhyo maruto gṛṇānáh | juṣádhvaṃ no havyádātiṃ yajatrā vayám syāma pátayo rayīṇám || 10||

- 8. What [is] old and what [is] recent, what is mentioned and what is repeated, O beneficent ones, of all this you become cognizant, O Marut-s—chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- Be gracious to us, O Marut-s, do not slay [us]! spread for us ample shelter!
   Do remember [this] hymn, [our] friendship chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement.
- 10. You, being extolled, shall lead us from anxieties towards what is better, O Marut-s!Enjoy our oblations as an offering, O deserving a sacrifice ones, [so that] we could become masters of the treasures.

The refrain of verses 1–9 "chariots follow them who are becoming a reinforcement" refers to recruits; lines 1a, 2ab, 4abc, 8abc, 9abc, 10abc, 3–10, 13–15 refer to inner *Marut*-s, all others refer to recruits. This hymn expresses feelings of poet who observes a march of an inspired troop of peers who are stone throwers (slingers?) placed in front of war chariots.

ágne sárdhantamá gaṇáṃ piṣṭáṃ rukmébhirañjíbhiḥ | víso adyá marútāmáva hvaye diváscidrocanádádhi || 1||

yáthā cinmányase hṛdấ tádínme jagmurāśásaḥ | yé te nédiṣṭhaṃ hávanānyāgáman tấn vardha bhīmásaṃdṛśaḥ || 2||

mīḍhúṣmatīva pṛthiví
párāhatā mádantyetyasmádá |
ṛkṣo ná vo marutaḥ śimīvāṃ
ámo dudhró gauriva bhīmayúḥ || 3||

ní yé riṇántyójasā vṛthā gấvo ná durdhúraḥ | áśmānaṃ citsvaryàṃ parvataṃ giríṃ prá cyāvayanti yấmabhiḥ || 4||

úttiṣṭha nūnámeṣāṃ stómaih sámukṣitānām | marútāṃ purutámamápūrvyaṃ gávāṃ sárgamiva hvaye || 5||

yungdhvám hyáruṣī ráthe yungdhvám rátheṣu rohítah | yungdhvám hárī ajirā dhurí vóḍhave váhiṣṭhā dhurí vóḍhave || 6||

utá syá vājyàruṣás tuviṣváṇirihá sma dhāyi darśatáḥ | mấ vo yấmeṣu marutaścirám karat prá tám rátheṣu codata || 7||

- O Agni, I summon you down today —
   even from the luminous sphere of the Heaven —
   towards the defiant troop decorated with shining [plates],
   with body-paints, of the tribe of Marut-s.
- 2. Just as thou imagine with the heart so my aspirations set out: do strengthen those [deva-s] of fearsome appearance which would arrive to your summons first.
- 3. As rich in abundance soil, discarded, the exhilarating [aspiration] goes [away] from us. Yours, O *Marut*-s, exertive forcefulness is evoking fear like a bear, like an angry ox.
- 4. Those who vigorously tear down [obstacles] wantonly like lightly harnessed oxen they cause even the resounding rock, the rugged mountain to shake by means of [their] movements.
- Now remain upwards with praises
   I summon like a herd of cows
   [the troop] of these nourished Marut-s,
   most numerous, incomparable [troop].
- 6. Yoke the tamed mares to the chariot, yoke the reddish mares to chariots, yoke two pale yellow, agile [steeds] to the pole to convey [deva-s] the two conveying best to the pole, to convey [deva-s]!
- 7. And he, who possesses the rush of vigour [but is] tempered, [he,] who can roar loudly, [he,] conspicuous, is placed here. Lest he creates delay in your movements, O *Marut*-s, impel him [to be] in front of the chariots!

ráthaṃ nú mấrutaṃ vayáṃ śravasyúmấ huvāmahe | ấ yásmintasthaú suráṇāni bíbhratī sácā marútsu rodasí || 8||

tám vah sárdham rathesúbham tvesám panasyúmá huve | yásminsújātā subhágā mahīyáte sácā marútsu mīḍhuṣī́ || 9||

- 8. Now, for him who is seeking fame we summon related to *Marut*-s chariot, onto which bearing joys *Rodasi* ascended together with *Marut*-s.
- 9. I summon here that your swarm a reinforcement on a chariot, vehement, evoking admiration, in [the midst of] whom she who is good-to-manifest, highly favoured, is becoming together with Marut-s stronger she, bestowing richly.

Lines 1cd, 8a refer to recruits; all other lines refer to inner *Marut*-s. Verse 7 seems to refer with pronouns "he", "him" to *Indra*.

á rudrāsa índravantah sajóṣaso híranyarathāh suvitáya gantana | iyám vo asmátpráti haryate matís tṛṣṇáje ná divá útsā udanyáve || 1 ||

váśīmanta ṛṣṭimánto manīṣíṇaḥ sudhánvāna íṣumanto niṣangíṇaḥ | sváśvā stha suráthāḥ pṛśnimātaraḥ svāyudhấ maruto yāthanā śúbham || 2||

dhūnuthá dyấṃ párvatāndāsúṣe vásu ní vo vánā jihate yấmano bhiyấ | kopáyatha pṛthivíṃ pṛśnimātaraḥ śubhé yádugrāḥ pṛṣatīráyugdhvam || 3||

vátatviso marúto varsánirnijo yamá iva súsadrsah supésasah | pisángāsvā arunāsvā arepásah prátvaksaso mahiná dyaurivorávah || 4||

purudrapsá añjimántah sudánavas tvesásamdrso anavabhrárādhasah | sujātáso janúṣā rukmávakṣaso divó arká amṛtaṃ náma bhejire || 5||

rṣṭáyo vo maruto áṃsayorádhi sáha ójo bāhvórvo bálaṃ hitám | nṛmṇā śīrṣásvāyudhā rátheṣu vo víśvā vaḥ śrīrádhi tanūṣu pipiśe || 6|| 1. Accompanied by *Indra*, acting in harmony with each other, come here, O *Rudra*-s,

having gold as a chariot for an easy passage. This mental gesture for you from us is enchanting as springs from the heaven [are] to a thirsty [man] who is seeking water.

- 2. Having pointed knives, spears, having the [correct] conceptions, having good bows, arrows, unattached, having excellent horses and chariots, having *Pṛśni* for mother, well-armed, O *Marut*-s, you become a reinforcement.
- 3. For a worshiper you shake off beneficial thing

from the Heaven [and] the mountains, through fear of your procession desires withdraw; you make the Earth swell with anger,

O having  $Pr\acute{s}ni$  for mother,

when, in order to enhance [the journey], you, O violent ones, yoked dappled mares.

4. Agitating like wind, having rain for a garment,

Marut-s are like twins — quite alike,

[yet] of intricate appearance;

having horses with adorned<sup>110</sup> limbs,

having horses that give a chance to move upwards, faultless, shaping [thoughts] through the power to increase in size,

[they are] spacious like the Heaven.

5. Abounding in sparks, having body-paints, generous, having causing fear appearance,

[they who give] satisfaction that does not fade, through circumstances of birth of good quality,

having shining [plates] on [their] breasts,

[like] the rays from the Heaven —

they partook of immortal nature.

6. O Marut-s, your spears over [two] shoulders, overwhelming strength [and] vigour in [two] arms [are] your made-ready (muscle) power.

Manly powers in heads, weapons on your chariots — everything auspicious for you shapes itself over [your] bodies.

<sup>110=</sup>muscular?

gómadáśvāvadráthavatsuvī́raṃ candrávadrádho maruto dadā naḥ | práśastiṃ naḥ kṛṇuta rudriyāso bhakṣīyá vó'vaso dáívyasya || 7||

hayé náro máruto mṛḍátā nas túvīmaghāso ámṛtā ṛtajñāḥ | sátyaśrutaḥ kávayo yúvāno bṛhadgirayo bṛhádukṣámāṇāḥ || 8||

- 7. You, Marut-s, have given us rich in cows, rich in horses, rich in chariots, rich in manly ones, shimmering accomplishment of [our] desires.

  Effect sufficiency for us, O agreeable to Rudra ones!

  May I experience your divine assistance!
- 8. Ho! O men *Marut*-s, be gracious to us!
  O bountiful, unceasing, ascertaining *rta*,
  giving ear to truth, gifted with insight, young,
  expansive like mountains, [ye,] growing far and wide!

Verses 2, 4–6 refer to recruits; verses 1, 3, 7, 8 refer to inner *Maruts*.

támu nūnáṃ táviṣīmantameṣāṃ stuṣé gaṇáṃ mārutaṃ návyasīnām | yá āśvàśvā ámavadváhanta utéśire amṛ́tasya svarājaḥ || 1||

tvesám ganám tavásam khádihastam dhúnivratam māyínam dátivāram | mayobhúvo yé ámitā mahitvá vándasva vipra tuvirádhaso nŕn || 2||

á vo yantūdavāháso adyá
vṛṣṭiṃ yé viśve marúto junánti |
ayáṃ yó agnírmarutaḥ sámiddha
etáṃ juṣadhvaṃ kavayo yuvānaḥ || 3||

yūyáṃ rájānamíryaṃ jánāya vibhvataṣṭáṃ janayathā yajatrāḥ | yuṣmádeti muṣṭihá bāhújūto yuṣmátsádaśvo marutaḥ suvīraḥ || 4||

arấ ivédácaramā áheva prápra jāyante ákavā máhobhiḥ | pṛśneḥ putrấ upamáso rábhiṣṭhāḥ sváyā matyấ marútaḥ sáṃ mimikṣuḥ || 5||

yátpráyāsiṣṭa pṛṣatībhiráśvair vīḍupavíbhirmaruto ráthebhiḥ | kṣódanta ápo riṇaté vánānyávosríyo vṛṣabháḥ krandatu dyaúḥ || 6||

- Now I praise this having power to control having Marut-s' trait troop of these — of the fresh ones, which, having swift horses, carry forceful [domination<sup>111</sup>], and, self-ruling, became owners of the nectar<sup>112</sup>.
- 2. Vehement strong troop, having studded bracers on forearms, which tends to be noisy, which has the power to frame [battles], for which to give is a choice —
  O poet, do homage [to these]
  frequently accomplishing [our] desires men —
  [them] who [are] becoming a counterbalance,
- 3. Carrying waters, they shall come to you now—all the *Marut*-s who bind the rain.

  This fire which [is] kindled, O *Marut*-s—do frequent it, O gifted with insight, young ones!

[who are] gladly made numerous.

- You caused a king to be born
   [who is] energetic for people's sake,
   [who is] fashioned by the pervading one,
   O deserving a sacrifice ones!
   From you comes striking with the fist, quick with arms, from you, O Marut-s, [comes] the manly one<sup>113</sup>,
   good as a horse.
- 5. Just like spokes, there is no last one, like days they are born again and again, non-stingy with [their] powers; most excellent, most captivating sons of *Pṛśni*, *Marut*-s have commingled through their own mental gesture.
- 6. When you set out with dappled mares, with horses by means of having firm tires chariots the waters are agitated, desires set themselves free. May appearing at dawn resembling a bull luminance call [the attention] out down [to Earth].

 $<sup>^{111}</sup>ksatra$  see 5.34.9d

 $<sup>^{112}\</sup>dot{Soma}$ 

 $<sup>^{113}</sup>Indra$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Soma; comp. to 9.74.3cd

práthista yámanprthiví cidesām bhárteva gárbham svámíchávo dhuh | vátānhyáśvāndhuryàyuyujré varsám svédam cakrire rudríyāsah || 7||

hayé náro máruto mṛḍátā nas túvīmaghāso ámṛtā ṛṭajñāḥ | sátyaśrutaḥ kávayo yúvāno bṛhadgirayo bṛhádukṣámāṇāḥ || 8||

7. Even the Earth has become wider during the journey of these. Just like a husband [gives] his own embryo, it<sup>115</sup> should have imparted the power to change. Since they yoked winds, horses to the pole, they, agreeable to Rudra, effected the raining — the sweating.

8. Ho! O men *Marut*-s, be gracious to us!
O bountiful, unceasing, ascertaining *rta*,
giving ear to truth, gifted with insight, young,
expansive like mountain, [ye,] growing far and wide!

Verses 1, 2 refer to recruits; verses 3–8 refer to inner Maruts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>the luminance, that is, Soma

prá va spáḍakransuvitấya dāváné'rcā divé prá pṛthivyấ ṛtáṃ bhare | ukṣánte áśvāntáruṣanta ấ rájó'nu sváṃ bhānúṃ śrathayante arṇaváiḥ || 1||

ámādeṣāṃ bhiyásā bhúmirejati naurná pūrṇá kṣarati vyáthiryatí | dūredṛśo yé citáyanta émabhirantár mahé vidáthe yetire náraḥ || 2||

gávāmiva śriyáse śŕngamuttamáṃ sűryo ná cákṣū rájaso visárjane | átyā iva subhvàścắrava sthana máryā iva śriyáse cetathā naraḥ || 3||

kó vo mahánti mahatámúdaśnavat káskávyā marutah kó ha paúṃsyā | yūyáṃ ha bhúmiṃ kiráṇaṃ ná rejatha prá yádbháradhve suvitáya dāváne || 4||

áśvā ivédaruṣāsaḥ sábandhavaḥ śūrā iva prayūdhaḥ prótá yuyudhuḥ | máryā iva suvṛdho vāvṛdhurnáraḥ sūryasya cákṣuḥ prá minanti vṛṣṭíbhiḥ || 5||

té ajyeṣṭhā ákaniṣṭhāsa udbhídó'madhyamāso máhasā ví vāvṛdhuh | sujātāso janúṣā pṛśnimātaro divó máryā ắ no áchā jigātana || 6|| 1. Forth [comes] a scout for you<sup>116</sup>

[that] they<sup>117</sup> made to give an easy passage; thou shall recommend [the scout] to the Heaven [thus]

"I bring forth *rta* to the Earth".

They sprinkle the horses, they pass over up to the region, according to a direct representation

they unbind themselves by means of restless [thoughts].

2. Because of the forcefulness of these ones

the Earth tremble with fear;

Like a full-[loaded] ship, she slips going astray.

Which [are] seen far away,

those cause to attend throughout [their] course.

Men seek to join a teaching session to inwardly rejoice —

3. like the ultimate horn of oxen for auspiciousness, a sun-like light from the region during discharge [of semen], like coursers of excellent nature, they<sup>118</sup> are pleasing. Being recruits, you pay attention

for the sake of auspiciousness, O men!

4. Who will reach up to your ample [powers] of the mighty? Who [will attain] prophetic inspirations,

who, indeed, the manly deeds?

It is you who make the Earth tremble like a dust-mote when you bring [yourselves] forward to give an easy passage.

5. Just like tempered horses — related [to each other], like agents of change triggering a fight, you just started a fight; like gaining strength recruits

the men<sup>119</sup> have become stronger — with rains they diminish the light of the sun<sup>120</sup>.

6. They, having not the eldest, nor the youngest, bursting forth, having no moderate one, they have become stronger

through the feeling of superiority.

Well-born due to circumstances of birth,

having  $Pr\acute{s}ni$  for mother,

[they are] recruits from Heaven. Come here to us!

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>inner Marut-s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup>inner Marut-s

 $<sup>^{119}</sup>$ inner Marut-s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup>"diminish the light of the sun" = "make the mind to turn inwards"

váyo ná yé śréṇṇ paptúrójasắntān divó brhatáḥ sắnunaspári | áśvāsa eṣāmubháye yáthā vidúḥ prá párvatasya nabhanűm̃racucyavuh || 7||

mímātu dyaúuráditirvītáye naḥ sáṃ dấnucitrā uṣáso yatantām | ấcucyavurdivyáṃ kóśametá ṛṣe rudrásya marúto gṛṇānấḥ || 8||

7. Like birds who vigorously fly [their] row [towards] the limits of the vast sky, away from the summit, horses of these ones [convey] both [*Pṛśṇi* and *Aditi*] as they<sup>121</sup> know how.

They  $^{122}$  stir the springs of a knotty one.

8. May the Heaven, [may] Aditi, arrange our enjoyment; may brilliant with dew dawns come one after another — these being extolled to flow quickly Marut-s of Rudra shook the celestial sheath.

Verses 1–3 refer to recruits as "you" and to inner *Marut*-s as "they"; verses 4–8 refer to inner *Marut*-s. The description of the Earth "Like a full-[loaded] ship, she slips going astray." in verse 2 is a metaphor of one being swept off one's feet, of losing sense of physical body.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup>inner Marut-s

 $<sup>^{122}</sup>$ inner Marut-s

íde agním svávasam námobhir ihá prasattó ví cayatkṛtám naḥ | ráthairiva prá bhare vājayádbhiḥ pradakṣiṇínmarútām stómamṛdhyām || 1||

á yé tasthúh přísatīsu šrutásu sukhésu rudrá marúto ráthesu | vánā cidugrā jihate ní vo bhiyá prthiví cidrejate párvataścit || 2||

párvataścinmáhi vṛddhó bibhāya diváścitsánu rejata svané vaḥ | yátkrídatha maruta ṛṣṭimánta ápa iva sadhryàñco dhavadhve || 3||

vará ivédraivatáso híranyair abhí svadhábhistanvàh pipiśre | śriyé śréyāṃsastaváso rátheṣu satrá máhāṃsi cakrire tanűṣu || 4||

ajyeṣṭhāso ákaniṣṭhāsa eté sáṃ bhrātaro vāvṛdhuḥ saubhagāya | yúvā pitā svápā rudrá eṣāṃ sudúghā pṛśniḥ sudínā marúdbhyaḥ || 5||

yáduttamé maruto madhyamé vā yádvāvamé subhagāso diví sṭhá | áto no rudrā utá vā nvàsyāgne vittāddhavíṣo yádyájāma || 6||

agníśca yánmaruto viśvavedaso divó váhadhva úttarādádhi ṣṇúbhiḥ | té mandasānā dhúnayo riśādaso vāmáṃ dhatta yájamānāya sunvaté || 7|| 1. With reverential salutations I implore well-assisting *Agni* who has grown clear and bright here,

so that he fixes gaze upon a deed of ours. I bring forth (as if with charged by rush of vigour chariots) from left to right a praise of *Marut*-s [that] I can add to.

- [Those] who remained among listened-to dappled mares
   — dreadful Marut-s on running easily chariots —
   even desires, O violent ones, give way
   through the fear of your [journey],
   even the Earth tremble, even knotty ones.
- 3. Even greatly strengthened knotty one got afraid, even the summit of the Heaven should be shaking at your roar when you, having spears, are at play, O *Marut*-s; you flow like converging waters.
- 4. Just like wealthy suitors [adorn themselves]
  with golden [ornaments]
  they wantonly adorn themselves;
  well disposed for a good fortune, strong on chariots
  they always fashioned in themselves the feeling of superiority.
- 5. These, the brothers, having not the eldest, nor the youngest, became stronger together for [our] welfare.
  Youthful father of these, skillful Rudra,
  [and] yielding-much Pṛśni [are] happy times for Marut-s.
- 6. If you, O Marut-s, are in the highest Heaven, or in the middle one, or if in the lowest, O auspicious ones, from there, O Rudra-s, do notice, O Agni, our or else just of this one oblation when we shall make a fire offering.
- 7. When you, O known to everyone *Marut*-s, and *Agni*, convey from the highest Heaven through the summits [the rain], they<sup>123</sup>, exalting, are boisterous, O devouring gaps ones! Make fortune for pressing [Soma] sacrificer!

<sup>123</sup> recruits

ágne marúdbhih subháyadbhir kvabhih sómam piba mandasānó ganas ríbhih | pāvak ébhir vi svamin vébhir āyúbhir vá svānara pradívā ketúnā sajúh || 8||

8. O Agni, together with adorning themselves, reciting verses Marut-s
drink Soma, exalting together with those
who have troop insignia —
with purifying, invigorating everything, agitated ones<sup>124</sup>,
[and] at the same time, O common to all men,
with age-old banner.

Verses 4 and 8ab refer to recruits; verses 1–3, 5-7, 8cd refer to inner *Marut*-s. In verse 2 and in other *Marut*-s hymns the expression "dappled mares" refers most likely to dreams that have both dark and light images and evoke both pleasant and unpleasant emotions.

<sup>124</sup> inner Marut-s

### RigVeda 6.50.4–5

á no rudrásya sūnávo namantām adyá hūtáso vásavó'dhṛṣṭāḥ | yádīmárbhe mahatí vā hitáso bādhé marúto áhvāma deván || 4||

mimyákṣa yéṣu rodasĩ nú devĩ síṣakti pūṣā abhyardhayájvā | śrutvā hávaṃ maruto yáddha yāthá bhūmā rejante ádhvani právikte || 5||

- 4. May sons of Rudra, summoned today, condescend to us, [they] — beneficial, not disrespected when indeed subjected whether to a small or to a great restraint we called upon Marut-s — deva-s,
- 5. among whom  $dev\bar{\imath} Rodas\bar{\imath}$  was certainly present; making complementary offering  $P\bar{u}san$  accompanied [them]. When, hearing a call, Marut-s indeed journey; on [their] predefined course they shake up the world view.

These verses refer to inner Marut-s.

# RigVeda 6.66

vápurnú táccikitúșe cidastu samānám nāma dhenú pátyamānam | márteṣvanyáddoháse pīpāya sakṛchukrám duduhe pṛśnirū́dhaḥ || 1||

yé agnáyo ná śóśucannidhāná dvíryáttrírmarúto vāvṛdhánta | areṇávo hiraṇyáyāsa eṣāṃ sākáṃ nṛmṇáiḥ paʿuṃsyebhiśca bhūvan || 2||

rudrásya yé mīḍhúṣaḥ sánti putrá yấṃśco nú dấdhṛvirbháradhyai | vidé hí mātấ mahó mahí ṣấ sétpṛśniḥ subhvè gárbhamấdhāt || 3||

ná yá íṣante janúṣó'yā nvàntáḥ sánto'vadyấni punānāḥ | níryádduhré śúcayó'nu jóṣam ánu śriyấ tanvàmukṣámānāḥ || 4||

makṣū́ ná yéṣu doháse cidayā́ ā́ nā́ma dhṛṣṇú mấrutaṃ dádhānāḥ | ná yé staunā́ ayā́so mahnā́ nū́ cit sudā́nuráva yāsadugrā́n || 5||

tá ídugráh sávasā dhṛṣṇúṣeṇā ubhé yujanta ródasī suméke | ádha smaiṣu rodasī svásocir ámavatsu tasthau ná rókaḥ || 6||

- 1. May the form called "holding the middle between extremes" be yielding milk, be governing for him who has perceived it; among mortals she swelled another [breast] to milk, [while] simultaneously she,  $Pr\acute{s}ni$ , milked the pure breast.
- 2. What fires<sup>125</sup>, kindled, do not keep blazing twice and thrice *Marut*-s shall strengthen [those]. Non-dusty <sup>126</sup>, golden are [flames] of these [fires]. They should have arisen

together with manly powers and manly deeds

3. who are sons of liberal Rudra,

and whom indeed she was stalwart enough to bear <sup>127</sup>. Since it is known [that]

she [is] the mighty mother of the mighty one, for [anyone] of excellent nature she, *Pṛśni*, should have deposited an embryo.

4. Which ones do not escape circumstances of birth this way, [they] are purifying within [their] imperfections.

When they have extracted [those],

[and, becoming] pure to their satisfaction, through good fortune,

they are making thereupon the body stronger.

5. Fittingly, [they are] not among those

to whom thou, [Pṛśni,] came just for milking, [they are] instilling Marut-s' trait of daring. [They are] not slothful [but are] in fact evermore agile so that she, generous, would come down to energetic ones.

6. Just the armies [that are]

ferocious, defiant through the impulse to change, shall yoke both well-fitted [together] Rodas-es; then in them, in forceful ones, self-radiant  $Rodas\bar{\imath}$ , would remain like a reflection.

<sup>127</sup>the line is from [JB14]

\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup>inner fires of inspiration, longing, and aspirations

 $<sup>^{126}</sup>$ =non-material

anenó vo maruto yámo astvanaśváścid yámájatyárathīḥ | anavasó anabhīśú rajastűr ví ródasī pathyà yāti sádhan || 7||

násya vartá ná tarutá nvasti máruto yámávatha vájasātau | toké vā góṣu tánaye yámapsú sá vrajáṃ dártā pấrye ádha dyóḥ || 8||

prá citrámarkám grnaté turáya márutāya svátavase bharadhvam | yé sáhāmsi sáhasā sáhante réjate agne prthiví makhébhyah || 9||

tvíṣīmanto adhvarásyeva didyút tṛṣucyávaso juhvò nắgnéh | arcátrayo dhúnayo ná vīrá bhrấjajjanmāno marúto ádhṛṣṭāḥ || 10||

tám vrdhántam márutam bhrájadrstim rudrásya sūnúm havásá vivāse | diváh sárdhāya súcayo manīsá giráyo nápa ugrá aspṛdhran || 11||

- 7. May your course, O *Marut*-s, be without black antelopes, even without horses (which he who is without a chariot drives)! Without rest, without bridles, crossing the region he traverses both *Rodas*-es, the paths, reaching the goal.
- 8. There is no impeller of him nor delayer,
  O Marut-s, whom you favor in gaining the rush of vigour,
  in [gaining] children, or cows, in [gaining] grandchildren,
  in [gaining] waters —
  at the end of the day he [is] [a] breaker of the barrier.
- 9. Do offer an attracting attention hymn of illumination to the singer to pressing forward, having Marut-s' trait self-strong one! They who prevail with an overwhelming strength over those who have overwhelming strength because of them, having fighting spirit, the Earth trembles,
- 10. Possessing of energies

O Agni!

like the arrow of proceeding on its path [sacrifice], going greedily here and there as flames of fire, assisting a chant like boisterous valiant ones, *Marut*-s, born of sparkling [images], [are] not disrespected.

11. Him, strengthening, having Marut-s' trait, whose spear is gleaming, an offspring of Rudra, I wish to win with [this] invocation. For the sake of the swarm<sup>128</sup> from Heaven pure thoughts, mountain-like violent waters, have competed.

Verses 1–6, 9, 11 refer to recruits; verses 7, 8, 10 refer to inner *Marut*-s. This hymn gives instruction to recruits on how to make themselves fit for the path, and gives encouragement to proceed.

<sup>128</sup> inner Marut-s

#### RigVeda 7.56

ká īṃ vyàktā náraḥ sánīḍā rudrásya máryā ádha sváśvāḥ || 1||
nákirhyèṣāṃ janū́ṃṣi véda té aṅgá vidre mithó janítram || 2||
abhí svapū́bhirmithó vapanta vắtasvanasaḥ śyenā aspṛdhran || 3||
etāni dhīro niṇyā ciketa pṛśniryádū́dho mahī jabhāra || 4||
sā viṭ suvīrā marúdbhirastu sanātsáhantī puṣyantī nṛmṇám || 5||
yāmaṃ yéṣṭhāḥ śubhā śóbhiṣṭhāḥ
śriyā sámmiślā ójobhirugrāḥ || 6||
ugráṃ va ója sthirā śávāṃsyádhā marúdbhirgaṇástúviṣmān || 7||
śubhró vaḥ śuṣmaḥ krúdhmī mánāṃsi
dhúnirmúniriva śárdhasya dhṛṣṇóḥ || 8||
sánemyasmádyuyóta didyúṃ mā vo durmatírihá práṇannaḥ || 9||
priyā vo nāma huve turānāmā yáttrpánmaruto vāvaśānāh || 10||

- 1. Who are made-to-appear, closely related [to each other] men<sup>129</sup>? Recruits of *Rudra* now with excellent horses.
- 2. Since no one found out their circumstances of birth—well, alternatively, they know [their] way of appearing.
- 3. They should have strewn each other with own extracts. Sounding like the wind hawks vie with each other.
- 4. He who has mental schemas for an effective contemplation, should have noticed these concealed [circumstances of birth] when mighty *Prśni* held the udder.
- May this tribe, rich in heroes, be with Marut-s<sup>130</sup>,
   [be] always prevailing, fostering manly deeds.
- 6. Following most the course, by being auxiliary most reinforcing, well endowed with auspiciousness, through inner drives formidable.
- 7. Your<sup>131</sup> vigour is formidable, ascertained [are] impulses to change; moreover, the troop<sup>132</sup> has authority through the Marut-s<sup>133</sup>.
- 8. Your<sup>134</sup> fervor is replenishing, opinions of the daring swarm<sup>135</sup> are exasperating<sup>136</sup> like a boisterous enthusiast.
- 9. At all times keep away from us the missile <sup>137</sup> may not your <sup>138</sup> noxious mood in this matter reach us.
- 10. With delight I summon here yours, who are pressing forward, nature should that be to [your] satisfaction, O Marut-s, [you,] eagerly desiring [Soma]!

 $^{133}$ inner  $\mathit{Marut}$ -s

<sup>136</sup>or, "making other angry"

 $<sup>^{129}</sup>$ inner Marut-s

 $<sup>^{130}</sup>$ inner  $\mathit{Marut}$ -s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup>inner Marut-s'

 $<sup>^{132}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup>inner Marut-s'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup>recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup>resolution of inner conflict into a psychosomatic disfunction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup>inner Marut-s'

svāyudhāsa iṣmíṇaḥ suniṣkā utá svayáṃ tanvàh śúmbhamānāh || 11||

śúcī vo havyá marutaḥ śúcīnāṃ śúciṃ hinomyadhvaráṃ śúcibhyaḥ | ṛténa satyámṛtasấpa āyañchúcijanmānaḥ śúcayaḥ pāvakấḥ || 12||

ámsesvá marutah khādáyo vo váksassu rukmā upasisriyāṇāḥ | ví vidyúto ná vṛṣṭíbhī rucāná ánu svadhāmāyudhairyáchamānāḥ || 13||

prá budhnyà va īrate máhāṃsi prá nāmāni prayajyavastiradhvam | sahasríyaṃ dámyaṃ bhāgámetáṃ grhamedhīyaṃ maruto juṣadhvam || 14 ||

yádi stutásya maruto adhīthétthấ víprasya vājíno hávīman | makṣú rāyáḥ suvíryasya dāta nú cidyámanyá ādábhadárāvā || 15||

átyāso ná yé marútah sváñco yakṣadŕśo ná śubháyanta máryāḥ | té harmyeṣṭhấḥ śíśavo ná śubhrấ vatsắso ná prakrīḍínaḥ payodhấḥ || 16||

- 11. [You are] well-armed, having arrows, having beautiful ornaments, and adorning [your] bodies yourselves.
- 12. Pure are oblations of pure ones for you, O *Marut*-s<sup>139</sup>; I set in motion a pure sacrifice for pure ones<sup>140</sup>. Through *ṛta* they<sup>141</sup>, following *ṛta*, came to a genuine [sacrifice], having pure birthplace, purifying [Soma] ones are pure.
- 13. On your 142 shoulders, O *Marut*-s, are studded spaulders, shining [plates] have clung to [your] breasts.

  Like lightnings flashing through the rain,
  [they are] wantonly brandishing weapons.
- 14. Deep-grounded feelings of your superiority arise.

  O ye seeking the first of [a] sacrifice, do surpass [mere] names!

  Do enjoy this giving thousandfold domestic fortune related to a household sacrifice, O Marut-s!
- 15. If you, *Marut*-s, remember that which is praised in fact, an invocation of inspired, possessing the rush of vigour one you shall give at once the treasures of [that] potency which the other, who holds back, would not impair.
- 16. Which *Marut*-s are like stallions wandering about, [which are] looking like ghosts —

recruits, who shall adorn themselves [with body-paint], those remain under spell, replenishing like boys amusing like calves, [they are] still suckling.

 $<sup>^{139}</sup>$ inner  $\mathit{Marut}$ -s

 $<sup>^{140}</sup>$ recruits

 $<sup>^{141}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>142</sup> recruits

daśasyánto no marúto mṛḍantu varivasyánto ródasī suméke | āré gohá nṛhá vadhó vo astu sumnébhirasmé vasavo namadhvam || 17||

á vo hótā johavīti sattáḥ satrācīṃ rātíṃ maruto gṛṇānáḥ | yá īvato vṛṣaṇo ásti gopāḥ só ádvayāvī havate va uktháiḥ || 18||

imé turám marúto rāmayantīmé sáhaḥ sáhasa ấ namanti | imé śáṃsaṃ vanuṣyató ní pānti gurú dvéṣo áraruṣe dadhanti || 19||

imé radhrám cinmarúto junanti bhŕmim cidyáthā vásavo juṣánta | ápa bādhadhvam vṛṣaṇastámāṃsi dhattá víśvam tánayam tokámasmé || 20||

má vo dātránmaruto nírarāma má paścáddaghma rathyo vibhāgé | á na spārhé bhajatanā vasavye yádīṃ sujātáṃ vṛṣaṇo vo ásti || 21 ||

sám yáddhánanta manyúbhirjánāsah śűrā yahvíṣvóṣadhīṣu vikṣú | ádha smā no maruto rudriyāsas trātáro bhūta pṛtanāsvaryáh || 22|| 17. May *Marut*-s that are rendering service to us be gracious [to us],

[they,] giving mental space to both

well-fitted [together] Rodas-es.

May your killing cows, killing men deadly weapon be far away! May you, O beneficial ones, condescend to us

with benevolent thoughts!

18. Seated envoker of deva-s makes here offering to you again and again

extolling ever-turned [towards us]

willingness to give, O Marut-s!

Who is a guardian of so much, O bulls,

he, free from double-dealing, summons you with recited verses.

- 19. These here *Marut*-s stop what is pressing forward, these here subdue the force of overwhelming strength, these here protect the recitation of him who is eager to win; they effect prolonged aversion to the envious one.
- 20. These Marut-s inspire a meek one, as surely as they, O beneficial ones, would frequent an endeavoring one. Remove [mental] obscurations, O bulls, do effect for us every perpetuating family offspring.
- 21. May we not be deprived of your share, O Marut-s, may we not be the last at a distribution,
  O fighting from a chariot ones<sup>143</sup>!
  Make us partake in enviable wealth,
  whatever there is of good quality possessed by you, O bulls!
- 22. When through passions people shall clash together, [you,] agents of change in restless waters, in herbs, in tribesmen, may you moreover, O agreeable to *Rudra Marut*-s, become our protectors in battles, [you,] rising upwards.

<sup>143</sup> recruits

bhűri cakra marutah pítryāṇyukthắni yá vah śasyánte purá cit | marúdbhirugráh pṛtanāsu sáḍhā marúdbhirítsánitā vájamárvā || 23||

asmé vīró marutaḥ śuṣmyàstu jánānāṃ yó ásuro vidhartấ | apó yéna suksitáye táremấdha svámóko abhí vah syāma || 24 ||

tánna índro váruṇo mitró agnír ấpa óṣadhīrvaníno juṣanta | śármansyāma marútāmupásthe yūyáṃ pāta svastíbhiḥ sádā naḥ || 25||

- 23. O Marut-s, many times you carried out ancestral verses which were recited to you before with Marut-s a passionate one [becomes] a conqueror in battles, through Marut-s the steed<sup>144</sup> is procuring the rush of vigour.
- 24. May among us be a fiery valiant one, O *Marut*-s, who [is] a guiding spirit of men, maintainer of distinction, with whom we can cross waters to a good refuge then, [moving] towards own abode, we can be equal to you.
- 25. Since Indra, Varuna, Mitra, Agni
  having desire for waters and herbs
  shall frequent that our [abode],
  we can be in a shelter in the lap of Marut-s.
  You, [deva-s], do always protect us with [your] blessings!

In this hymn references to inner *Marut*-s and recruits are intertwined. Verses 4–6, 11, 13, 16 refer to recruits; verses 1–3, 7–10, 12, 14, 15, 17–25 refer to inner *Marut*-s. Footnotes indicate in unclear passages which *Marut*-s are referred to.

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{144}}Soma$ 

# RigVeda 7.57

mádhvo vo náma márutam yajatrāh prá yajñéṣu śávasā madanti | yé rejáyanti ródasī cidurví pínvantyútsam yádáyāsurugráh || 1||

nicetáro hí marúto gṛṇántaṃ praṇetáro yájamānasya mánma | asmấkamadyá vidátheṣu barhír ấ vītáye sadata pipriyāṇấh || 2||

náitávadanyé marúto yáthemé bhrájante rukmáiráyudhaistanúbhih | á ródasī viśvapíśaḥ piśānáḥ samānámañjyàñjate śubhé kám || 3||

ŕdhaksá vo maruto didyúdastu yádva ágah purusátā kárāma | má vastásyāmápi bhūmā yajatrā asmé vo astu sumatíścániṣṭhā || 4||

kṛté cidátra marúto raṇantānavadyắsaḥ śúcayaḥ pāvakắḥ | prá ṇo'vata sumatíbhiryajatrāḥ prá vấjebhistirata puṣyáse naḥ || 5||

utá stutáso marúto vyantu víśvebhirnámabhirnáro havíṃṣi | dádāta no amṛ́tasya prajáyai jigṛtá rāyáḥ sūnṛ́tā magháni || 6||

á stutáso maruto víśva ūtí áchā sūrínsarvátātā jigāta | yé nastmánā śatíno vardháyanti yūyáṃ pāta svastíbhiḥ sádā naḥ || 7|| 1. Of honey is your Marut-s' nature, O deserving a sacrifice ones! They exhilarate themselves at fire offerings

with the power to change

who make both two wide *Rodas*-es tremble, they cause the spring to swell

when the passionate ones<sup>145</sup> set out.

- 2. It is *Marut*-s who are noticing the singer who are guiding cogitation of [the] sacrificer. Today, do sit down on our sacrificial grass to enjoy during teaching sessions, [you,] self-gratifying ones.
- 3. Other *Marut*-s do not shine forth as much with [shining plates], weapons, bodies like these. Adorning both *Rodas*-es, adorning everything, they smear themselves with the same body-paints—just to reinforce [their companionship].
- 4. May your arrow, O *Marut*-s, be distinct [from other arrows] when, in human fashion, we commit a fault [against] you. May we not become engaged in such [fault] [against] you, O deserving a sacrifice ones,

may a very acceptable mental disposition towards you be in us!

5. In this matter, Marut-s shall be pleased

just with what was done:

[they,] irreproachable, pure, purifying.

Do comfort us with effective mental gestures,

O deserving a sacrifice ones,

by means of rushes of vigour

carry us across [so that we can] thrive.

6. And, eulogized, may *Marut-s*, by all characteristics — men, accept the oblations!

Give us immortality, to [our] children,

do watch over well-fitting gifts of the treasure.

7. All praised here, O *Marut*-s, in [your] totality approach institutors [of the sacrifice] with help [the institutors] which, counting in hundreds, really augmented our [troop].

You, [deva-s], always protect us with [your] blessings!

Verse 3 refers to recruits; verses 1, 2, 4–7 refer to inner Marut-s.

<sup>145</sup> recruits

# RigVeda 7.58

prá sākamúkṣe arcatā gaṇấya yó dáívyasya dhấmnastúviṣmān | utá kṣodanti ródasī mahitvấ nákṣante nákaṃ nírṛteravaṃśất || 1||

janúścidvo marutastvesyèna bhímāsastúvimanyavó'yāsaḥ | prá yé máhobhirójasotá sánti víśvo vo yámanbhayate svardŕk || 2||

brhádváyo maghávadbhyo dadhāta jújosannínmarútah sustutím nah | gató nádhvā ví tirāti jantúm prá na spārhábhirūtíbhistireta || 3||

yuṣmóto vípro marutaḥ śatasví yuṣmóto árvā sáhuriḥ sahasrí | yuṣmótaḥ samráḍutá hanti vṛtráṃ prá tádvo astu dhūtayo deṣṇám || 4||

tấṃ ấ rudrásya mīḍhúṣo vivāse kuvínnáṃsante marútaḥ púnarnaḥ | yátsasvártā jihīḍiré yádāvír áva tádéna īmahe turāṇām || 5||

prá sấ vāci suṣṭutírmaghónām idáṃ sūktáṃ marúto juṣanta | ārấcciddvéṣo vṛṣaṇo yuyota yūyáṃ pāta svastíbhiḥ sádā naḥ || 6||

- Ye shall praise in verses sprinkling-together troop which has the authority over the divine abode.
   They, growing mighty, shake both Rodas-es, [they,] reaching the vault [of the Heaven] from chaos<sup>146</sup>, from that which has no support.
- 2. Even the circumstances of your birth [were accompanied] by something terrifying,

O intimidating, very passionate, agile ones, who are in front through feelings of superiority and vigour. Every one who is beholding  $sv\grave{a}r$  is anxious during your procession.

3. They shall give extensive mental energy to munificent ones — *Marut*-s shall assuredly enjoy our beautiful hymn.

As a road that came to an end separates a creature [from where it came from],

[so] [that energy] can, with desirable side-effects, lead us on.

4. Having you as help, O Marut-s,

the inspired one has a hundred beautiful [hymns]; having you as help the steed<sup>147</sup> [is] victorious, leading to thousand [different things]; having you as help the sovereign [*Indra*] slays *Vṛtra*. May that gift of yours, O agitating ones, excel!

- 5. I wish to win these [sons] of liberal Rudra!
  Whether Marut-s would condescend to us again,
  what they vexed secretly or what openly —
  that fault we ask the pressing forward ones to [cast] off.
- 6. That beautiful praise of munificent ones shall be uttered so that *Marut*-s would enjoy this good speech.

  Even from afar, drive away the hostility, O bulls!

  You, [deva-s], always protect us with [your] blessings!

This hymn refers to inner *Marut*-s.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup>the chaos of social interactions and influences

 $<sup>^{147}</sup>Soma$ 

# RigVeda 7.59

druháh páśanpráti sá mucīsta

tápiṣṭhena hánmanā hantanā tám | 8|

yám trấyadhva idámidam dévāso yám ca náyatha tásmā agne váruņa mítrāryamanmárutah sárma yachata || 1 || yusmākam devā ávasāhani priyá ījānástarati dvísah prá sá ksáyam tirate ví mahíríso yó vo várāya dásati || 2|| nahí vaścaramám caná vásisthah parimámsate asmākamadyá marutah suté sácā víšve pibata kāmínah || 3|| nahí va ūtíh přtanāsu márdhati yásmā árādhvam narah abhí va ávartsumatírnávīyasī túyam yāta pipīṣavaḥ || 4|| ó sú ghrsvirādhaso yātánāndhāmsi pītáye imá vo havyá maruto raré hí kam mó svànyátra gantana || 5|| á ca no barhíh sádatāvitá ca na spārháni dátave vásu | ásredhanto marutah somyé mádhau sváhehá mādayādhvai || 6|| sasváściddhí tanvàh śúmbhamānā ā hamsāso nīlaprsthā apaptan vísvam sárdho abhíto mā ní seda náro ná ranváh sávane mádantah || 7|| yó no maruto abhí durhrnāyús tiráścittáni vasavo jíghāmsati |

- 1. Whom you cherish here-and-now, and whom, O deva-s, you guide for him, O Agni, Varuna, Mitra, Aryaman, Marut-s, extend the refuge!
- With your assistance, O deva-s, on a day that gladdens, he who has sacrificed crosses over conflicts.
   He crosses over to the abode who between potent libations worships your object of choice.
- 3. Since by no means Vasiṣṭha has imagined fully [all] of you, not even the ultimate one, let everyone present today at our [libation] of extracted [Soma], O Marut-s, who has a desire, drinks!
- 4. Surely your protection does not abandon in battles [him] to whom you granted [it], O men! The newest effective mental gesture has turned towards you — come quickly, O thirsty ones!
- 5. O you, whose accomplishment of one's desire is thrill-inducing, approach willingly the herbs for a drink!

  Since I have granted these oblations surely to you, O *Marut*-s, do not go somewhere else!
- 6. And [if] you sit on our sacrificial grass, then favor us to give desirable [things], [to place] what is beneficial, O unerring Marut-s, into containing Soma honey svāhā to cause here much exhilaration.
- 7. Since the blue-backed geese have flown here secretly reinforcing themselves, the whole flock sat down near me; agreeable like men, during the pressing they are exhilarating.
- 8. Who, seeking to enrage us, O Marut-s, intends despite the appearances to strike, O beneficial ones, may he free [himself] from the snares of spite, do strike him with a burning [with desire] blow!

```
sāmtapanā idám havírmárutastájjujustana
yusmákotí riśādasah | 9|
qr̃hamedhāsa ā́ qata máruto mấpa bhūtana |
yusmákotí sudānavah | 10||
ihéha vah svatavasah kávayah sūryatvacah
yajñám maruta á vrne || 11 ||
tryàmbakam yajāmahe sugándhim pustivárdhanam
urvārukámiva bándhanānmṛtyórmuksīya mấmŕtāt | 12|
```

9. O procuring through pining! This oblation, that one do enjoy, O Marut-s! Together with your help, O devouring gaps ones,

10. O essentially domestic ones, come here! O Marut-s, do not become absent

together with your help, O generous ones!

#### [Vasistha:]

11. Here-and-now to you, O self-strong ones, O poets of a sunburned one<sup>148</sup>,

I choose to sacrifice, O Marut-s!

#### [Recruits:]

12. We make a fire offering to him who has three mothers, fragrant, increasing prosperity one;

#### [Vasistha:]

may I free myself from death like cucumber from [its] stem, not from immortality!

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s. Verses 8–10 ask Marut-s to encourage a particular adversary to attack but to be themselves on the side of those who defend their existing or future homestead.

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{148}$  Rudra

# RigVeda 7.104.18

ví tiṣṭhadhvaṃ maruto vikṣvìcháta grbhāyáta rakṣásaḥ sáṃ pinaṣṭana | váyo yé bhūtví patáyanti naktábhir yé vā rípo dadhiré devé adhvaré || 18||

18. O Marut-s, do stay spread among tribes, seek, seize guarding [impulses], crush completely [those] that, having become birds, bring down [men] at nights, or those that have placed traps along the course of proceeding on its way [sacrifice].

This verse refers to inner Marut-s.

# RigVeda 8.7

```
prá yádvastristúbhamísam máruto vípro áksarat |
ví párvatesu rājatha | 1 |
yádangá tavisīyavo yámam subhrā ácidhvam
ní párvatā ahāsata || 2||
údīrayanta vāyúbhirvāśrāsah pṛśnimātarah
dhuksánta pipyúsīmísam || 3||
vápanti marúto míham prá vepayanti párvatān
yádyấmam yấnti vāyúbhiḥ | 4 | |
ní yádyámāya vo girírní síndhavo vídharmane
mahé súsmāya yemiré | 5|
yusmām u náktamūtáye yusmāndívā havāmahe
yuṣmā́nprayatyàdhvaré || 6||
údu tyé arunápsavaścitrá yámebhirīrate
v\bar{a}\acute{s}r\acute{a} ádhi ṣṇún\bar{a} diváḥ || 7||
srjánti raśmímójasā pánthām sűryāya yátave
té bhānúbhirví tasthire | | 8||
imám me maruto gíramimám stómamrbhuksanah |
imám me vanatā hávam || 9||
trīni sárāmsi prísnayo duduhré vajríne mádhu
utsam \ kavandhamudrinam \parallel 10 \parallel
máruto yáddha vo diváh sumnāyánto hávāmahe
\tilde{a} t\tilde{u} na \tilde{u}pa gantana \mid\mid 11\mid\mid
```

- 1. When an inspired one distilled for you, O *Marut*-s, a libation in *triṣtubh* meter, you shine forth among the knotty ones.
- 2. When, ho, O seeking power to control ones, you fixed your gaze on a course, O replenishing ones, the knotty ones gave way.
- 3. They, roaring, having *Pṛśni* for mother, shall excite by means of vital airs, they shall draw out a swelling libation.
- 4. Marut-s cast fog, quake the knotty ones, when they move along the course together with vital airs.
- 5. When the mountain [settle] for your movement, [and] rivers over the receptacle keep back for the sake of mighty fervor,
- 6. we summon you to help at night, you by day, you when a sacrifice that is to proceed on its way is commencing.
- 7. Those appearing to give a chance to move upwards do arise, attracting attention with [their] movements, roaring over the plateau of the Heaven.
- 8. With vigour they cast a ray of light the path for the sun to travel; through [differing] representations they have remained apart.
- 9. Do like this my song, O Marut-s, this my chant, O masters of Rbhu-s, this my call!
- 10. For him who is wielding a thunderbolt three pools the manifold ones have milked for honey: the spring<sup>149</sup>, the cask<sup>150</sup>, the well<sup>151</sup>.
- 11. O Marut-s, when indeed we, being in your graces, call you from the Heaven, then do visit us.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>the store of sexual vigour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup>the store of endorphins

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup>the store of sugars-base energy

```
yūyám hí sthá sudānavo rúdrā rbhuksano dáme
utá prácetaso máde | 12|
á no rayím madacyútam puruksúm viśvádhāyasam
íyartā maruto diváh | 13|
ádhīva yádgirīnām yāmam śubhrā ácidhvam
suv\bar{a}n\'{a}irmandadhva\'{i}ndubhi\.h || 14||
etāvataścidesām sumnám bhikseta mártyah
ad\bar{a}bhyasya\ manmabhih\ ||\ 15||
yé drapsá iva ródasī dhámantyánu vrstíbhih
útsam duhánto áksitam || 16||
údu svānébhirīrata údráthairúdu vāyúbhih
útstómaih pŕśnimātarah || 17||
yénāvá turvásam yádum yéna kánvam dhanaspŕtam
rāyé sú tásya dhīmahi || 18||
imá u vah sudanavo ghrtám ná pipyúsīrísah
várdhānkānvásya mánmabhih || 19||
kvà nūnám sudānavo mádathā vṛktabarhiṣaḥ |
brahm\acute{a}\ k\acute{o}\ va\dot{h}\ saparyati\ ||\ 20||
nahí sma yáddha vah purá stómebhirvrktabarhisah
śárdhāṃ̃ rtásya jínvatha || 21 ||
sámu tyé mahatírapáh sám ksoní sámu súryam
sám vájram parvasó dadhuh || 22||
ví vrtrám parvasó yayurví párvatām arājínah
cakrāṇā vṛṣṇi pauṃsyam || 23||
```

- 12. Since you, O generous ones,
  - O Rudra-s, O masters of Rbhu-s,

are at home and foresighted during intoxication,

- 13. reach for our sake, O *Marut*-s, oozing exhilaration, abundant, nourishing-all treasure from the Heaven!
- 14. You are intoxicated with effusing drops of pure Soma like [you, recruits, were] when you fixed your gaze on a course above, over the mountains, O replenishing ones!
- 15. A mortal can wish for benevolence of just such strong [troop] of these ones of free from deceit through cogitations.
- 16. Which are like drops they, milking inexhaustible spring, blow over both *Rodas*-es with rains.
- 17. They rise upwards with roars, upwards with chariots, upwards with vital airs upwards with chants, they, whose mother is *Prsni*.
- 18. With what you helped *Turvaśa* [and] *Yadu*, with what [you helped] *Kaṇva* who carried away the prize may we well take pleasure in the riches of that!
- 19. Like ghee [strengthens fire], these here swelling libations together with cogitations of *Kanva* descendant will strengthen you, O generous ones!
- 20. Where are you, O generous ones, exhilarating now, O you whose ritual grass has been twisted! Which learned priest honors you?
- 21. Surely it is not for you as it was before with chants, O you<sup>152</sup> whose ritual grass has been twisted, you urge on swarms of coherence<sup>153</sup>.
- 22. These have put together mighty waters, together Heaven and Earth, together the sun<sup>154</sup>, together the thunderbolt — limb-by-limb.
- 23. Limb-by-limb they parted ways with *Vṛṭra*, with lacking splendor knotty ones, accomplishing [thus] bullish manly deed.

<sup>152</sup> recruits

 $<sup>^{153}</sup>rta$ 

 $<sup>^{154}</sup>manip\bar{u}ra$  cakra

ánu tritásya yúdhyatah súsmamāvannutá krátum ánvíndram vrtratúrye || 24 || vidyúddhastā abhídyavah síprāh sīrsánhiranyáyīh śubhrấ vyàñjata śriyé || 25|| uśánā yátparāváta ukṣṇó rándhramáyātana | dyaurná cakradadbhiyá | 26 | á no makhásya dāváné'svairhíranyapānibhih  $d\acute{e}v\bar{a}sa\ \acute{u}pa\ gantana\ ||\ 27||$ yádesām přsatī ráthe prástirváhati róhitah yấnti subhrấ rinánnapáh || 28|| susóme saryanávatyārjīké pastyàvati yayúrnícakrayā nárah | 29 | kadā gachātha maruta itthā vípram hávamānam  $m\bar{a}rd\bar{\imath}k\acute{e}bhirn\acute{a}dham\bar{a}nam \mid\mid 30\mid\mid$ káddha nūnám kadhapriyo yádíndramájahātana | kó vah sakhitvá ohate | 31 | sahó sú no vájrahastaih kánvāso agním marúdbhih | stusé híranyavāśībhih | | 32||

- 24. They boosted the fervor and resourcefulness of fighting *Trita*, [they boosted] *Indra* during show of force with *Vrtra*.
- 25. Having lightning in hands, aiming at the Heaven, golden visors on the head, beautifying [yourselves], you shall smear yourselves distinctly for a good fortune.
- 26. When with a desire you traveled from afar to the [bodily] opening of a bull the Heaven didn't roar from fear.
- 27. Here, to give us [a gift] of fighting spirit, O deva-s, come near with horses whose forefeet are golden!
- 28. When dappled mares of these [Marut-s] [are yoked] to the chariot, [and] reddish one <sup>155</sup>, being in front, conveys, [and] beautifying [themselves] ones journey [and] release the waters,
- 29. [then] in abounding with Soma Śaryaṇāvat, in offering-fixed-habitation  $\bar{A}rj\bar{\imath}ka$ , the men<sup>156</sup> travel without wheels.
- 30. When would you, O *Marut*-s, approach inspired [by you], calling upon [you] seeking help in [your] mercy [man]?
- 31. What now, O ever dear ones, when you abandoned *Indra?*Who, being friends with you, does deliberate?
- 32. Presently, together with [those<sup>157</sup>] having thunderbolt in hands, for our sake, O *Kanva* descendants, I praise *Agni* together with having golden pointed knives *Marut*-s.

<sup>156</sup>recruits

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{15}}{^5}Agni$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>recruits

ó sú vṛṣṇaḥ práyajyūnā návyase suvitāya |
vavṛtyāṃ citrávājān || 33||
giráyaścinní jihate párśānāso mányamānāḥ |
párvatāścinní yemire || 34||
ákṣṇayắvāno vahantyantárikṣeṇa pátataḥ |
dhắtāra stuvaté váyaḥ || 35||
agnírhí jāni pūrvyáśchándo ná sūro arcíṣā |
té bhānúbhirví tasthire || 36||

- 33. To seeking the first of [a] sacrifice bulls, again and again I can rightly turn to for an easy passage, [to them] whose rushes of vigour are distinguished.
- 34. Even mountains retract, being imagined as embracing; even knotty ones has kept back:
- 35. riding by an eye,
  flying through the intermediate space,
  mediators convey here mental energy for a praiser.
- 36. Since *Agni*, enticing like he who vivifies with lustre, was born first, they have remained apart through representations.

Verses 1, 2, 14bc, 21–24, 29, 32 refer to recruits; verses 3–13, 14a, 15–20, 25–28, 30, 31, 33–36 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

The expression "they cast a ray of light — the path for the sun to travel" as that "they indicate with a flash of insight a direction for the troop to travel the coming day".

# RigVeda 8.20

```
á gantā mā risanyata prásthāvāno māpa sthātā samanyavaḥ |
sthirā cinnamayiṣṇavaḥ || 1||
vīdupavíbhirmaruta rbhuksana á rudrāsah sudītíbhih
iṣā́ no adyā́ gatā purusprho yajñámā́ sobharīyávaḥ || 2||
vidmā hí rudríyāṇām śúṣmamugrám marútām śímīvatām |
vísnoresásya mīdhúsām || 3||
ví dvīpāni pāpatantísthadduchúnobhé yujanta ródasī
prá dhánvānyairata śubhrakhādayo yádéjatha svabhānavaḥ | 4 ||
ácyutā cidvo ájmannā nānadati párvatāso vánaspátih
bhūmiryāmesu rejate | 5|
ámāya vo maruto yātave dyaurjihīta úttarā brhát
yátrā náro dédisate tanū́svā́ tvákṣāṃsi bāhvòjasaḥ || 6||
svadhāmánu śríyam náro máhi tvesā ámavanto vṛṣapsavaḥ
váhante áhrutapsavah || 7||
qóbhirvānó ajyate sóbharīnām ráthe kóśe hiranyáye
góbandhavah sujātāsa iṣé bhujé mahānto na spárase nú | 8|
```

- 1. Come here, do not fail!
  - Having some basis, you shall not remain away,
    - O impassioned ones,
  - O capable of bending even resolute [minds<sup>158</sup>]!
- 2. By means of having firm (?) wheel-rims [chariots], O Marut-s, masters of Rbhu-s,
  - here, O *Rudra*-s, with well-illuminating [thoughts<sup>159</sup>] by means of our libation, come here today, O much-desired ones, near to the sacrifice, [you,] attracting *Sobhari*-s,
- 3. since we know ferocious fervor of agreeable to *Rudra*, laboring, giving generously *Marut*-s, of hastening *Viṣṇu*.
- 4. [If] islands were to keep flying apart [and] misfortune remains, [then] they<sup>160</sup> shall yoke both *Rodas*-es.
  Bows came forth, O having enhancing bracers, when you stirred [them both], O appearing directly!
- 5. During your passage  $V\acute{a}nasp\acute{a}ti^{161}$  keeps howling; even [things that are] not-to-be-abandoned, O rugged ones, [and] the Earth tremble during [your] movements.
- 6. For your forcefulness to recede, O Marut-s, the Heaven withdraws to ultimate [things], far and wide, wherever men<sup>162</sup> exhibit again and again in [their] bodies the energies of the very vigorous one<sup>163</sup>.
- 7. Through [their] inherent disposition men, causing fear in a high degree, forceful, having appearance of bulls, bear along good fortune [they] of straight appearance.
- 8. The music of *Sobhari*-s' is smeared with poetic expressions. On a chariot in the golden subtle body, they, associated through words, well-born, [come] to engage in libation they, mighty to extricate us for sure [from troubles].

 $<sup>^{158}</sup> manasaṃsi$ 

 $<sup>^{159}\,</sup>man mabh is$ 

 $<sup>^{160}</sup>$ recruits

 $<sup>^{161}</sup>$ Soma

 $<sup>^{162}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup>prob. *Indra* 

```
práti vo vrsadañjayo vŕsne sárdhāya mấrutāya bharadhvam
havyấ vṛṣaprayāvṇe | 9|
vṛṣanaśvéna maruto vṛṣapsunā ráthena vṛṣanābhinā |
á syenáso ná paksíno vŕtha naro havyá no vitáye gata | 10|
samānámañjyèsām ví bhrājante rukmāso ádhi bāhúsu
dávidyutatyrstáyah || 11 ||
tá ugráso vŕsana ugrábāhavo nákistanúsu yetire
sthirā dhánvānyāyudhā ráthesu vó'nīkesvádhi śríyah | 12|
yéṣāmárṇo ná saprátho nấma tveṣáṃ śáśvatāmékamídbhujé |
váyo ná pítryam sáhah || 13||
tánvandasva marútastám úpa stuhi tésām hí dhúnīnām
arấṇām ná caramástádeṣām dānấ mahnấ tádeṣām || 14||
subhágah sá va ūtísvása púrvāsu maruto vyùstisu
yó vā nūnámutásati || 15||
yásya vā yūyám práti vājíno nara ā havyā vītáye gathá
abhí sá dyumnáirutá vájasātibhiḥ sumná vo dhūtayo nasat || 16||
yáthā rudrásya sūnávo divó vásantyásurasya vedhásah |
y\'uv\bar{a}nast\'ath\'edasat || 17||
yé cấrhanti marútah sudấnavah smánmīdhúsaścáranti yé |
átaścidā na úpa vásyasā hrdā yúvāna ā vavrdhvam | 18|
```

- 9. O having the body-paint of the raining one!
  Do bring oblations to your impregnating,
  having *Marut*-s' trait, having bull for a leader swarm.
- 10. By means of the chariot, O Marut-s, with bullish horse that looks like bull, that has a bull as the origin, approach here to feast on our oblations, like winged hawks — wantonly.
- 11. Their body-paint is the same, shining [plates] glitter on [their] arms, spears keep flashing.
- 12. They, violent bulls,seek to associate with no one among persons [here].[Your] bows [are] firm, weapons [are] on your chariots,graces [are] in [your] looks.
- 13. Of many [strengths]

whose nature is vehement like an extensive flood [there is] just one to make use of — the overwhelming strength [that is] like the mental vigour coming from [a] father.

- 14. Do homage to those <sup>164</sup> Marut-s, thou invoke those, since of those boisterous ones there is no last as of spokes; that [is] of these the gifts through power that is of these.
- 15. He is very fortunate [who] has been under your protections, O Marut-s, during past breaks of day, or who is now, really,
- 16. or whose oblations, O men, you approach here to enjoy in connection with possessing the rush of vigour [Soma] he, shall attain your, O agitating ones, blessings along with illuminating, bestowing rush of vigour [drops of Soma].
- 17. As sons of *Rudra* from the Heaven, adepts of the *asura*, wish, so, O youths, it shall be!
- 18. And which generous *Marut*-s merit [Soma], which together effect liberal [attitudes], with a heart better than even this, O youths, do turn to our side!

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup>"of straight appearance" see verse 7.

```
yắna \bar{u} sử návisthay\bar{a} vý<br/>ṣṇah p\bar{a}vakắ\tilde{m} abhí sobhare gir<br/>ấ|
gấya gấ iva cárkṛṣat || 19||
sāhā yé sánti mustihéva hávyo vísvāsu prtsú hótrsu |
vṛṣṇaścandrānná suśrávastamāngirā vándasva marúto áha || 20 ||
gāvaścidghā samanyavah sajātyèna marutaḥ sábandhavaḥ |
rihaté kakúbho mitháh || 21 ||
mártaścidvo nrtavo rukmavaksasa úpa bhrātrtvámāyati
ádhi no gāta marutah sádā hí va āpitvámásti nídhruvi || 22||
máruto márutasya na á bhesajásya vahatā sudānavah
y\bar{u}y\acute{a}m \ sakh\bar{a}yah \ saptayah \mid\mid 23\mid\mid
yābhih síndhumávatha yābhistūrvatha yābhirdasasyáthā krívim
máyo no bhūtotíbhirmayobhuvaḥ śivābhirasacadviṣaḥ || 24 ||
yátsíndhau yádásiknyām yátsamudrésu marutah subarhisah |
yátpárvatesu bhesajám || 25 ||
vísvam pásyanto bibhrthā tanūsvā tenā no ádhi vocata
kṣamā́ rápo maruta ā́turasya na íṣkartā víhrutam púnaḥ || 26||
```

- 19. With the newest chant, O *Sobhari*, enchant well purifiers<sup>165</sup> of the young bull [Soma] like plowman [enchants his] oxen.
- 20. Which are overpowering [those are to be called] among envokers of deva-s like a fist-fighter is to be called upon in all battles. Certainly do homage to Marut-s with a chant the bulls radiant as if abounding in glory.
- 21. Even bulls indeed, O impassioned ones<sup>166</sup>, related through being of the same family , O *Marut-s*, lick a [salt]-cone alternately.
- 22. Even a mortal, O dancing, having shining breast-plate ones<sup>167</sup>, enters for your<sup>168</sup> sake into semblance of brotherhood. O Marut-s, always come over us,
  - since alliance for your sake is enduring.
- 23. O generous *Marut*-s, convey to us [some] of having *Marut*-s' trait charm, you, O companions [and] coursers!
- 24. With what you refresh *Sindhu*, with what overpower, with what you render service to the flesh, with [those] benevolent means of helping,

O hostile to not-associated ones, become for us a counterbalance.

O becoming a counterbalance ones!

- 25. What charm in *Sindhu*, what in *Asiknī*, what in the seas, O well[-seated] on sacrificial grass *Marut*-s, what in the knotty ones,
- 26. you, beholding all, carry among yourselves with that speak in our favor.By [providing firm] ground set back in order crooked infirmity of the suffering one of us!

Verses 4, 9, 11-13 refer to recruits; verses 1-3, 5-8, 10, 14-18, 20-26 refer to inner *Marut*-s.

 $<sup>^{165}</sup>$ recruits

 $<sup>^{166}</sup>$ recruits

<sup>167</sup> recruits

<sup>168</sup> inner Marut-s'

# RigVeda~8.27

agnírukthé puróhito grávāṇo barhíradhvaré   rcá yāmi marúto bráhmaṇaspátiṃ deváṃ̃ ávo váreṇyam    1
á paśúṃ gāsi pṛthivīṃ vánaspátīnuṣā́sā náktamóṣadhīḥ   víśve ca no vasavo viśvavedaso dhīnāṃ bhūta prāvitāraḥ    2
prá sű na etvadhvarò'gná devésu pūrvyáḥ   ādityésu prá váruṇe dhṛtávrate marútsu viśvábhānuṣu    3
víśve hí ṣmā mánave viśvávedaso bhúvanvṛdhé riśādasaḥ   áriṣṭebhiḥ pāyúbhirviśvavedaso yántā no'vṛkáṃ chardíḥ    4
á no adyá sámanaso gántā víśve sajóṣasaḥ   rcá girá máruto dévyádite sádane pástye mahi    5
abhí priyá maruto yá vo ásvyā havyá mitra prayāthána   á barhíríndro váruṇasturá nára ādityásaḥ sadantu naḥ    6
vayáṃ vo vṛktábarhiṣo hitáprayasa ānuṣák   sutásomāso varuṇa havāmahe manuṣvádiddhā́gnayaḥ    7
á prá yāta máruto víṣṇo áśvinā púṣanmấkīnayā dhiyá   índra á yātu prathamáḥ saniṣyúbhirvṛṣā yó vṛtrahá gṛṇé    8
ví no devāso adruhó'chidraṃ śárma yachata   ná yáddūrādvasavo nữ cidántito várūthamādadhárṣati    9

- In a recited verse Agni [is] placed in front, singers, sacrificial grass — at proceeding on its way [sacrifice].
   With stanza I approach Marut-s, the master of sacred formula, deva-s — the assistance to be chosen.
- 2. I shall sing through dawn [and] night to the beasts, to the Earth, to big trees, to herbs, and may all, O beneficial ones, O known to everyone, become for us patrons of visions!
- 3. May our proceeding on its way [sacrifice], [being] ancient, go forth rightly to Agni among deva-s, among Āditya-s, forth to Varuṇa whose realm is maintained, to appearing to everyone Marut-s.
- 4. Since all [of you], known to everyone, for an intelligent man shall become devouring gaps<sup>169</sup> in order to strengthen [him], by means of undamaged guards, O known to everyone, do stretch for us non-tearing fence.
- 5. Come to us today through stanza, through song being of the same mind, all acting in harmony with each other, O Marut-s, O devī Aditi, to [this] seat, O mighty Pastyā!
- 6. Towards those that dear to you, O Marut-s, consisting of horses<sup>170</sup> oblations, O Mitra, you repair. May Indra, Varuna, pressing forward men, Āditya-s, sit on our sacrificial grass!
- 7. We call you, whose ritual grass has been twisted, whose pleasure is arranged, one after another [we,] having pressed Soma, O Varuṇa, having kindled the fire as is men's custom.
- 8. Journey here, O Marut-s, Viṣṇu, Aśvin-s, O Pūṣan, by means of my vision! May Indra travel here first with them who are eager for booty, the bull who is extolled as the one who slays vrtra-s.
- Spread out for us, O deva-s, being free from malice, shelter that is free from flaws, a secure abode which no one would dare to attack not from afar, O beneficial ones, nor from close-by.

 $^{170}$ =rhythms

 $<sup>^{169}\</sup>mathrm{areas}$  of very low self-esteem; lack of particular skills

```
ásti hí vah sajātyàm riśādaso dévāso ástyāpyam
prá nah púrvasmai suvitáya vocata makṣū́ sumnāya návyase | 10|
idá hí va úpastutimidá vāmásya bhaktáye |
úpa vo viśvavedaso namasyúrām̃ ásrkṣyányāmiva || 11 ||
údu şyá vah savitá supraṇītayó'sthādūrdhvó váreṇyah
ní dvipādaścátuspādo arthínó'viśranpatayisnávah || 12||
devámdevam vó'vase devámdevamabhístaye
devámdevam huvema vájasātaye grnánto devyá dhiyá || 13||
deváso hí sma mánave sámanyavo vísve sakám sáratayah
té no adyá té aparám tucé tú no bhávantu varivovídah | 14 |
prá vah šamsāmyadruhah samsthá úpastutīnām
ná tám dhūrtírvaruna mitra mártyam
yó vo dhấmabhyó'vidhat || 15||
prá sá ksáyam tirate ví mahíríso yó vo várāya dásati
prá prajábhirjāyate dhármanaspáryáristah sárva edhate || 16||
rté sá vindate yudháh sugébhiryātyádhvanah
aryamā mitró váruņah sárātayo yám trāyante sajóṣasah | 17|
```

- 10. Since there is a brotherhood for your sake, O devouring gaps, there is an alliance, O deva-s, commend us for an easy initial passage, [and,] promptly, for a new blessing,
- 11. because today I, doing homage, poured out like an inexhaustible [river its waters] a praise for your<sup>171</sup> sake, today — for a share wealth towards you, O known to everyone!
- 12. That your, O following good guidance [worshipers], impeller<sup>172</sup> tending upwards, to be wished for, took position above.

Down [there] two-footed, four-footed of him who has a purpose settled, [they,] liable to fall.

- 13. We, extolling divine powers with a visualization, can summon deva-after-deva to protect [you], deva-after-deva to assist you<sup>173</sup>, deva-after-deva to obtain the rush of vigour.
- 14. Since deva-s [are] impassioned for the sake of an intelligent man, all together have willingness to give, may they find for us now, [and] in future [may] they [find] for our offsprings mental space.
- 15. I foretell [this] of you, O free from malice ones, midst the praises: no harm [shall befall] that mortal, O Varuṇa, O Mitra, who worshiped you with the [seven] abodes.
- 16. He crosses over to the abode who between potent libations worships your object of choice.
  Through offsprings he is born according to customs.
  Uninjured, whole he thrives.
- 17. Whom willing to give Aryaman, Mitra, Varuṇa protect in accord with each other in harmony he partakes of combat, by easy trails he comes to leading to the goal roads.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup>worshipers

 $<sup>^{172}</sup> Soma \\$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup>worshipers

ájre cidasmai kṛṇuthā nyáñcanaṃ durgé cidấ susaraṇám | eṣấ cidasmādaśániḥ paró nú sắsredhantī ví naśyatu || 18||
yádadyá sắrya udyatí príyakṣatrā rtáṃ dadhá |
yánnimrúci prabúdhi viśvavedaso yádvā madhyáṃdine diváḥ || 19||
yádvābhipitvé asurā rtáṃ yaté chardíryemá ví dāśúṣe |
vayáṃ tádvo vasavo viśvavedasa úpa stheyāma mádhya ấ || 20||
yádadyá sắra údite yánmadhyáṃdina ātúci |
vāmáṃ dhatthá mánave viśvavedaso júhvānāya prácetase || 21||
vayáṃ tádvaḥ samrāja ấ vṛṇāmahe putró ná bahupáyyam |
aśyắma tádādityā júhvato havíryéna vásyo'náśāmahai || 22||

- 18. Even on a plain you create for such one a hiding place, in an impassable [spot] an egress.
  May even this unerring flash of lightning [that is] still in the future, discharge for him.
- 19. When today, the sun at rising,
  O ruling-in-way-that-gladdens ones,
  you have effected coherence;
  when at setting down, or when at the midday
  in a wakeful one, O known to everyone,
- 20. or when at the nightfall, O asura-s, you have extended the fence for the sake of a worshiper who moves towards rta, then we could, O beneficial, known to everyone, to expose ourselves to you in the in-between [state] 174.
- 21. What wealth today at risen up sun, what at midday, at growing dusk you, O known to everyone, effect for an intelligent, making oblations, foresighted [man],
- 22. that your [gift] we prefer, O sovereigns, like a child [prefers] that which is to be drunk much; we, pouring an oblation, can obtain that, O  $\bar{A}$  ditya-s, with which we would gain what is better.

This hymn refers to inner *Marut-s*.

 $<sup>^{174}</sup>$ the state between sleep and wakefulness

### RigVeda 8.94

```
gaúrdhayati marútām śravasyúrmātā maghónām
yukt\bar{a} v\acute{a}hn\bar{\imath} r\acute{a}th\bar{a}n\bar{a}m \mid\mid 1\mid\mid
yásyā devá upásthe vratá víšve dhāráyante |
súryāmásā dṛśé kám || 2||
tátsú no vísve aryá á sádā grnanti kārávah
mar utah s o map \overline{\imath} taye \parallel 3 \parallel
ásti sómo ayám sutáh píbantyasya marútah
utá svarájo aśvínā | 4|
píbanti mitró aryamá tána pūtásya várunah
trisadhasthásya jávatah || 5||
utó nvasya jósamám índrah sutásya gómatah |
prātárhóteva matsati || 6||
kádatvisanta sūráyastirá ápa iva srídhah
árṣanti pūtádakṣasaḥ || 7||
kádvo adyá mahánām devánāmávo vrne
tm\'an\bar{a}\ ca\ dasm\'avarcas\bar{a}m\ ||\ 8||
á yé vísvā párthivāni papráthanrocaná diváh
mar utah s o map \overline{t} taye \parallel 9 \parallel
tyấnnú pūtádakṣaso divó vo maruto huve |
asyá sómasya pītáye | 10|
tyánnú yé ví ródasī tastabhúrmarúto huve
asyá sómasya pītáye | 11 |
tyám nú márutam ganám giristhám vŕsanam huve
asyá sómasya pītáye || 12||
```

- The cow of Marut-s takes a suck —
   [she,] seeking auditory impression mother of munificent ones,
   [she] yoked as a draft-horse of chariots,
- 2. [she,] in whose lap all deva-s make their realms maintained [for us] to behold the sun and the moon.
- 3. That much<sup>175</sup> all of us [get] from him who tends upwards<sup>176</sup>. Singers of eulogies always extol *Marut*-s for a draught of *Soma*.
- This Soma is pressed, Marut-s drink it and sovereigns [too, and] two Aśvin-s.
- Mitra, Aryaman, Varuna continuously drink the purified one<sup>177</sup> that has three abodes [and] is accompanied by offsprings.
- 6. And also *Indra* [drinks] to his satisfaction this pressed out, rich in cows one<sup>178</sup>, so that at daybreak he becomes exhilarated like envoker of *deva*-s [does].
- 7. Have the patrons become violently agitated? They, [who are] of refined mental power, glide past failings like waters.
- 8. What your favor do I choose today, [yours,] having extraordinary illuminating power mighty deva-s'?
- 9. [Them] who have disclosed all terrestrial [realms] [and] luminous spheres of the Heaven *Marut-s* [I call out] for a draught of Soma.
- 10. Just those of you, O *Marut-s* of refined mental power I summon from the Heaven to drink this Soma.
- 11. Just those *Marut-s*who fixed the two *Rodas*-es apart
  I summon to drink this *Soma*.

 $<sup>^{175}</sup>$ an auditory impression

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup>that is, the inner Soma

 $<sup>^{177}</sup>Soma$ 

 $<sup>^{178}</sup>Soma$ 

12. Just that having *Marut-s'* trait troop — staying on the mountain, impregnating — I summon to drink this *Soma*.

This hymn refers to inner Marut-s.

# RigVeda 8.96.5–10

á yádvájram bāhvórindra dhátse madacyútamáhaye hántavá u | prá párvatā ánavanta prá gávaḥ prá brahmáṇo abhinákṣanta índram || 5||

támu stavāma yá imá jajána víśvā jātányávarāṇyasmāt | índreṇa mitráṃ didhiṣema gīrbhír úpo námobhirvṛṣabháṃ viśema || 6||

vṛtrásya tvā śvasáthādīṣamāṇā víśve devá ajahuryé sákhāyaḥ | marúdbhirindra sakhyáṃ te astváthemá víśvāḥ pṛtanā jayāsi || 7||

tríh sastístvā marúto vāvṛdhānấ usrấ iva rāśáyo yajñíyāsaḥ | úpa tvémah kṛdhí no bhāgadhéyaṃ śúṣmaṃ ta enấ havíṣā vidhema || 8||

tigmámáyudham marútāmánīkam kásta indra práti vájram dadharṣa | anāyudháso ásurā adeváś cakréṇa tấṃ ápa vapa ṛjīṣin || 9||

mahá ugráya taváse suvrktím préraya śivátamāya paśváh | gírvāhase gíra índrāya pūrvír dhehí tanvè kuvídangá védat || 10||

- 5. When you, O *Indra*, put into arms oozing exhilaration thunderbolt to really strike at the snake, knotty ones, cows bellowed, then learned priests approach *Indra*.
- 6. We shall extol him who gave existence to all these lower creatures from this. We would like to effect an alliance with *Indra* by means of chants, and by means of adorations we might enter resembling-bull one.
- 7. Escaping from *Vṛṭra*'s hissing all *deva*-s who were companions abandoned you. May there be your friendship with *Marut*-s, O *Indra*, then you [will] win all these battles!
- 8. Thrice sixty Marut-s [have] strengthened thee, like multitudes [of them strengthen] worthy of sacrifice morning lights.

  We devote ourselves to thee, make a share due to us, we worship your fervor here with an oblation.
- 9. Scorching weapon is the appearance of *Marut*-s. What did [ever] rivaled your thunderbolt?

  Unarmed [are] *asura*-s who are not *deva*-s —
  scatter them with the discus, O receiving *Soma* residue one!
- 10. To mighty, ferocious, strong one [present] a well-twisted [verse], stimulate the brutes<sup>179</sup> for the sake of the most auspicious one; to him to who is conveyed by songs, to *Indra*, present many songs to his self would he then notice?

Verses 8–10 refer to recruits; verse 7 refers to inner Marut-s.

<sup>179</sup> recruits

# RigVeda 10.77

abhraprúṣo ná vācā pruṣā vásu havíṣmanto ná yajñā vijānúṣaḥ | sumārutaṃ ná brahmāṇamarháse gaṇāmastoṣyeṣāṃ ná śobháse || 1 ||

śriyé máryāso añjíṃ̃rakṛṇvata sumárutaṃ ná pūrvíráti kṣápaḥ | divásputrása étā ná yetira ādityásasté akrá ná vāvṛdhuḥ || 2||

prá yé diváh prthivyá ná barhánā tmánā riricré abhránná sűryah | pájasvanto ná vīráh panasyávo riśádaso ná máryā abhídyavah || 3||

yuṣmākaṃ budhné apāṃ ná yāmani vithuryáti ná mahī śratharyáti | viśvápsuryajñó arvāgayáṃ sú vaḥ práyasvanto ná satrāca á gata || 4||

yūyám dhūrṣú prayújo ná raśmíbhir jyótiṣmanto ná bhāsā vyùṣṭiṣu | śyenāso ná sváyaśaso riśādasaḥ pravāso ná prásitāsaḥ pariprúṣaḥ || 5||

prá yádváhadhve marutah parākād yūyáṃ maháh saṃváraṇasya vásvah | vidānāso vasavo rādhyasyārāccid dvéṣaḥ sanutáryuyota || 6|| 1. Since like clouds sprinkling rain

I sprinkle a benefit by means of speech as having burnt oblations sacrifices of him who knows [do] as if to be worthy

of well provided with Marut-s' trait formulator I praised a troop of these<sup>180</sup> as if to reinforce [them].

2. For auspiciousness recruits put on body-paints as if [making the formulator] well provided for many nights with *Marut*-s' trait.

Sons [of Rudra] from the Heaven array themselves like antelopes, those  $\bar{A}$  ditya-s have become animated like banners.

- 3. Who [are] by themselves pulling out of the Heaven as surely as out of the Earth like the sun parts with a cloud, [they,] like brilliant valiant ones, [are] evoking admiration, like devouring gaps recruits [they are] aiming at the Heaven.
- 4. On your ground [it is] like during procession of [inner] waters the mighty [Pr s n i] loosens [a man] as if he stumbles. Apparent-to-all sacrifice [is] coming hither. It is really to you. As those who are offering libations — come here together.
- 5. You are as if connected with cords to chariot-poles as if shining with a ray of light at day-breaks. Self-glorious like hawks [you are] devouring gaps ones, as fluttering taking-off [water birds] [you are] splashing [waters].
- 6. When you drive onward, O Marut-s, at a distance, you [come as those who] know of a great stash of wealth to be obtained, O beneficent ones! Even far off [from that stash] keep away the hostility<sup>181</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup>the hostility between worshipers due to anticipated booty

yá udŕci yajñé adhvaresthá marúdbhyo ná mánuso dádāśat | revátsá váyo dadhate suvíram sá devánāmápi gopīthé astu || 7||

té hí yajñéṣu yajñíyāsa ấmā ādityéna nấmnā śámbhaviṣṭhāḥ | té no'vantu rathatűrmanīṣấṃ maháśca yấmannadhvaré cakānấḥ || 8||

- 7. Who remains on course of a proceeding sacrifice when a chant is raised during fire offering as a human shall worship Marut-s he obtains abundant manly mental vigour, he, moreover, shall be under the protection of deva-s.
- 8. Since during fire offerings they are worthy of a sacrifice helpers through  $\bar{A}ditya$  nature [they are] the best at granting well-being. May they, bypassing chariots, bring to us the right conception and quickly, during [their] procession, being satisfied with proceeding on it way sacrifice.

Verse 2ab refers to recruits; verses 1, 2cd, 3–8 refer to inner Marut-s.

### RigVeda 10.78

víprāso ná mánmabhih svādhyò devāvyò ná yajñáih svápnasah | rájāno ná citráh susaṃdŕśah kṣitīnấṃ ná máryā arepásah || 1 ||

agnírná yé bhrájasā rukmávakṣaso vấtāso ná svayújah sadyá ūtayah | prajñātáro ná jyéṣṭhāḥ sunītáyaḥ suśármāṇo ná sómā ṛtáṃ yaté || 2||

vắtāso ná yé dhúnayo jigatnávo'gnīnām ná jihvā virokíṇaḥ | vármaṇvanto ná yodhāḥ śímīvantaḥ pitṛṇāṃ ná śáṃsāḥ surātáyaḥ || 3||

ráthānāṃ ná yè'rāḥ sánābhayo
jigīvāṃso ná śū́rā abhídyavaḥ |
vareyávo ná máryā ghṛtaprúṣo'bhisvartāro
arkáṃ ná suṣṭúbhaḥ || 4||

áśvāso ná yé jyésthāsa āśávo didhiṣávo ná rathyàḥ sudắnavaḥ | ắpo ná nimnáirudábhirjigatnávo viśvárūpā áṅgiraso ná sắmabhiḥ || 5||

grávāṇo ná sūráyaḥ síndhumātara ādardiráso ádrayo ná viśváhā | śiśúlā ná krīḍáyaḥ sumātáro mahāgrāmó ná yámannutá tviṣā || 6||

uṣásāṃ ná ketávo'dhvaraśríyaḥ śubhaṃyávo nấñjíbhirvyàśvitan | síndhavo ná yayíyo bhrấjadṛṣṭayaḥ parāváto ná yójanāni mamire || 7||

subhāgānno devāḥ kṛṇutā surátnān asmānstotṛ́nmaruto vāvṛdhānāḥ | ádhi stotrásya sakhyásya gāta sanāddhí vo ratnadhéyāni sánti || 8||

- 1. Like cogitations of inspired ones heedful, as if rousing deva-s with sacrifices — well off, like attracting attention chiefs — fair to see, like recruits from settlements — faultless:
- 2. who are like fire because of the flashing having shining breast-plates, like self-engaging winds — assisting instantly;

like thinking ahead elders — guiding well,

like providing good refuge drops of Soma for him who moves towards rta;

- 3. who are like winds noisy, volatile, like flames of fires — putting emphasis, like having armour warriors — effective, like recitations of ancestors — rich in gifts.
- 4. Who are like spokes of chariots have a nave, like agents of change who have won — aiming at the Heaven, like wooing rookies — sprinkling ghee,

like intoners of a hymn — well-paced.

- 5. Who are swift like the best horses, generous — like those wishing to obtain charioteers, volatile — like waters [flowing] in a wave through depressions, able to assume any form as if with chants of Aigiras.
- 6. As singers [who are] patrons, [they are] having Sindhu for a mother,

crushing as rocks — always,

like playful little children — having a good mother, like a big village in a procession

[are accompanied] by agitation.

7. As banners of dawns they are auspicious signs of sacrifices; as if seeking reinforcement,

they colored themselves with body paints; coursing like rivers, they, having gleaming spears,

meted out engagements as distances [to travel].

8. O deva-s, make us fortunate good charioteers, O Marut-s, strengthening us, singers of hymns. Do remember [this] hymn of praise, [this] fellowship since from of old distributions of riches by you do exist.

Verses 2, 3, 6, 7 refer to recruits; verses 1, 5, 8 refer to inner Marut-s.



Presented in this book part of Rgveda contains, excluding pronouns, prepositions, and particles, 5512 words. The vocabulary lists in 447 entries the most frequent 182 words in these verses. All words (other then pronouns, particles and prepositions) that occur three or more times and a few less frequent ones are included. Words are arranged into semantic Marut-hymns-usage related groups. Alphabetical index is given on page 208. A number after word's senses is the number of its occurrences not including occurrences as a part of a compound word unless noted otherwise.

Sanskrit words tend to be polysemous. Only senses actually used in the present interpretation are given. The mark "MW" means the senses following it are given in Monier-Williams' "Sanskrit-English Dictionary", "JG" — in papers by Jan Gonda, "JB" — in [JB14], "AU" — in works of Sri Aurobindo. The senses marked with "DS" are, with rare exceptions, adopted from other *Rgveda* translations and scholastic research on word meaning. Italic text at the end of each entry gives some explanations for the senses used, but the ultimate justification for an adopted sense is always *fitting well in all contexts under consideration*.

Abbreviations used: "adj." means "adjective", "adv." — "adverb", "indecl." — "indeclinable", "comp." — "composite word", \sqrt{sign means "verbal root", "i.c." means "including compounds".

Sanskrit words are given here using IAST transliteration scheme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup>various forms of a word are counted as an occurrence of that same word, not separately

#### **Divinities**

 $Mar\'{u}t$  proper noun m., only in plural, MW: a name of several deva-s, 253.

máruta adj. DS: "having Marut-s' trait, related to Marut-s", 19.

Rudrá proper noun m., a deva and an asura, 13. An entity behind emergence and development of individuality in a person, of inner separation from the family, community, and tribe. Rudrá's missile (hetí, didyút) is a cause of onset of a psychosomatic illness "a committed fault, crime bound in bodies" (6.74.3d) for which same Rudrá has remedies or medicine (bheṣája).

Pṛśni proper noun f., MW: a devī who is the mother of Maruts, 18. "The seductive power of transgression; an enticement to rebel, to transgress or violate social norms".

The "milk" that "the cow" Pṛśni gives is "the energy to dare".

Índra proper noun m., MW: a deva, 42.

Agní proper noun m., MW: a deva; noun m. "fire", 37. He is the deva of the fire in all of its forms (sunlight, lightning, burning materials, digestive "fire", etc.).

Sóma noun m., a deva, left untranslated;
MW: "a particular herb", "an extract from the herb";
DS: "a subtle but powerful manifestation energized by an extract from a particular herb";
DS: when in plural — "drops of Soma juice", 20 i.c.

Vánaspáti noun m., another name of Soma, 1;

Indu noun m., a proper noun, left untranslated;
MW: "a drop of purest Soma", DS: "the most refined and concentrated form of Soma"; when in plural "drops of purest Soma", 1.
A definition is given in 9.97.40d:

brhátsómo vävrdhe suväná índuh "mighty Soma became concentrated, an effusing Indu".

 $dev\acute{a}$  noun m., left untranslated, plural is written as "deva-s"; DS: "an entity behind particular manifestations", 42 i.c.

Divinities 183

Some non-specific characteristics of *deva*-s are spontaneity of manifestations, unpredictability and potentially overwhelming to humans powers.

 $dev\acute{i}$  noun f., left untranslated; MW: "a female deva"; DS: "energy"; "power abstracted from substrates and forms", 3.

divyá adj., MW: "celestial", 5.

dáivya adj., MW: "divine", 2.

ásura noun., DS: "guiding spirit", often left untranslated, 5. See [Sem]

Rodasi proper noun f., MW: a devi, 5.

Áditi proper noun f., MW: a deví, DS: "Great Unrestraint"; "unconstrained śakti", 3.

 $\tilde{A}$  ditya adj., MW: related to  $\tilde{A}$  diti, 5.

Mitrá proper noun m., a deva; DS: "a patron, a benefactor"; adj., "friendly", 11.

Senses "a patron, a benefactor" were adopted following Jan Gonda article [Gon73] where he argues that *mitrá* means "active goodwill, amity".

"Mitra is the God of Felicity who by his luminous power of love and companionship brings about harmony among all impulsions and activities and experiences, inner and outer." [Sas52, p. 45]

Váruṇa proper noun m., MW: a deva, 10.

Aryamán proper noun m., MW: a deva, 6.

Visnu proper noun m., MW: a deva, 4.

 $V\bar{a}y\acute{a}$  proper noun m., MW: a deva; noun, "a vital air", 4.

 $P\bar{u}$ sán proper noun m., MW: a deva, 2. DS: He is the deva of cognitive, and especially of spatial, maps.

Aświn proper noun m., when in dual, MW: a name of twin deva-s, 2.

Tritá proper noun m.; DS: "the third from above cakra —  $vi\acute{s}uddha$ ", 2.

rtá noun n., left untranslated; DS: "coherence", "a bridge between domain of language and those of perception and of will", 15.

L.Silburn renders it as "exact alignment". P.Thieme — "formation either of an embrio or a poem" [Thi52].

"...it is quite commonly translated cosmic order or cosmic harmony. This interpretation works rather well with its apparent etymology to the Proto-Indo-European root \*h2er, meaning fit together" [SM92][p.67]."

Vṛtrá proper noun n., left untranslated, DS: "depressing anxiety"; "mental obscuration"; MW: "a demon of darkness and drought",8 i.c. It shall be noted that this word is used in neuter.

#### Environment

dyú noun m., MW: "the Heaven"; "the sky"; "the day", 56.

In the internal sense it means "the realm of non-material, of spirit, of the mind, of abstract cognition".

It stands separate and above the realm of the material, of the body.

pṛthivi noun f., MW: "the Earth", 17. In the internal sense it means "the realm of the material, of the body".

dyấvāprthiví noun f., dual, MW: "the Heaven and the Earth", 1.

ródas noun n., (only in dual), MW: "the Earth and the Heaven"???, 14.

antárikṣa noun n., MW: "the middle region", 7. In the inner sense it means "psychophisiological realm, realm of vital energies or airs".

 $rocancute{a}$  noun n., MW: "luminous sphere", 4.

rájas noun n., DS: "a region" , 10 i.c.

svàr noun, left untranslated; DS: "ease of choice, unattached state of mind, equanimity, ease of arising, airiness or fluidity of the mind", 5.

Environment 185

 $n\acute{a}ka$  noun m., MW: "vault (of the Heaven); having-no-pain

(mental) space", 4.

pārthiva adj., MW: "earthly, earthen, terrestrial", 5.

párvata noun m., MW: "mountain ridge, mountain"; adj. "knotty,

rugged", 25.

bhúmi noun f., MW: "earth, ground", 6.

kṣám noun f., MW: "earth, ground", 3.

dhánvan noun n., MW: "desert", 1.

dhánva noun n., MW: "desert", 1.

dhấman noun n., MW: "abode", 4.

girí noun m., MW: "a mountain", 9.

vánaspáti noun m., "big tree", 3;

ap noun f., MW: "water", 19.

In the external sense it means physical waters like those

of rain, of rivers, of lakes.

In the internal sense it means "inner waters" referring to the psycho-physiological background of psychological processes that has as a significant component various expressions of hormones and other long-lasting psychoactive substances. Uses in plural emphasize variety

of "inner waters".

udán noun n., MW: "water", 5. Same as ap, but emphasizing

the wetness.

síndhu noun m.f., MW: "river, stream", 8 i.c.

When used in the internal sense, in singular it means "the flow of  $susumn\bar{a}$ " and is left untranslated; in plural it means "flows of sensory stimuli plus flow of stimuli from internal organs plus flow of speech (7.36.6 calls  $S\acute{a}rasvat\bar{\imath}$ " "the seventh river").

When used in the external sense, in singular it means a river or the river named *Sindhu*; in plural it means either the streams of blood or, when referring to "the seven rivers", physical streams, rivers.

samudrá

noun m., MW: "sea", 5. When used in the internal sense, it means, when in singular, the heart cakra or the space of the heart — an area felt, when projected onto cognition, to be between breasts behind the sternum, and in this sense it is characterized also as "the lap of waters" ( $\bar{a}p\bar{a}mup\acute{a}sthah$  9.109.13b); when in plural (9.33.6a "the four seas of the treasure"), it refers to the four upper cakras.

 $s \tilde{u} r y a$ noun m., MW: "the sun", 15.

 $v\acute{a}ta$ noun m., MW: "wind", 8.

vrstinoun f., MW: "rain", 12.

noun m., MW: "raincloud", 3. parjánya

noun f., MW: "lightning, flash, lightning bolt", 11. In vidyút

> the inner sense it means "a sudden revealing of hidden, concealed aspects of self or external situation which are

made to appear as if with a flash of lightning".

 $\acute{u}tsa$ noun m., MW: "fountain, spring", 9 i.c.

mihnoun f., MW: "fog", 3.

kóśa noun m., DS: "a subtle body"; MW: "a sheath", 4.

bhúvana noun n., JG: "a place of existence", DS: "an aspect/facet

of life", MW: "living creature", 4. The first meaning is borrowed from [Gon75a]; second meaning, closely connected to the first, means "a facet" like material, sexual,

social, spiritual, etc.

adj., MW: "wide, spacious", 4.  $ur\acute{u}$ 

#### Martial terms

śárdha noun m., MW: "swarm", 11.

a company of mostly young men presumptuous of their

strength (following here [Ren58, p.43])

noun m., MW: "flock", 5. *śárdhas* 

more organized than śárdha through presence of a leader.

Martial terms 187

ganá noun m., MW: "troop" 20.

ganá is more organized than śardha or śardhas and describes a trained and hardened troop of soldiers, or a flock of birds

flying in a formation

 $s\acute{e}n\bar{a}$  noun m., MW: "army", 1.

vrấta noun m., MW: "band, troop, swarm", 5 i.c.

pṛtanā noun f., MW: "battle", 6 i.c.

yúdh noun f., MW: "combat", 1.

yúdh noun m., MW: "warrior", 2.

nṛ noun m., MW: "a man (as opposed to a boy, or a

youth)", 50.

vṛṣan noun m., MW: "a bull"; "that which impregnates";

adj., "impregnating", 27.

"it implies the idea of strength and eminence" [Mü, p.139]

márya noun m., DS: "recruit, rookie", 12.

 $\acute{sura}$  noun m., DS: "agent of change", 5.

víra adj., MW: "valiant", 7.

suvíra adj., MW: "manly", 5.

suvírya noun n., DS: "potency", 1.

makhá adj., MW: "having a fighting spirit", noun m. "fighting

spirit", 3.

s'umakha adj., MW: "of good fighting spirit", 3.

yśubh verbal root, MW: "to adorn", DS: "to enhance; to rein-

force", 16.

śúbha noun m., DS: "reinforcement", 14 i.c.

śubhrá adj., DS: "replenishing; enhancing; beautifying self", 9.

rstí noun f., MW: "spear", 21.

bhrájadṛṣṭi adj., MW: "having gleaming spears", 8.

rstividyút adj, DS: "whose spears are like lightning bolts", 2.

vájra noun m., MW: "a thunderbolt", 8. "That which in an

instant connects the Earth and the Heaven".

áyudha noun n., MW: "weapon", 6.

 $v\acute{a}\acute{s}\bar{\imath}$  noun f., MW: "pointed knife", 6.

cakrá noun n., MW: "discus", 1.

dhánvan noun n., MW: "bow", 2.

dhánva noun n., MW: "bow", 3.

paví noun m., MW: "(metal) tip (of an arrow, spear, etc.);

an arrow", 5.

 $kh\bar{a}di$  noun i

noun f., DS: "studded leather plate", 10 i.c. Depending on body part it covers it might be translated as "leather helmet", "studded leather strap", "studded bracer", "studded spaulder". As Benfey suggested, the studs or spikes on it might have been made from animal

teeth.

rukmá adj., MW: "shining (by reflected light)" (likely "made of

brass or copper"), 10.

 $rukm\'{a}vak\.{s}as$ adj., DS: "having shining breast-plates", 6.

añjí noun m., DS: "body-paint", 14.

#### How Marut-s move

yā́ma noun m., MW: "course; move; movement", 17.

yáman noun n., DS: "procession; drill (=repeated course)"; JB:

"journey", 15.

 $\acute{a}jma$  noun m., MW: "march", 3.

ájman noun m., MW: "passage",2.

rátha noun m., MW: "a chariot", 47.

 $dh\'{u}r$  noun f., DS: "pole (of a chariot)", 5. When used in the

inner sense, it likely means "the spine".

 $\acute{a}\acute{s}va$  noun m., MW: "a horse" , 27.

 $\bar{a}\dot{s}\dot{u}$  adj., DS: "swift", 5 i.c.

aruná adj., DS: "giving a chance to move upwards", 5 i.c.

 $p\dot{r}$ satī noun m., MW: "dapped mare", 12.

ayấs adj., MW: "agile", 8.

ví noun m., MW: "bird", 6.

 $\sqrt{g\bar{a}}$  verbal root, MW: "to approach; to advance; to come", with pari- "to circle"; with adhi- "to remember", 10.

### Force, power, and intensity

*ójas* noun n., MW: "vigour, inner drive", 20. "the vigour"

meant here is like an inner urge that stimulates activity, a psychological drive, or a vigorous onset toward a goal.

In most general sense it means "intensity".

ugrá adj., MW: "ferocious, violent", "energetic", "formidable", 20.

This adjective always carries a shade of "savage", "animal-

like".

śávas noun n., DS: "impulse to change; power to change", 18.

váyas noun n., MW: "mental energy, mental vigour", 8.

máyas noun n., DS: "a counterbalance", 1.

 $mayobh\dot{u}$  adj., DS: "becoming a counterbalance", 3.

śúsma noun n., DS: "fervor", 9.

tvis noun f., MW: "agitation", 4.

tvesá adj., MW: "vehement", JB: "turbulent"; MW: "causing

fear", 15.

 $v \dot{a} j a$  noun m., DS: "the rush of vigour", 13.

vájin noun m., DS: "he who possess the rush of vigour"; MW:

"a steed", 6.

táviṣī noun f., DS: "power to control"; "power that controls", 12.

taviṣá adj., DS: "in-control, controlling"; noun n. "power [that controls assailing forces]", 6.

tavás adj., MW: "strong, energetic", 5.

svátavas adj., MW: "self-strong", 6.

having strength not derived from support of others([Mü,

p.117])

máh adj., MW: "great, mighty", 17.

mahī́ adj. f., MW: "mighty", DS: "potent", 6.

máhi adj., MW: "great", DS: "mighty; extensive", 3.

máhi adv., DS: "greatly, very", 2.

mahá adj., MW: "mighty, great", 3.

mahát adj., MW: "great, ample", 3.

mahitvaná noun n., DS: "the state of being extensive; extensiveness", 5.

máhas noun n., MW: "might", "power"; JG: "feeling of superi-

ority", 8.

JG: "mahas may imply a subjective feeling of superiority and cheerfulness".

mahás indecl. DS: "quickly", 3.

túvi adj., (only in comp.) MW: "very, in high degree, nu-

merous, loud", 8.

túvismant adj., DS: "having authority", 3.

sáhas noun n., JG: "overwhelming strength", 7.

See "The meaning of skt. mahas and its relatives" in

[Gon75b, pp. 450-485].

áma noun m., DS: "forcefulness", 4.

ámavat adj., DS: "forceful", 4.

 $\acute{a}mavat\bar{\imath}$  adj. f., DS: "forceful", 1.

turá adj., MW: "pressing forward", 8.

bála noun m., MW: "muscle power", 2.

More generally  $b\acute{a}la$  is bodily power, strength.

#### Marut-s' characteristics

 $\sqrt{cyu}$  verbal root, MW: "to shake; to stir", DS: "to unhinge";

"to depart", 13.

\(\square\)/mad verbal root, MW: "to exhilarate"; "to exult in"; "to de-

light in", "to revel in", 11.

citrá adj., MW: "distinguished, various, varying, manifold",

DS: "capturing attention", "catching the eye", 13.

 $dh \acute{u}ti$  adj., DS: "agitating", 9.

dhúni adj., MW: "boisterous"; JB: "noisy", 8 i.c.

 $kr\bar{\imath}d\acute{a}$  adj., DS: "playful", 3.

sámanyu adj., DS: "impassioned", 6.

vedhás noun m., DS: "adept", adj., "enthusiastic", 5.

dhrsnú noun m., MW: "daring, defiant", 6 i.c.

ghṛśvi adj., DS: "thrill-inducing", 4 i.c.

 $v\acute{r}th\bar{a}$  indecl., "frivolously, easily, wantonly", 4.

śúci adj., MW: "shining; pure", 8 i.c.

pāvaká adj., MW: "purifying"; DS: "clarifying", 6.

satyá adj., MW: "genuine, real, true", 3.

satyáśavas adj., DS: "whose power to transform is real", 3.

 $satya\acute{s}rut$  adj., MW: "listening to truth", 2.

sthirá adj., MW: "ascertained; steady, not wavering, resolute;

persevering, lasting; firm", 10.

krátu noun m., DS: "skill", JG: "resourcefulness", MW: "de-

sign, understanding";

adj., DS: "skillful, resourceful", 7.

"power or strength (the Greek kratos) effective of action"

[Aur98, p.63]

prácetas adj., DS: "foresighted", 4.

sámmiśla adj., MW: "endowed with; commingled", 4.

abhídyu adj., DS: "aiming at the Heaven", 3.

rudrá adj., MW: epithet of Marut-s, left untranslated (dreadful , terrific) 12.

rudríya adj., DS: epithet of Marut-s, "agreeable to Rudra", 7.

 $súj\bar{a}ta$  adj., DS: "good to manifest", 4.

sujātá adj., MW: "well-born" (that is, "good when born"), "of good quality", 4.

sūnú noun m., MW: "son, offspring", 7.

yúvan noun m., MW: "youth", adj. "young, youthful", 11.

paumsya noun n., MW: "manly deed" (of Indra or Marut-s), 6.

 $\acute{u}ma$  noun m., MW: "helper", 4.

rsvá adj., DS: "helping in dire straights", 3.

 $bh\bar{a}nu$  noun , DS: "representation, appearance", 5.

Aspirations, yearnings, etc. are in many cases vague and abstract. They appear to the mind by means of different representations, some of which are direct while most are indirect. For example, an aspiration to be a king might not present itself directly due to social taboos, disapproval of one own social group, or low perceived chances of success. In this case, the aspiration might present itself indirectly as an image of a war hero, surpassing all who is left alive.

 $sv\acute{a}bh\bar{a}nu$  adj., DS: "appearing directly; appearing as is", 4.  $see\ entry\ bh\bar{a}nu.$ 

citrábhānu noun , DS: "having various representations", 2.

viśvábhānu adj., DS: "appearing to everyone", 1.

 $sud\acute{a}nu$  adj., DS: "generous", 20.

 $j\bar{\imath}r\acute{a}d\bar{a}nu$  adj., DS: "quick to bestow", 9.

anavabhrárādhas adj., DS: "giving satisfaction that does not fade", 4.

 $ris\acute{a}das$  adj., DS: "devouring gaps", 9.

práyajyu adj., DS: "seeking the first of [a] sacrifice", 5.

yájatra adj., DS: "deserving a sacrifice", 5.

rjīṣin adj., MW: "receiving Soma residue", 3.

ýkvan adj., DS: "reciting verses", 4.

viśvávedas adj., DS: "known to everyone", 11.

amŕta noun n., MW: "immortality"; adj., "immortal; imperish-

able; ", DS: "unceasing", 9.

vákṣas noun n., MW: "breast", 10 i.c.

hásta noun m., MW: "hand", 6 i.c.

gábhasti noun m., MW: "hand", 3.

 $b\bar{a}h\acute{u}$  noun m., MW: "arm" , 8.

 $\acute{a}msa$  noun m., "shoulder", 7.

 $\sqrt{duh}$  verbal root, MW: "to milk, to extract, to draw out"; "to

yield", 8.

 $\sqrt{i}r$  verbal root, MW: "to arise, to rise, to come forth"; "to

excite", DS: "to stimulate", 8.

 $\sqrt{ci}$  verbal root, MW: "to seek, to fix gaze upon", 5.

y/nam verbal root, MW:"to bend", DS: "to subdue"; "to conde-

scend", 5.

 $\sqrt{pinv}$  verbal root, MW: "to swell, to cause to swell", 5.

 $\sqrt{uk}$  verbal root, MW: "to sprinkle", 4.

 $\sqrt{r\bar{\imath}}$  verbal root, MW:"to melt"; "to set free, to release", with

ni- "to tear", 5.

#### What is asked of Marut-s

*ūtí* noun f., MW: "help, means of helping; protection", DS: "favour, benefit, assistance", 18 i.c.

ávas noun n., MW: "favour, assistance", 14.

√av verbal root, MW: "to favour; to promote"; "to refresh";

"to bring to",

DS: "to boost"; "to comfort", "to help; "; 14.

 $\sqrt{yam}$  verbal root, MW: "to stretch, to spread, to extend"; "to brandish (a weapon)"; with ni- "to hold back", 10.

rádhas noun n., MW: "an accomplishment of one's desires, wishes", "satisfaction", "bounty", 11 i.c.

rái noun m., MW: "riches, wealth", DS: "a treasure", "reward" 8.

rayí noun m., MW: "treasure", DS: "gift", 8.

sumná noun n., MW: "benevolence, favour", DS: "blessing"; adj. MW: "benevolent", 8.

suvitá noun n., MW: "easy to traverse [pathway]", DS: "easy passage", 7.

svastí noun n. pl., DS: "blessings", 4.

śárman noun n., MW: "shelter, refuge", 5.

*śrávas* noun n., DS: "an auditory impression"; MW: "loud praise, fame", 6 i.c.

"In the system of esoteric sense it means an inner audience or one of divine character, or an inspired hearing in the wake of divine grace or strength of knowledge following a strenuous discipline." [Sas52, p. 78]

 $vay\acute{a}$  indecl., DS: "mental vigour", 4.

śam indecl., MW: "well-being"; "fortunately", 4 i.c.

bhesajá noun n., MW: "medicine; (curing) charm", 3.

\(\sigma mrd\) verbal root, MW: "to treat kindly, be gracious", 8.

 $\sqrt{dh\bar{u}}$  verbal root, MW: "to agitate", "to shake off", 4.

Ritual terms 195

 $\sqrt{n\bar{\imath}}$  verbal root, MW: "to guide, to lead", 4.

 $\sqrt{ran}$  verbal root, MW: "to be pleased, to rejoice, to delight in", 4.

#### Ritual terms

 $\sqrt{yaj}$  verbal root, DS: "to make a fire offering",

MW: "to sacrifice", 4.

yajñá noun m., MW: "an offering (as a procedure), a sacrifice",

DS: "a fire offering (as a procedure)", 19.

yajñíya adj., MW: "worthy of a sacrifice", 5.

adhvará adj., JG: "proceeding on its path [sacrifice]", 11.

 $See\ [Gon 75c].$ 

vrjána noun n., MW: "enclosure; a sacrificial enclosure", 10.

havís noun n., MW: "an oblation, an offering (an object being

offered)", 8.

havyá noun n., MW: "oblation", 8.

barhís noun n., MW: "sacrificial grass", 11. It is strewn onto

some place, and deva-s and participants of a sacrifice

are invited to sit on it.

vrkta adj.., MW: "twisted" (only in comp. vrktábarhis), 4.

is noun f., MW: "a libation", 19.

isá adj., MW: "possessing sap and strength", 6.

"auspicious sign"; MW: "insignia", 16.

*ŕsi* noun m., MW: "a sage, a seer", 6 i.c.

dhíra adj., DS: "having (mental) schemas for an effective con-

templation", MW: "intelligent", 5.

Jan Gonda: "The adjective dhīrāsah characterizes the sages as having received the vision and inspiration needed for a

successful performance of the rites." [Gon59].

bráhman noun n., JB: "a sacred formula or formulation", 9.

brahmán noun m., JB: "formulator; a learned priest", 4.

gir noun f., MW: "a song", DS: "a chant", 13.

stóma noun m., MW: "a chant [of praise], a praise", 13.

stutá adj., MW: "eulogized, praised", 7.

arká noun m., AU: "a hymn of illumination"; MW: "a ray", 9.

"Arka means a stanza..." Nir.5.4

ukthá noun n., MW: "verse, recited verse", 5.

 $\acute{r}c$  noun f., DS: "stanza", 2.

śáṃsa noun m., MW: "recitation"; "a blessing", "a curse", 5.

kaví noun m., MW: "a poet"; adj., "gifted with insight", 6.

kārú noun m., JG: "a singer [of eulogies]", 7.

[Gon 75b]

 $m\bar{a}ny\acute{a}$  adj., MW: "venerable", 5.

grấvan noun m., DS: "a singer", 2.

For the sense "singer" see [Tho01].

hótr noun m., MW: "an envoker of deva-s", 4.

stotŕ noun m., DS: "singer of a hymn; one who praises", 3.

 $s\bar{u}ri$  noun m., MW: "an institutor of a sacrifice";

DS: "a patron [of a sacrifice]", 5.

háva noun m., MW: "call", 3.

 $h\acute{a}vya$  adj., MW: "called upon", 1.

 $\sqrt{g\bar{r}}$  verbal root, MW: "to extol, to praise; to sing", 11.

 $\sqrt{gai}$  verbal root, MW: "to praise in song, to sing",

DS: "to enchant with a song", 6.

√vand verbal root, MW: "to do homage", 4.

werbal root, MW: "to summon, to invoke, to recall", 10.

 $\sqrt{h\bar{u}}$  verbal root, MW: "to call upon, to summon", 9.

Ritual terms 197

verbal root, MW: "to choose, to prefer", 4.  $\sqrt{vr}$  $sut\acute{a}$ passive past participle of  $\sqrt{su}$ , MW: "pressed out, extracted"; noun m., "an extract [of Soma]", 8.  $\acute{a}ndhas$ noun n., MW: "an herb; a juice", 3.  $\acute{o}sadhi$ noun f., MW: "the herb" (=Soma), 1.  $m\acute{a}da$ noun m., MW: "intoxicating drink"; "intoxication", DS: "exhilaration", 6. adj., DS: "oozing exhilaration", 3. madacyút noun f., MW: "a draught", DS: "a drink", 9 i.c.  $p\bar{\imath}ti$ n'amasnoun n., DS: "reverence", MW: "adoration", 5.  $\sqrt{d\bar{a}}\dot{s}$ verbal root, MW: "to worship; to honor", 9. vidátha noun n., DS: "teaching session", 10. This sense is obtained by making sense "distribution" (Kuiper [Kui74]) more specific "distribution of knowledge".  $dh\bar{i}$ noun f., JG: "vision, visualization; imagery; mental schema", often left untranslated, 8. It is a "vision" that is not mediated by sense organs or caused by sensory stimuli. It is more like "intuition of hidden from senses structures". See chapter "Dhīh in the Rgveda" in [Gon84, pp.68-169]. mánman noun n., DS: "cogitation", 5. sumatinoun f., DS: "effective mental gesture; mental disposition", 6. noun f., DS: "a mental gesture", matiMW: "a sacred utterance,", 5. noun f., MW: "a thought, right conception", 3.  $manar{\imath}sar{a}$ 

noun f., DS: "the strength of resolve", 3.

 $medh\tilde{a}$ 

arí adj., DS: "tending upwards, rising upwards", noun m. "he who raises it up", "he who tends upwards", 4.

mánu noun m., DS: "intelligent man", 5.

śaśamāná adj., DS: "exerting himself", 3.

#### Various

 $m\bar{a}t\dot{r}$  noun f., MW: "a mother", 14.

Used metaphorically, it signifies something that creates conditions for something else to manifest, to emerge, or something that nurtures and strengthens something else. One phenomenon or one entity could thus have many "mothers".

pitŕ noun m., MW: "a father, an ancestor", 5.

putrá noun m., MW: "a son", 5.

tánaya noun n. MW: "grandchildren", adj., MW: "perpetuating family, propagating family", 5.

toká noun n., MW: "offsprings, children", 4.

janús noun n., DS: "circumstances of birth, circumstances of manifestation", 6.

jánman noun n., MW: "origin (=born from)", "race"; "custom", 4 i.c.

jána noun m., MW: "a man, a person; people", 10.

 $j\bar{a}t\acute{a}$  adj., MW: "born, manifested"; noun n. "creature", 4;

náman noun n., MW: "characteristic, nature, trait; name", 10.

svadhā noun f., MW: "inherent or natural disposition, nature", DS: "spontaneity", 8.

 $h\acute{r}d$  noun n., MW: "the heart", 4.

mánuṣa adj., MW: "human"; noun m. "a man", 5;

mánus noun m., MW: "man", DS: "human", 4.

mlpha rtya adj., MW: "mortal", 9.

márta adj., MW: "mortal", 4.

Various 199

 $tan \hat{u}$ noun m., MW: "body, person"; "self", 20.  $sv\acute{a}$ noun m., adj., MW: "self; own", 4. noun m., MW: "chief, master, protector; lord", 8 i.c. páti rájan noun m., MW: "a king, a chief", 4. varánoun m., DS: "object of choice"; MW: "suitor", 4.  $v\acute{a}c$ noun f., MW: "speech, a sound, an utterance", 5. noun f., MW: "cow"; m. "ox", 23. qoUsed metaphorically, it means "word", "poetic expression", "thematic word", "contemplation-defining word". m'anasnoun n., MW: "the mind; a thought; an opinion", 8 i.c. noun m., MW: "passion; rage", 5 i.c. mányu vipranoun m., MW: "a poet"; adj., "inspired, stirred", 10. "... those whose minds are pure, clear and open, vipra," [Aur98, p. 284] v'ananoun n., MW: "desire", 5. noun f., MW: "hostility", DS: "conflict", 4 i.c. dvís  $dv\acute{e}sas$ noun n., MW: "hostility, aversion", 4. risnoun f., MW: "injury", 2.  $m\acute{a}dhu$ noun n., MW: "honey", 9.  $qhrt\acute{a}$ noun n., MW: "ghee", 5. práyas noun n., MW: "pleasure, delight", 3. satisfaction, comfort [Ren58, p.28] noun f., MW: "enjoyment; feast", 4.  $v\bar{\imath}ti$ páyas noun n., MW: "fluid, juice", 5 i.c.  $m\bar{a}nd\bar{a}ry\acute{a}$  adj., DS: "capable to please", 4.

vásu noun n., MW: "wealth"; DS: "a beneficial thing, a benefit"; adj., "beneficent", "beneficial", 15.

maghávan adj., MW: "munificent", 10.

mīḍhvás adj., MW: "giving generously, liberal", 5

 $s\bar{a}ti$  noun f., MW: "acquisition, gaining , bestowing, obtaining", 5 i.c.

ukṣámāṇa adj., MW: "growing; making stronger", 3.

hitá adj., MW: "made ready, arranged; placed", 4.

priyá adj., MW: "favourite, cherished, that which gladdens", 5 i.c.

áriṣṭa adj., DS: "undamaged; uninjured; non-torn-off"; MW: "secure", 4;

 $\acute{a}cyuta$  adj., MW: "unshaken; firm"; DS: "not-to-be-abandoned", 3;

ánīka noun n., MW: "appearance; face", 3;

arusá adj., DS: "tempered", 3.

étaśa noun m., adj., DS: "flickering", 2.

dyumnlpha noun n., MW: "splendour" "inspiration";

adj., DS: "illuminating", 4 i.c.

híranya adj., MW: "golden", 8 i.c.

hiraṇyáya adj., MW: "golden", DS: "bronze", 5 i.c.

 $hiraṇy\acute{a}y\bar{\imath}~$ adj. f., MW: "golden", 2.

piś noun adj., DS: "adorning", 3 i.c.

várṇa indecl., MW: "color; appearance", 4 i.c.

psu adj., DS: "appearing; appearing as", 5 i.c.

ketu adj., MW: "banner", DS: "vanguard", 3.

 $p\bar{u}t\acute{a}$  adj., MW: "purified", DS: "refined", 4 i.c.

Various 201

rjīṣín adj., MW: "having a residue", 1.

*ūrdhvá* adj., MW: "tending upwards; elevated", 3.

áhi noun m., MW: "snake", 7 i.c.

dhenú noun f., MW: "a milch cow"; adj. "yielding milk", 6.

átya noun m., MW: "a courser, a steed", 5.

éta noun m., MW: "an anthelope; anthelope skin", 6.

*śyená* noun m., MW: "a hawk", 4.

mahisá noun m., MW: "a buffalo", adj., DS: "mighty", 3.

mrgá noun m., MW: "wild beast; beast"; DS: adj. "wild", 4.

vána noun n., MW: "forest", 1.

adhván noun m., MW: "[leading to the goal] road, course, way,

path", 6.

"The word adhvan-, to begin with, clearly indicates, in the older Vedic texts, a way or road which leads to a goal, a comparatively safe and passable (also for horses: RV 6.46.13; 10.22.4) way, a road which makes good going, a journey. ... the sacrificial ceremony adhvara as a vehicle, proceeding on its path" [Gon75c].

cakrá noun n., MW: "wheel", 3.

váhni noun m., MW: "draft horse", 1.

ádri noun m., MW: "a rock; a stone", 6.

usás noun f., MW: "dawn", 5.

áhan noun n., MW: "day", 4.

áha noun n., MW: "day", 1.

vyùsti indecl., MW: "daybreak; first light of dawn", 4 i.c.

naktá noun n., MW: "night", 3.

kṣáp noun f., MW: "night", 2.

vratá noun n., MW: "sphere of action, realm, manner of life",

DS: "sway", 5.

cyut adj., DS: "stirring, shaking"; MW: "oozing; ", 7 (only in

comp.).

arņavá adj., MW: "restless", noun m. "flood", 4;

ghorá adj., DS: "terrifying", 4 i.c.

dhrsnuyā indecl., DS: "daringly; taunting; courageously", 4.

raśmí noun m., MW: "ray; cord; whip", 5.

hitá adj., MW: "impelled", 1;

víśva adj. MW: "every, all", 132.

bṛhát adj., MW: "vast, wide, extensive, expansive",

indecl. "far and wide"; "abundantly", 11.

 $bh\bar{u}ri$  indecl., MW: "much; repeatedly; many times",

adj. "many", 5.

dīrghá adj., MW: "long; long-lasting",

indecl. "for a long time", 4.

 $par\bar{a}v\acute{a}t$  noun f., MW: "a distance";

only in abl. parāvátas "from afar, from a distance", 4.

 $p\acute{a}r\bar{a}$  indecl., MW: "away, aside", 5 i.c.

 $p\acute{a}r\bar{a}$  adj.f., MW: "extreme", 1.

purá indecl., MW: "before", DS: "in the past, till now", 6.

āré indecl., MW: "far, far away", 4.

 $s\acute{a}d\bar{a}$  indecl., MW: "always, every time", 5;

purú adv., MW: "often, much, many, abundantly", 6.

ásāmi adj. JB: "unhalved"; MW: adv. "completely", 5 i.c.

Various 203

áha indecl., MW: "surely, certainly", 4.

makṣú noun m., MW: "promptly", DS: "at once", 5.

 $en\acute{a}$  indecl., MW: "in this manner", 4.

 $s\acute{a}c\bar{a}$  indecl., MW: "together with; at hand; present", 4.

sahá indecl., MW: "together with", 4.

sajóṣas indecl., MW: "acting in harmony with each other",

DS: "in accord with each other", 4.

sakhyá noun n., MW: "fellowship, friendship",

DS: "association, companionship", 4.

samāná adj., MW: "similar, same; holding the middle between

extremes", 4.

yu adj., only in comp., MW: "bestowing"; DS: "seeking",

12.

víś noun f., MW: "tribe; tribesman", 7 i.c.

 $y\acute{a}t$  adj., MW: "moving", 9.

pūrva adj., MW: "former"; "past"; "initial";

DS: noun n. "precedence", 5 i.c.

prathamá adj., MW: "foremost, first", 4.

éka adj., numeral, MW: "single, one, alone", 6 i.c.

trí numeral, MW: "three", 3 i.c.

catúr numeral, MW: "four", 1 i.c.

páñca numeral, MW: "five", 1 i.c.

saptá numeral, MW: "seven", 2 i.c.

śatá numeral, MW: "hundred", 4 i.c.

sahásra numeral, MW: "thousand", 4 i.c.

sahasrín adj., MW: "containing thousand;",

DS: "leading to thousand [different things]", 4.

### Various verbal roots

$\sqrt{kr}$	verbal root, MW: "to make, to create, to effect", 42.	
$\sqrt{as}$	verbal root, MW: "to be", 66.	
$\sqrt{bhar{u}}$	verbal root, MW: "to become, to be", 19.	
$\sqrt{sth}\bar{a}$	verbal root, MW: "to stand, to remain, to stay", 20.	
$\sqrt{dh}ar{a}$	verbal root, MW: "to effect, to put, to place, to set, t fix", 48.	
$\sqrt{yar{a}}$	verbal root, MW: "to move, to journey, to go, to advance" 53.	
$\sqrt{gam}$	verbal root, MW: "to come, to approach", "to go, to set out", $31$	
$\sqrt{i}$	verbal root, MW: "to go, to approach", 24.	
$\sqrt{vah}$	verbal root, MW: "to convey; to conduct; to transport; to carry; to bear along"; with <i>pra-</i> "to drive onwards", 15.	
$\sqrt{bhr}$	verbal root, MW: "to bring, to bear, to carry"; "to offer"; "to hold", DS: "to present", 12.	
$\sqrt{vid}$	verbal root, MW: "to find"; "to know", 24.	
$\sqrt{vrdh}$	verbal root, MW: "to strengthen, to augment, to increase, to grow, to make stronger, to become stronger", 23.	
$\sqrt{tan}$	verbal root, MW: "to spread, to stretch, to extend", 6.	
$\sqrt{yuj}$	verbal root, MW: "to yoke, to attach, to harness, to engage; to fit" 22.	
$\sqrt{p\bar{a}}$	verbal root, MW: "to drink", 13.	
$\sqrt{p\bar{a}}$	verbal root, MW: "to protect", 10.	
$\sqrt{vrt}$	verbal root, MW: "to turn, to follow; to create;", 21.	
$\sqrt{han}$	verbal root, MW: "to strike, to hit, to clash"; "to kill, to slay"; "to fend off"; "to oppress", 20.	

Verbal roots 205

 $\sqrt{tvis}$ verbal root, DS: "to agitate", 2. verbal root, MW: "to keep away, to drive away;  $\sqrt{yu}$ to put aside", 4. verbal root, MW: "; to become afraid,  $\sqrt{bh\bar{\imath}}$ to become anxious; to scare, to frighten", 8.  $\sqrt{arc}$ verbal root, MW: "to praise, to recommend", "to sing"; "to roar"; "to shine"; 12. verbal root, MW: "to praise, to extol", 10.  $\sqrt{stu}$  $\sqrt{jan}$ verbal root, MW: "to be born"; DS: "to emerge, to become manifest"; "to give existence to", 14. "by the birth of the gods is meant always in the Veda their manifestation" [Aur98, p.77] verbal root, MW: "to favour, to enjoy"; "to frequent",  $\sqrt{jus}$ 12. verbal root, MW: "to give, to yield";  $\sqrt{d\bar{a}}$ with  $\bar{a}$ - "to reclaim", 10. verbal root, MW: "to tremble, to quiver, to shake", 11.  $\sqrt{rej}$  $\sqrt{h\bar{a}}$ verbal root, MW: "to give way, to abandon, to withdraw", 10.  $\sqrt{a}s$ verbal root, MW: "to remain, to abide", 3.  $\sqrt{t}\bar{r}$ verbal root, MW: "to carry across, to pass over, to cross, to surpass", 10.  $\sqrt{sru}$ verbal root, MW: "to hear, to listen, to attend to to give ear to; to be audible", 9.  $\sqrt{cit}$ verbal root, MW: "to be conscious of, to perceive, to be attentive, to aim at, to notice"; DS: "to figure out", 9. verbal root, MW: "to mention; to speak, to utter; to  $\sqrt{vac}$ explicate; to commend", 9.

verbal root, MW: "to enter", 2.

verbal root, MW: "to seek to joint; to fasten; to marshall, to array;", DS: "to come one-after-another", 7.

 $\sqrt{vi\acute{s}}$ 

 $\sqrt{yat}$ 

verbal root, MW: "to fly, dash through, speed; to fall",  $\sqrt{pat}$ 7. verbal root, MW: "to control, to govern", 2.  $\sqrt{pat}$ verbal root, MW: "to cast"; "to pour"; "to release, to loose";  $\sqrt{srj}$ "to become loose", 8. verbal root, MW: "to cover, to obstruct", 4.  $\sqrt{vr}$ verbal root, MW: "to smear, to anoint";  $\sqrt{a\tilde{n}j}$ DS: "to dedicate"; "to display", 7.  $\sqrt{ci}$ verbal root, MW: "to pile up", 1. verbal root, MW: "to detest", 1.  $\sqrt{ci}$ √śams verbal root, MW: "to repeat, to recite, to announce", with pra- "to announce". "foretell", 6.  $\sqrt{vad}$ verbal root, MW: "to speak, to address, to invoke; to mention", 5. verbal root, MW: "to rise, to arise"; "to reach, to meet";  $\sqrt{r}$ with nis- "to be deprived of", 6.  $\sqrt{as}$ verbal root, MW:"to reach, to achieve, to obtain, to gain", 5.  $\sqrt{m\bar{a}}$ verbal root, MW: "to mete out"; "to traverse", "to arrange"; DS: "to pace", 4. verbal root, MW: "to bellow", 1.  $\sqrt{m\bar{a}}$ verbal root, MW:"to free, to get rid of"; "to unharness";  $\sqrt{muc}$ with prati- "to put on", 5.  $\sqrt{nud}$ verbal root, MW:"to push"; "to remove", 5.  $\sqrt{sac}$ verbal root, MW: "to accompany, to follow", 5.  $\sqrt{man}$ verbal root, MW: "to imagine", "to think"; "to agree", 5. verbal root, MW: "to be present", 4. √myakş  $\sqrt{r\bar{a}}$ verbal root, MW: "to grant; to surrender", 4.  $\sqrt{ram}$ verbal root, MW: "to stop; to set to rest", 4.

Verbal roots 207

 $\sqrt{u}h$  verbal root, MW: "to deliberate", 4.

 $\sqrt{van}$  verbal root, MW: "to procure, to acquire", "to become

a master of", 4.

 $\sqrt{bhraj}$  verbal root, MW: "to shine", 3.

 $\sqrt{arh}$  verbal root, MW: "to merit, to be deserving; to be wor-

thy", 3.

 $\sqrt{duvasy}$  verbal root, DS: "to rouse, to ready for action, to mo-

bilize", 2.

## Index

Agní, 182	áhi, <b>201</b>	$k\bar{a}r\acute{u}$ , 196
ácyuta, <b>200</b>	$\acute{a}msa$ , 193	$kr \checkmark$ , <b>204</b>
ájma, <b>188</b>	$v\acute{r}th\bar{a},191$	$k! \sqrt{,204}$ $ketu, 200$
ájman, 188	• '	$ghorcute{a}$ , 202
$a\tilde{n}j \sqrt{, 206}$	$\bar{A}ditya$ , 183	kóśa, <b>186</b>
$a\tilde{n}ji$ , 188	āyudha, 188	krátu, <b>191</b>
$\acute{a}tya$ , <b>201</b>	āré, <b>202</b>	$kr\bar{\imath}d\acute{a}$ , <b>191</b>
$\acute{A}diti$ , 183	$\bar{a}\acute{s}\acute{u},189$	$k$ ş $\acute{a}p$ , <b>202</b>
ádri, <b>201</b>	$\bar{a}s \sqrt{, 205}$	kşá $m$ , 185
$adhv\acute{a}n$ , <b>201</b> $adhv\acute{a}n$ , <b>201</b>	$i \checkmark$ , 204	$g\acute{a}bhasti$ , 193
adhvará, <b>195</b>	İndu, 182	$gam \checkmark$ , <b>204</b>
$anavabhrcute{a}rar{a}dhas,$	Índra, 182	$g\bar{a}$ $\sqrt{}$ , 189
193	is, 195	gir, <b>196</b>
$án\bar{\imath}ka$ , 200	ișá, <b>195</b>	girí, <b>185</b>
antárikṣa, 184	$\bar{\imath}r\sqrt{,193}$	$g\bar{r} \sqrt{196}$
ándhas, <b>197</b>	ukthá, <b>196</b>	$gai \checkmark$ , 196
ap, 185	$uks \sqrt{193}$	go, 199
abhidyu, 192	ugrá, 189	$grav{a}van$ , 196
áma, <b>190</b>	útsa, 186	ghṛtá, <b>199</b>
ámavat, <b>190</b>	udán, 185	$gh\acute{r}svi$ , <b>191</b>
$\acute{a}mavat\bar{\imath}$ , 190	urú, 186	$cakrcute{a}$ , 201
$am\acute{r}ta$ , 193	uṣás, <b>201</b>	cakrá, 188
$ay \acute{a}s$ , 189	$ar{u}tlphi,\ {f 194} \ ar{u}ma,\ {f 192}$	catúr, <b>203</b>
arí, 198	$\bar{u}rdhv\acute{a}$ , <b>201</b>	$ci \checkmark$ , <b>193</b>
árista, <b>200</b>	$\bar{u}h \sqrt{, 207}$	$ci \checkmark$ , <b>206</b>
aruná, <b>189</b>	$r \checkmark$ , 206	$ci \checkmark$ , <b>206</b>
aruṣá, <b>200</b>	ŕkvan, <b>193</b>	$cit \checkmark$ , <b>205</b>
arká, <b>196</b>	$\acute{r}c$ , 196	citrá, <b>191</b>
$arc \checkmark$ , <b>205</b>	$\dot{r}j\bar{\imath}\dot{s}\acute{i}n$ , 193	$citrábh\bar{a}nu,192$
$arnav\acute{a}$ , <b>202</b>	ṛjīṣín, <b>201</b>	$cyu \sqrt{, 191}$
Aryamán, 183	rtá, <b>184</b>	cyut, <b>202</b>
$arh \checkmark$ , <b>207</b>	rsi, 195	$jan \checkmark$ , <b>205</b>
$av \checkmark$ , <b>194</b>	rstí, <b>187</b>	jána, <b>198</b>
$\acute{a}vas, {f 194}$	rstividyút, <b>188</b>	janús, <b>198</b>
$a\acute{s}\sqrt{,}$ 206	ŕsvá, <b>192</b>	jánman, 198
$\acute{a}\acute{s}va$ , 189	éka, <b>203</b>	$j\bar{a}t\acute{a},198$
Aśvín, <b>183</b>	$\acute{e}ta,~{f 201}$	$j\bar{\imath}r\acute{a}d\bar{a}nu,~192$
$as \sqrt{, 204}$	étaśa, <b>200</b>	$jus \sqrt{, 205}$
$\acute{a}s\bar{a}mi,~{f 202}$	$en ilde{a},  extbf{203}$	$tan \sqrt{\ }$ , <b>204</b>
ásura, <b>183</b>	ójas, <b>189</b>	$t\'anaya$ , 198
áha, <b>203</b>	óṣadhi, <b>197</b>	$tan ilde{u}$ , 199
$\acute{a}ha,201$	$\acute{o}sadhar{\imath},\ {f 185}$	$tavcute{a}s,\ 190$
$\acute{a}han,  201$	kaví, <b>196</b>	tavisá, 190

INDEX 209

$tcute{a}visar{\imath}$ , 190	$n\bar{\imath} \checkmark, 195$	$bh\bar{\imath} $ , <b>205</b>
túvișmant, 190	$nud \checkmark$ , <b>206</b>	bhúvana, 186
$t\acute{u}vi,  190$	nṛ, <b>187</b>	$bh\bar{u}\ \surd,\ 204$
$tur\acute{a},190$	$pcute{a} ilde{n}ca,~{f 203}$	$bh\bar{u}mi$ , 185
$t\bar{r} \sqrt{}$ , <b>205</b>	$pat \sqrt{\ }$ , <b>206</b>	$bhar{u}ri,{f 202}$
$tok\acute{a}, {f 198}$	$pat \sqrt{, 206}$	$bhr \sqrt{, 204}$
tri, <b>203</b>	páti, <b>199</b>	$bhesaj\acute{a}, 194$
Tritá, <b>184</b>	páyas, <b>199</b>	$bhr\bar{a}j\ \checkmark,\ 207$
$tvis \checkmark$ , <b>205</b>	$plpha rar{a}, {f 202}$	bhrájadrsti, 188
tvis, 189	$p\acute{a}r\bar{a},~{f 202}$	maksú, <b>203</b>
tvesá, <b>189</b>	$parar{a}vcute{a}t,202$	$magh\'{a}van,  200$
$d\bar{a} \sqrt{, 205}$	parjánya, 186	mati, 197
$dar{a}\acute{s}\surd,{f 197}$	párvata, 185	$mad \checkmark$ , <b>191</b>
divyá, <b>183</b>	paví, <b>188</b>	$m\acute{a}da,197$
$d\bar{\imath}rgh\acute{a},{f 202}$	$p\bar{a} \ \surd \ , \ {f 204}$	madacyút, 197
$duvasy \checkmark$ , <b>207</b>	$p\bar{a} \ \surd \ , \ {f 204}$	$m\acute{a}dhu,199$
$duh \checkmark$ , <b>193</b>	$p ilde{a}rthiva$ , 185	$man \checkmark$ , <b>206</b>
$mrd \sqrt{194}$	$p\bar{a}vak\acute{a},191$	$m\'anas, 199$
$dev\acute{a},~182$	pítṛ, <b>198</b>	$manar{\imath}$ ṣ $ar{a}$ , 197
$dev ilde{i}$ , 183	$pinv \checkmark$ , 193	$mcute{a}nu$ , 198
dlpha ivya, 183	$pi\acute{s},200$	$m\'anus, 198$
$dy$ ávā $p$ $\underline{r}thiv$ i, 184	$p\bar{\imath}t\acute{\imath}$ , 197	$m\'anman, 197$
dyu, 184	$putrcute{a}$ , 198	$m\acute{a}nyu,~199$
$dyumn\acute{a},\ 200$	purlpha, 202	$m ilde{a}yas, 189$
dví $s$ , 199	$pur\'u$ , <b>202</b>	$mayobhar{u},\ 189$
$dv\acute{e}sas, 199$	$par{u}tlpha,~{f 200}$	$Mar\'ut, \ 182$
dhá $nva$ , 188	$p \hat{u} r v a$ , <b>203</b>	$mcute{a}rta$ , 198
dhá $nva$ , 185	$P\bar{u}$ ṣán, <b>183</b>	$mcute{a}rtya$ , 198
dhá $nvan$ , 188	$prtanar{a},  187$	$mcute{a}rya,  187$
dhá $nvan$ , 185	prthivi, 184	$makh\acute{a},~187$
$dh\bar{a}$ $\sqrt{\ }$ , <b>204</b>	Pŕśn $i$ , 182	$m\acute{a}h,~190$
$dh \acute{a}man, \ 185$	$p\dot{r}$ ṣ $atar{\imath}$ , 189	$mahcute{a},\ 190$
$dh\bar{i}$ , 197	$pa\'umsya,  {f 192}$	$mah \acute{a}t,\ 190$
dhira, 195	$pr\'acetas, 191$	$mahcute{a}s,\ 190$
$dh\acute{u}ni, \ 191$	$pratham \acute{a}, {f 203}$	$m\acute{a}has, {f 190}$
dhúr, <b>189</b>	práyajyu, <b>193</b>	$m\acute{a}hi,\ 190$
$dh\bar{u}$ $\checkmark$ , <b>194</b>	práyas, <b>199</b>	$m\acute{a}hi,\ 190$
dhūti, <b>191</b>	priyá, <b>200</b>	mahitvanlpha, <b>190</b>
$dhrsnuy \hat{a}, 202$	psu, <b>200</b>	$mahis\acute{a}, {f 201}$
$dhrsn\acute{u},$ 191	blpha la, 190	$mah ilde{i}$ , 190
$dhen\acute{u},  201$	barhís, 195	$m\bar{a} \checkmark$ , <b>206</b>
naktá, <b>201</b>	$b\bar{a}h\acute{u},193$	$m\bar{a} \checkmark, 206$
$nam \checkmark$ , 193	bṛhát, <b>202</b>	$m\bar{a}t\acute{r},~198$
námas, 197	bráhman, 195	mānuṣa, <b>198</b>
nāka, <b>185</b>	brahmán, <b>196</b>	$mar{a}ndar{a}ry\acute{a},199$
$n\dot{a}man, \ 198$	$bh\bar{a}nu,\ 192$	$m\bar{a}ny\acute{a},~196$

210 INDEX

mắrut, 182         vac $\checkmark$ , 205         vṛṣti, 186           Mitrá, 183         vájra, 188         vedhás, 191           mít, 186         vad $\checkmark$ , 206         vyūṣṭi, 201           mūthvás, 200         van $\checkmark$ , 207         vrata, 202           muc $\checkmark$ , 206         vána, 199         vráta, 187           mryd, 201         vána, 201         satá, 203           medhá, 197         Vánaspáti, 182         sam, 194           myaks $\checkmark$ , 206         vánaspáti, 185         sam, 94           yaját, 195         vand $\checkmark$ , 196         sárdha, 186           yajňíva, 195         váyas, 189         sárdhas, 186           yajñíva, 195         vayá, 194         sárman, 194           yájatra, 193         vará, 199         sávas, 189           yam $\checkmark$ , 194         ganá, 187         sásamāná, 198           yat $\checkmark$ , 205         Váruna, 183         sámsa, 196           yā $\checkmark$ , 204         váruna, 200         súch, 187           yáma, 188         vah $\checkmark$ , 204         súbh, 187           yáma, 188         váh, 201         subhrá, 187           yu, 203         vája, 189         súrna, 189           yu, $\checkmark$ , 205         vác, 199         súsma, 189           yu, 205         vác, 199	Mitrá, 183         vájra, 188         vedhás, 191 $m\hbar$ , 186         vad $\checkmark$ , 206         vyùṣṭ, 201 $m\bar{d}$ hớás, 200         van $\checkmark$ , 207         vratá, 202 $muc \checkmark$ , 206         vána, 199         vrắta, 187 $mrgá$ , 201         vána, 201         satá, 203 $medhå$ , 197 $V$ ánaspáti, 182         sam, 194 $myaks \checkmark$ , 206         vánaspáti, 185         sams $\checkmark$ , 206 $yaj \checkmark$ , 195         vand $\checkmark$ , 196         sárdha, 186 $yajñá$ , 195         váyas, 189         sárdhas, 186 $yajñá$ , 195         vayá, 194         sárman, 194           yájatra, 193         vará, 199         sávas, 189 $yam \checkmark$ , 194         gaṇá, 187         sásamāná, 198           yat $\checkmark$ , 205         Várua, 183         sámsa, 196           ya $ \checkmark$ , 204         várna, 200         súci, 191           yát, 203         vásu, 200         súbh $\checkmark$ , 187           yáman, 188         váhni, 201         subhrá, 187           yaman, 188         váhni, 201         súbhrá, 187           yu $\checkmark$ , 204         vájin, 189         súra, 189           yu $\checkmark$ , 204         vájin, 189         súra, 187           yu $\checkmark$ , 204
$m \hat{m} h$ , 186 $vad \lor$ , 206 $vy \hat{v}_1 \hat{s}_1$ , 201 $m \hat{u} d \hat{v} d \hat{v}$ , 206 $van \checkmark$ , 207 $vrat \hat{d}$ , 202 $m u c \lor$ , 206 $v \hat{a} n a$ , 199 $v \hat{t} \hat{d} a$ , 187 $m r g \hat{d}$ , 201 $v \hat{a} n a$ , 201 $sat \hat{d}$ , 203 $m e d \hat{h} \hat{d}$ , 197 $V \hat{a} n a s p \hat{t} \hat{t}$ , 182 $sam$ , 194 $m y a \hat{s} \checkmark$ , 206 $v \hat{a} n a s p \hat{t} \hat{t}$ , 185 $sam$ , 194 $w y \hat{d} \checkmark$ , 195 $v a n d \checkmark$ , 196 $s \hat{a} r d h a$ , 186 $y \hat{a} \hat{p} \hat{n} \hat{t}$ , 195 $v a y \hat{d}$ , 194 $s \hat{a} r d h a$ , 186 $y \hat{a} \hat{p} \hat{n} \hat{t}$ , 195 $v a y \hat{d}$ , 194 $s \hat{a} r d h a$ , 186 $y \hat{a} \hat{p} \hat{t}$ , 205 $v a y \hat{d}$ , 199 $s \hat{a} v a s$ , 189 $y a \checkmark$ $\checkmark$ , 204 $v \hat{a} r n$ , 183 $s \hat{a} m s n$ , 196 $y \hat{a} \checkmark$ , 203 $v \hat{a} v n$ , 200 $v \hat{b} h \checkmark$ , 187 $y \hat{a} m$ , 188 $v \hat{a} h \land$ , 201 $s \hat{b} h \hat{b} \uparrow$ , 187 $y \hat{a} m$ , 188 $v \hat{a} h \uparrow$ , 201 $s \hat{b} h \hat{b} \uparrow$ , 187 $y \hat{a} m$ , 189 $v \hat{a} r n$ , 189 $v \hat{a} r n$ , 189 $y v \checkmark$ , 205 $v \hat{a} r n$ , 189 $s \hat{a} r n$ , 189 <td><math>mih</math>, 186       <math>vad \lor</math>, 206       <math>vy\dot{v}sti</math>, 201         <math>midhv\dot{a}s</math>, 200       <math>van \lor</math>, 207       <math>vrat\dot{a}</math>, 202         <math>muc \lor</math>, 206       <math>v\dot{a}na</math>, 199       <math>vrat\dot{a}</math>, 187         <math>mrg\dot{a}</math>, 201       <math>v\dot{a}na</math>, 201       <math>sat\dot{a}</math>, 203         <math>medh\dot{a}</math>, 197       <math>V\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti</math>, 182       <math>sam</math>, 194         <math>myaks \lor</math>, 206       <math>v\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti</math>, 185       <math>sam \lor</math>, 206         <math>yj</math>, 195       <math>vand \lor</math>, 196       <math>s\dot{a}rdha</math>, 186         <math>yaj \lor</math>, 195       <math>v\dot{a}nd</math>, 199       <math>s\dot{a}rdha</math>, 186         <math>yaj \dot{a}tra</math>, 193       <math>var\dot{a}</math>, 199       <math>s\dot{a}radha</math>, 188         <math>yam \lor</math>, 194       <math>yan\dot{a}</math>, 187       <math>s\dot{a}sam\bar{a}n\dot{a}</math>, 198         <math>yam \lor</math>, 194       <math>yan\dot{a}</math>, 183       <math>s\dot{a}msa</math>, 196         <math>y\dot{a}</math>, 205       <math>v\dot{a}rna</math>, 200       <math>s\dot{a}\dot{c}\dot{a}</math>, 191         <math>y\dot{a}</math>, 204       <math>v\dot{a}rna</math>, 200       <math>s\dot{b}h\dot{\gamma}</math>, 187         <math>y\dot{a}man</math>, 188       <math>v\dot{a}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 204       <math>y\dot{a}h\dot{\gamma}</math>, 189       <math>s\dot{x}ma</math>, 189         <math>yu</math>, 205       <math>v\dot{a}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 189       <math>s\dot{x}ma</math>, 189       <math>s\dot{x}ma</math>, 189         <math>yu</math>, 205       <math>v\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 189       <math>s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 201       <math>suhhr\dot{\alpha}</math>, 187         <math>yu</math>, 205       <math>v\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 189       <math>s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 201       <math>s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 204       <math>y\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}</math>, 189       <t< td=""></t<></td>	$mih$ , 186 $vad \lor$ , 206 $vy\dot{v}sti$ , 201 $midhv\dot{a}s$ , 200 $van \lor$ , 207 $vrat\dot{a}$ , 202 $muc \lor$ , 206 $v\dot{a}na$ , 199 $vrat\dot{a}$ , 187 $mrg\dot{a}$ , 201 $v\dot{a}na$ , 201 $sat\dot{a}$ , 203 $medh\dot{a}$ , 197 $V\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti$ , 182 $sam$ , 194 $myaks \lor$ , 206 $v\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti$ , 185 $sam \lor$ , 206 $yj$ , 195 $vand \lor$ , 196 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj \lor$ , 195 $v\dot{a}nd$ , 199 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj \dot{a}tra$ , 193 $var\dot{a}$ , 199 $s\dot{a}radha$ , 188 $yam \lor$ , 194 $yan\dot{a}$ , 187 $s\dot{a}sam\bar{a}n\dot{a}$ , 198 $yam \lor$ , 194 $yan\dot{a}$ , 183 $s\dot{a}msa$ , 196 $y\dot{a}$ , 205 $v\dot{a}rna$ , 200 $s\dot{a}\dot{c}\dot{a}$ , 191 $y\dot{a}$ , 204 $v\dot{a}rna$ , 200 $s\dot{b}h\dot{\gamma}$ , 187 $y\dot{a}man$ , 188 $v\dot{a}\dot{\gamma}$ , 204 $y\dot{a}h\dot{\gamma}$ , 189 $s\dot{x}ma$ , 189 $yu$ , 205 $v\dot{a}\dot{\gamma}$ , 189 $s\dot{x}ma$ , 189 $s\dot{x}ma$ , 189 $yu$ , 205 $v\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}$ , 189 $s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}$ , 201 $suhhr\dot{\alpha}$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}$ , 189 $s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}$ , 201 $s\dot{\gamma}\dot{\gamma}$ , 204 $y\dot{\alpha}\dot{\gamma}$ , 189 <t< td=""></t<>
$m\bar{i}dhv\acute{a}s$ , 200 $van\ $ , 207 $vrata$ , 202 $muc\ $ , 206 $v\acute{a}na$ , 199 $vr\'{a}ta$ , 187 $mrg\acute{a}$ , 201 $v\acute{a}na$ , 201 $sat\acute{a}$ , 203 $medh\acute{a}$ , 197 $V\acute{a}nasp\acute{a}ti$ , 182 $sam$ , 194 $myaks\ $ , 206 $v\acute{a}nasp\acute{a}ti$ , 185 $sams\ $ , 206 $yaj\ $ , 195 $vand\ $ , 196 $s\'{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\~{n}\acute{a}$ , 195 $vay\~{a}$ , 189 $s\'{a}rdhas$ , 186 $yaj\~{n}\acute{a}$ , 195 $vay\~{a}$ , 194 $s\'{a}rman$ , 194 $y\'{a}jatra$ , 193 $var\'{a}$ , 199 $s\'{a}vas$ , 189 $yam\ $ , 194 $y\'{a}rman$ , 194 $y\'{a}jatran$ , 183 $s\'{a}msa$ , 198 $yaf\ $ , 205 $V\'{a}run$ , 183 $s\'{a}msa$ , 196 $y\'{a}$ , 204 $v\'{a}rn$ , 200 $s\'{u}bh\ $ , 187 $y\'{a}man$ , 188 $v\'{a}h$ , 201 $subh\ a$ , 187 $y\'{a}man$ , 188 $v\'{a}t$ , 199 $s\'{u}sma$ , 189 $yu\ $ , 205 $v\~{a}c$ , 199 $s\'{u}sma$ , 189 $yu\ $ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\'{u}ra$ , 187 $yu\ $ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\'{u}ra$ , 187	$m\bar{\imath}dhv\dot{a}s$ , 200 $van\ $ , 207 $vrat\dot{a}$ , 202 $muc\ $ , 206 $v\dot{a}na$ , 199 $vrat\dot{a}$ , 187 $mrg\dot{a}$ , 201 $v\dot{a}na$ , 201 $sat\dot{a}$ , 203 $medh\dot{a}$ , 197 $V\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti$ , 182 $sam$ , 194 $myaks\ $ , 206 $v\dot{a}nasp\dot{a}ti$ , 185 $sam\ $ , 206 $yaj\ $ , 195 $v\dot{a}nd\ $ , 196 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{a}\dot{a}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}yas$ , 189 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}y\dot{a}$ , 194 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}y\dot{a}$ , 194 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 319 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 319 $s\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{b}\dot{b}$ , 195 $v\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 194 $s\dot{a}\dot{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj\dot{b}\dot{b}$ , 194 $y\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 199 $s\dot{a}\dot{a}\dot{a}$ , 189 $yaf\ $ , 205 $v\dot{a}\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 200 $s\dot{b}\dot{b}\dot{b}$ , 187 $y\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 203 $v\dot{a}\dot{b}$ , 189 $s\dot{a}\dot{b}\dot{b}$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\dot{a}\dot{c}$ , 189 $s\dot{a}\dot{c}$ , 187 $yu$ , 206 $v\dot{a}\dot{c}$ , 189 <th< td=""></th<>
$mrgd$ , 201 $vána$ , 201 $\acute{s}ta\acute{a}$ , 203 $medh\acute{a}$ , 197 $V\acute{a}nasp\acute{a}ti$ , 182 $\acute{s}am$ , 194 $myaks \lor$ , 206 $v\acute{a}nasp\acute{a}ti$ , 185 $\acute{s}ams \lor$ , 206 $yaj \lor$ , 195 $vand \lor$ , 196 $\acute{s}\acute{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj \lor$ , 195 $vay \i$ , 194 $\acute{s}\acute{a}rdha$ , 186 $yaj \lor var$ , 193 $var \i$ , 199 $\acute{s}\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $y\acute{a}jatra$ , 193 $var \i$ , 199 $\acute{s}\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $yav \lor$ , 194 $yar \i$ , 199 $\acute{s}\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $yav \lor$ , 205 $V\acute{a}rua$ , 183 $\acute{s}\acute{a}msa$ , 196 $y\ddot{a} \lor$ , 204 $v\acute{a}rua$ , 200 $\acute{s}\acute{u}smsa$ , 196 $y\ddot{a} \lor$ , 204 $v\acute{a}rua$ , 200 $\acute{s}\acute{u}sh$ , 2187 $y\'{a}$ ma, 188 $v\acute{a}$ hni, 201 $\acute{s}\acute{u}sh$ , 187 $y\'{a}$ ma, 188 $v\acute{a}$ hni, 201 $\acute{s}\acute{u}sma$ , 189 $yu$ , 203 $v\acute{a}$ in, 189 $\acute{s}\acute{u}$ ira, 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\acute{a}$ jin, 189 $\acute{s}\acute{u}$ ira, 189 $yu\acute{d}$ h, 187 $v\acute{a}$ jin, 189 $\acute{s}\acute{u}$ jin, 189 $\acute{s}\acute{u}$ jin, 189 $\acute{u}$ jin, 189 $\acute{u}$ jin, 189 $\acute{u}$ jin, 180 $\acute{u}$ jin, 180<	$mrg \acute{a}$ , 201 $v\'ana$ , 201 $\'at \acute{a}$ , 203 $med \hbar \acute{a}$ , 197 $V\'anasp\'ati$ , 182 $\'am$ , 194 $myaks \surd$ , 206 $v\'anasp\'ati$ , 185 $\'ams \surd$ , 206 $yaj \surd$ , 195 $vand \surd$ , 196 $\'ardha$ , 186 $yaj \~at$ , 195 $v\'ay \~a$ , 189 $\'ardhas$ , 186 $yaj \~at$ , 195 $vay \~a$ , 194 $\'arman$ , 194 $y\'aj \'at$ , 193 $var\'a$ , 199 $\'av \'as$ , 189 $yam \surd$ , 194 $ya \'an \'a$ , 187 $\'as \'am \~an \'a$ , 198 $yat \surd$ , 205 $V\'aruna$ , 183 $\'as \'am \~an \'a$ , 198 $y\'at$ , 204 $v\'arna$ , 200 $\'av \'av$ , 196 $y\'at$ , 204 $v\'aruna$ , 183 $\'at \'am \~an$ , 196 $y\'at$ , 204 $v\'aruna$ , 200 $\'av \'av$ , 191 $y\'at$ , 204 $v\'aruna$ , 200 $\'av \'av$ , 187 $y\'am$ , 188 $v\'ah \surd$ , 204 $\'av \'av$ , 187 $y\'am$ , 188 $v\'ah \surd$ , 201 $\'av \'av$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\'av$ , 189 $\'av$ $\'av$ $yu$ , 204 $v\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$ $yu$ , 205 $v\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$ $\'av$
$medh\emph{h}$ , 197 $V\emph{a}nasp\emph{a}ti$ , 185 $sam$ , 194 $myak \not > $ , 206 $v\emph{a}nasp\emph{a}ti$ , 185 $sams \checkmark$ , 206 $yaj \lor$ , 195 $vand \checkmark$ , 196 $s\emph{a}tha$ , 186 $yaj\emph{n}\emph{h}$ , 195 $v\emph{a}y\emph{a}$ , 189 $s\emph{a}thas$ , 186 $yaj\emph{n}\emph{h}$ , 195 $vay\emph{a}$ , 194 $s\emph{a}tman$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{j}\emph{a}t\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 193 $var\emph{a}$ , 199 $s\emph{a}\emph{x}man$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{j}\emph{a}t\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 193 $var\emph{a}$ , 199 $s\emph{a}\emph{x}man$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{j}\emph{a}t\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 193 $var\emph{a}$ , 199 $s\emph{a}\emph{x}man$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{j}\emph{a}t\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 193 $var\emph{a}$ , 199 $s\emph{a}\emph{x}man$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{j}\emph{a}$ , 194 $y\emph{a}\emph{i}\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 200 $s\emph{i}\emph{i}\emph{c}\emph{i}$ , 191 $y\emph{a}t$ , 204 $v\emph{a}\emph{r}\emph{r}\emph{a}$ , 200 $s\emph{i}\emph{u}\emph{b}\emph{h}$ , 187 $y\emph{a}\emph{m}\emph{a}$ , 188 $v\emph{a}\emph{h}$ , 201 $s\emph{u}\emph{b}\emph{h}$ , 187 $y\emph{a}\emph{m}\emph{a}$ , 188 $v\emph{a}\emph{h}$ , 201 $s\emph{u}\emph{b}\emph{h}$ , 187 $y\emph{a}\emph{m}\emph{a}$ , 188 $v\emph{a}\emph{h}$ , 201 $s\emph{u}\emph{b}\emph{h}$ , 187 $y\emph{a}\emph{m}\emph{a}$ , 188 $v\emph{a}\emph{h}$ , 189 $s\emph{u}\emph{a}$ , 187 $y\emph{u}\emph{d}$ , 187 $v\emph{u}\emph{d}$ , 189 $s\emph{u}\emph{u}$ , 201	$medhå$ , 197 $V\'anasp\'ati$ , 182 $sam$ , 194 $myaks$ , $\checkmark$ , 206 $v\'anasp\'ati$ , 185 $sams$ , $\checkmark$ , 206 $yaj$ , 195 $vand$ , 196 $s\'ardha$ , 186 $yaj\~n\'a$ , 195 $v\'ay\'a$ , 194 $s\'arman$ , 194 $y\'ajatra$ , 193 $var\'a$ , 199 $s\'avas$ , 189 $yam$ , 194 $yan\'a$ , 187 $s\'asam\~an\'a$ , 198 $yam$ , 194 $yan\'a$ , 183 $s\'am\~an$ , 196 $y\'av$ , 205 $V\'aruna$ , 183 $s\'am\~an$ , 196 $y\'am$ , 188 $v\'ar$ , 200 $s\'ubh$ , 187 $y\'ama$ , 188 $v\'ah$ , 204 $s\'ubh\'a$ , 187 $y\'am$ , 188 $v\'ah$ , 201 $s\'ubh\'a$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\'ar$ , 199 $s\'uvar$ , 189 $yu$ , 204 $v\'ajin$ , 189 $s\'ura$ , 189 $yu$ , 204 $v\'ajin$ , 189 $s\'yra$ , 201 $y\'u\'dh$ , 187 $v\'a\'a$ , 186 $s\'avava$ , 194 $y\'u\'dh$ , 187 $v\'ay\'a$ , 189 $s\'yra$ , 201 $y\'u\'dh$ , 187 $v\'ay\'a$ , 188 $s\'avava$ , 194 $y\'u\'dh$ , 187 $v\'avavavavavavavavavavavavavavavavavava$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$yaj \lor$ , 195 $yamd \lor$ , 196 $yajna$ , 195 $yayas$ , 189 $yayas$ , 189 $yajna$ , 195 $yayas$ , 189 $yayas$ , 189 $yamas$ , 194 $yajna$ , 195 $yayas$ , 199 $yaxas$ , 189 $yam \lor$ , 194 $yajna$ , 194 $yajna$ , 194 $yajna$ , 195 $yan \lor$ , 194 $yan \lor$ , 194 $yan \lor$ , 194 $yan \lor$ , 194 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 200 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 200 $yan \lor$ , 187 $yan \lor$ , 188 $yan \lor$ , 200 $yan \lor$ , 187 $yan \lor$ , 188 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 201 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 201 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 201 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 207 $yan \lor$ , 208 $yan \lor$ , 209 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 207 $yan \lor$ , 208 $yan \lor$ , 209 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 209 $yan \lor$ , 201 $yan \lor$ , 204 $yan \lor$ , 205 $yan \lor$ , 206 $yan \lor$ , 207 $yan \lor$ , 208 $yan \lor$ , 208 $yan \lor$ , 209 $yan \lor$ , 200 $ya$
$yaj\bar{n}\acute{a}$ , 195 $v\acute{a}yas$ , 194 $s\acute{a}rdhas$ , 186 $yaj\acute{n}\acute{y}a$ , 195 $vay\acute{a}$ , 194 $s\acute{a}rman$ , 194 $y\acute{a}j\acute{a}tra$ , 193 $var\acute{a}$ , 199 $s\acute{a}was$ , 189 $yat$ 205 $y\acute{a}m_{\dot{a}}$ , 187 $s\acute{a}sam\~{a}n\acute{a}$ , 198 $y\~{a}$ 205 $V\acute{a}runa$ , 183 $s\acute{a}msa$ , 196 $y\~{a}$ 204 $v\acute{a}rna$ , 200 $s\acute{u}\acute{c}i$ , 191 $y\'{a}$ 203 $v\acute{a}su$ , 200 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}t$ 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hi$ , 201 $s\acute{u}\acute{b}ha$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}ma$ , 189 $s\acute{u}\acute{c}$ , 201 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}\acute{c}$ , 209 $s\acute{a}\acute{c}$ , 201     <	$yaj\tilde{n}\acute{a}$ , 195 $v\acute{a}yas$ , 189 $s\acute{a}rdhas$ , 186 $yaj\tilde{n}\acute{v}ya$ , 195 $vay\acute{a}$ , 194 $s\acute{a}rman$ , 194 $y\acute{a}jatra$ , 193 $var\acute{a}$ , 199 $s\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $yam \checkmark$ , 194 $yan \acute{a}$ , 187 $s\acute{a}s\'{a}m\bar{a}n\acute{a}$ , 198 $yat \checkmark$ , 205 $V\'{a}runa$ , 183 $s\acute{a}msa$ , 196 $y\ddot{a}$ , 204 $v\'{a}rua$ , 200 $s\acute{u}ci$ , 191 $y\acute{a}t$ , 203 $v\'{a}su$ , 200 $s\acute{u}bh \checkmark$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}bhr\acute{a}$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\'{a}c$ , 199 $s\acute{u}sma$ , 189 $yu$ , 203 $v\'{a}ja$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 205 $v\'{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\ddot{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 189 $yu$ , 204 $v\ddot{a}yi$ , 183
$yaj\tilde{n}iya$ , 195 $yay\tilde{a}$ , 194 $s\acute{a}rman$ , 194 $y\acute{a}jatra$ , 193 $yar\acute{a}$ , 199 $s\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $yam \checkmark$ , 194 $yaivas$ , 205 $V\acute{a}runa$ , 183 $s\acute{a}m\tilde{a}a$ , 196 $y\bar{a}$ $\sqrt{2}$ , 204 $v\acute{a}rna$ , 200 $s\acute{u}ci$ , 191 $y\acute{a}t$ , 203 $v\acute{a}su$ , 200 $s\acute{u}bh \checkmark$ , 187 $y\acute{a}man$ , 188 $vah \checkmark$ , 204 $v\acute{a}rina$ , 201 $s\acute{u}bhr\acute{a}$ , 187 $y\acute{a}man$ , 188 $v\acute{a}hni$ , 201 $s\acute{u}bhr\acute{a}$ , 187 $y\acute{u}\checkmark$ , 205 $v\acute{a}c$ , 199 $s\acute{u}sma$ , 189 $yu$ , 203 $v\acute{a}ja$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $y\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 204 $v\acute{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{v}en\acute{a}$ , 201 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 204 $v\acute{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{v}en\acute{a}$ , 201 $v\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 187 $v\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 189 $s\acute{v}en\acute{a}$ , 201 $v\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 187 $v\acute{u}\acute{u}/$ , 188 $s\acute{r}\acute{u}/$ , 205 $v\acute{a}\acute{u}/$ , 188 $s\acute{r}\acute{u}/$ , 205 $v\acute{a}\acute{u}/$ , 188 $s\acute{u}/$ , 205 $v\acute{a}\acute{u}/$ , 204 $v\acute{a}\acute{u}/$ , 188 $s\acute{r}\acute{u}/$ , 205 $v\acute{u}/$ , 189 $s\acute{u}/$ , 206 $v\acute{u}/$ , 204 $s\acute{u}/$ , 204 $s\acute{u}/$ , 206 $v\acute{u}/$ , 206 $v\acute{u}/$ , 206 $v\acute{u}/$ , 207 $v\acute{u}/$ , 186 $s\acute{u}/$ , 207 $v\acute{u}/$ , 199 $v\acute{u}/$ , 206 $v\acute{u}/$ , 205 $s\acute{u}/$ , 207 $v\acute{u}/$ , 207 $v\acute{u}/$ , 208 $v\acute{u}/$ , 209 $v\acute{u}/$ , 200	$yaj\tilde{n}iya$ , 195 $vay\tilde{a}$ , 194 $s\acute{a}rman$ , 194 $y\acute{a}jatra$ , 193 $var\acute{a}$ , 199 $s\acute{a}vas$ , 189 $yam \checkmark$ , 194 $yan\acute{a}$ , 187 $s\acute{a}sam\bar{a}n\acute{a}$ , 198 $yat \checkmark$ , 205 $V\acute{a}runa$ , 183 $s\acute{a}msa$ , 196 $y\bar{a}$ , 204 $v\acute{a}rna$ , 200 $s\acute{u}bh \checkmark$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}h \checkmark$ , 204 $s\acute{u}bhs$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}h$ , 201 $s\acute{u}bhr\acute{a}$ , 187 $y\'{a}ma$ , 188 $v\acute{a}h$ , 201 $s\acute{u}bhr\acute{a}$ , 187 $yu \checkmark$ , 205 $v\'{a}c$ , 199 $s\acute{u}sma$ , 189 $yu$ , 203 $v\acute{a}ja$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu$ , 204 $v\acute{a}jin$ , 189 $s\acute{u}ra$ , 187 $yu\acute{d}h$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 186 $sr\acute{a}vas$ , 194 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 186 $sr\acute{a}vas$ , 194 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 188 $sr\acute{t}$ , 195 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 188 $sr\acute{t}$ , 195 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 188 $sr\acute{t}$ , 195 $y\acute{u}dh$ , 187 $v\acute{a}ta$ , 188 $sr\acute{t}$ , 195 $v\acute{u}dh$ , 188 $sr\acute{t}$ , 195 $sac$ , 205 $r\acute{t}$ , 206 $vid$ , 204 </td
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	yájatra, 193       vará, 199       sávas, 189         yam $\checkmark$ , 194       ganá, 187       sásamāná, 198         yat $\checkmark$ , 205       Váruṇa, 183       sáṃsa, 196         yā $\checkmark$ , 204       várṇa, 200       súci, 191         yắt, 203       vásu, 200       subh $\checkmark$ , 187         yắma, 188       vah $\checkmark$ , 204       súbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       subhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vác, 199       súṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấja, 189       sứra, 187         yuj $\checkmark$ , 204       vấjin, 189       syená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       srávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       srī, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       sru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vāśī, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         rasmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\checkmark$ , 206       vípra, 199       sádā, 202         rádhas, 194       vís, 205       sádā, 202         rádhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$yam \checkmark$ , 194 $yah$ , 194 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 198 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 200 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 200 $yah$ , 203 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 189 $yah$ , 203 $yah$ , 189 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 189 $yah$ , 201 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 187 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 186 $yah$ , 195 $yah$ , 195 $yah$ , 195 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 195 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 195 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 188 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 189 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 189 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 186 $yah$ , 207 $yah$ , 191 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 204 $yah$ , 186 $yah$ , 207 $yah$ , 199 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 199 $yah$ , 205 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 206 $yah$ , 207 $yah$ , 208 $yah$ , 209 $yah$ , 2
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh $\checkmark$ , 187         yắma, 188       vah $\checkmark$ , 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấṇa, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ $\checkmark$ , 204       vấṇn, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śr̄, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śrư $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vāšī, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         rawí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyáśavas, 191         rājan, 199       viś $\checkmark$ , 205       sádã, 202         rádhas, 194       viś, 203       saptá, 203         riśadas, 193       vís, 202       sámanyu, 191         rís, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samāná, 203         rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudrá, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 197 <th< td=""><td>yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh <math>\checkmark</math>, 187         yắma, 188       vah <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu <math>\checkmark</math>, 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấja, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       vấjin, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru <math>\checkmark</math>, 205         rájas, 184       vãṣĩ, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac <math>\checkmark</math>, 206         ram <math>\checkmark</math>, 206       vid <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā <math>\checkmark</math>, 206       vípra, 199       satyásavas, 191         rājan, 199       vís <math>\checkmark</math>, 205       sádā, 202         rắdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśādas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī, 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186</td></th<>	yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh $\checkmark$ , 187         yắma, 188       vah $\checkmark$ , 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấja, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ $\checkmark$ , 204       vấjin, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vãṣĩ, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\checkmark$ , 206       vípra, 199       satyásavas, 191         rājan, 199       vís $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rắdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśādas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī, 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186
yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh $\checkmark$ , 187         yắma, 188       vah $\checkmark$ , 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấṇa, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ $\checkmark$ , 204       vấṇn, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śr̄, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śrư $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vāšī, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         rawí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyáśavas, 191         rājan, 199       viś $\checkmark$ , 205       sádã, 202         rádhas, 194       viś, 203       saptá, 203         riśadas, 193       vís, 202       sámanyu, 191         rís, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samāná, 203         rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudrá, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 197 <th< td=""><td>yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh <math>\checkmark</math>, 187         yắma, 188       vah <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu <math>\checkmark</math>, 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấja, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       vấjin, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru <math>\checkmark</math>, 205         rájas, 184       vãṣĩ, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac <math>\checkmark</math>, 206         ram <math>\checkmark</math>, 206       vid <math>\checkmark</math>, 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā <math>\checkmark</math>, 206       vípra, 199       satyásavas, 191         rājan, 199       vís <math>\checkmark</math>, 205       sádā, 202         rắdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśādas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī, 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186</td></th<>	yắt, 203       vásu, 200       śubh $\checkmark$ , 187         yắma, 188       vah $\checkmark$ , 204       śúbha, 187         yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vấja, 189       śứṣna, 187         yuỷ $\checkmark$ , 204       vấjin, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vãṣĩ, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\checkmark$ , 206       vípra, 199       satyásavas, 191         rājan, 199       vís $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rắdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśādas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī, 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	yắman, 188       váhni, 201       śubhrá, 187         yu $\checkmark$ , 205       vắc, 199       śúṣma, 189         yu, 203       vắja, 189       śứra, 187         yuỷ $\checkmark$ , 204       vấjin, 189       śyená, 201         yúdh, 187       vắta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vāśĩ, 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\checkmark$ , 206       vípra, 199       satyásrut, 191         rájan, 199       viś $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rádhas, 194       víś, 203       saptá, 203         riśādas, 193       víśva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       viśvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       viśvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$yu, 203$ $v\'aja, 189$ $s\'ura, 187$ $yuj \checkmark, 204$ $v\'ajin, 189$ $syen\acute{a}, 201$ $y\'udh, 187$ $v\'ata, 186$ $sr\'avas, 194$ $y\'udh, 187$ $kh\bar{a}d\acute{i}, 188$ $s\'ri, 195$ $y\'uvan, 192$ $V\bar{a}y\'u, 183$ $sru \checkmark, 205$ $r\'ajas, 184$ $v\bar{a}s\ddot{i}, 188$ $sakhy\'a, 203$ $r\'adha, 188$ $v\acute{i}, 189$ $sac \checkmark, 206$ $ram \checkmark, 206$ $vid \checkmark, 204$ $s\'ac\bar{a}, 203$ $ray\'i, 194$ $vid\'atha, 197$ $saty\'as vas, 191$ $rasm\'i, 202$ $vidy\'ut, 186$ $saty\'as vas, 191$ $r\ddot{a}$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $r\ddot{a}$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $r\ddot{a}$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $v$ $r\ddot{a}$ $v$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
yúdh, 187       vấta, 186       śrávas, 194         yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śrí, 195         yúvan, 192 $V\bar{a}y\acute{u}$ , 183       śru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184 $v\bar{a}s\bar{\imath}$ , 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rājan, 199       vís $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rådhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśádas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         rís, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186         rukmá, 188       Víṣṇu, 183       sámmiśla, 191         rukmávakṣas, 188       vītí, 199       sahá, 203         Rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudríya, 192       vr $\checkmark$ , 197       sáhas, 190         rudríya, 192       vr $\checkmark$ , 206       sahásra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205       vṛta, 195       sātí, 200         rocaná, 184       vṛt $\checkmark$ , 204       ukṣámāṇa, 200         ródas, 184 <td><math display="block">\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td>	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
yúdh, 187       khādí, 188       śr $\hat{t}$ , 195         yúvan, 192       Vāyú, 183       śru $\checkmark$ , 205         rájas, 184       vās $\hat{t}$ , 188       sakhyá, 203         rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206       vid $\checkmark$ , 204       sác $\bar{a}$ , 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         raśmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\checkmark$ , 206       vípra, 199       satyaśrut, 191         rájan, 199       viś $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rådhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         riśádas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         rís, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186         rukmá, 188       Víṣṇu, 183       sámmiśla, 191         rukmávakṣas, 188       vītí, 199       sahá, 203         Rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudríya, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 197       sáhas, 190         rudríya, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 206       sahásra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205       vṛta, 195       sātí, 200         rocaná, 184       vṛt $\checkmark$ , 204       ukṣámāṇa, 200         ródas, 18	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
yúvan, 192 $V\bar{a}y\acute{u}$ , 183         śru $\checkmark$ , 205           rájas, 184 $v\bar{a}s\~{i}$ , 188         sakhyá, 203           rátha, 188 $v\'{i}$ , 189         sac $\checkmark$ , 206           ram $\checkmark$ , 206 $vid \checkmark$ , 204         sácā, 203           ray\'{i}, 194 $vid\'{a}tha$ , 197         satyá, 191           raśmi, 202 $vidy\'{i}$ t, 186         satyásavas, 191           rājan, 199 $v\'{i}$ s $\checkmark$ , 205         sádā, 202           rắdhas, 194 $v\'{i}$ s, 203         saptá, 203           riśadas, 193 $v\'{i}$ sva, 202         sámanyu, 191           ríṣ, 199 $visvábhānu$ , 192         samāná, 203           rī $\checkmark$ , 193 $visvávedas$ , 193         samudrá, 186           rukmá, 188 $V\'{i}$ ṣnu, 183         sámmiśla, 191           rukmávakṣas, 188 $v\~{i}$ tí, 199         sahá, 203           Rudrá, 182 $v\~{i}$ ra, 187         sajóṣas, 203           rudrýa, 192 $vr$ $\checkmark$ , 197         sáhas, 190           rudrýa, 192 $vr$ $\checkmark$ , 206         sahásra, 203           rej $\checkmark$ , 205 $vr$ kta, 195         sahasrín, 203           rai, 194 $vr$ $\checkmark$ , 204 $vr$ $\checkmark$ , 204 $vr$ $\checkmark$ , 204           ródas, 184 <td><math display="block">\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td>	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
rájas, 184 $v\bar{a} s\bar{\imath}$ , 188 $sakhy\acute{a}$ , 203         rátha, 188 $v\acute{i}$ , 189 $sac \checkmark$ , 206         ram $\checkmark$ , 206 $vid \checkmark$ , 204 $s\acute{a}c\bar{a}$ , 203         ray\'i, 194 $vid\acute{a}tha$ , 197 $saty\acute{a}$ , 191         raśmi, 202 $vidy\acute{a}t$ , 186 $saty\acute{a}savas$ , 191 $r\bar{a} \checkmark$ , 206 $v\acute{i}pra$ , 199 $saty\acute{a}savas$ , 191         rájan, 199 $v\acute{s}$ , 205 $s\acute{a}d\bar{a}$ , 202         rådhas, 194 $v\acute{s}$ , 203 $sapt\acute{a}$ , 203         riśádas, 193 $v\acute{s}$ , 202 $s\acute{a}manyu$ , 191         ríṣ, 199 $v\acute{s}$ vábhānu, 192 $sam\ddot{a}$ ná, 203 $r\ddot{i}$ , 193 $v\acute{s}$ vávédas, 193 $samudr\acute{a}$ , 186         rukmá, 188 $V\acute{s}$ snu, 183 $s\acute{a}mis\acute{a}$ , 191         rukmávakṣas, 188 $v\~{t}\acute{t}$ , 199 $sah\acute{a}$ , 203         Rudrá, 182 $v\'{t}$ , 187 $saj\acute{o}$ sas, 203         rudríya, 192 $vr$ , 197 $s\acute{a}$ has, 190         rudríya, 192 $vr$ , 206 $sah\acute{a}$ sra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205 $vr$ , 206 $sah\acute{a}$ sra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205 $vr$ , 206 $sah\acute{a}$ sra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205 $vr$ , 204 $vr$ , 204 </td <td><math display="block">\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td>	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
rátha, 188       ví, 189       sac $\sqrt{\ }$ , 206         ram $\sqrt{\ }$ , 206       vid $\sqrt{\ }$ , 204       sácā, 203         rayí, 194       vidátha, 197       satyá, 191         rasmí, 202       vidyút, 186       satyásavas, 191         rā $\sqrt{\ }$ , 206       vípra, 199       satyaśrut, 191         rájan, 199       vis $\sqrt{\ }$ , 205       sádā, 202         rådhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         risádas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         rís, 199       vísvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\sqrt{\ }$ , 193       vísvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186         rukmá, 188       Víṣṇu, 183       sámmiśla, 191         rukmávakṣas, 188       vītí, 199       sahá, 203         Rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudríya, 192       vṛ $\sqrt{\ }$ , 197       sáhas, 190         rudríya, 192       vṛ $\sqrt{\ }$ , 206       saháṣra, 203         rej $\sqrt{\ }$ , 205       vṛkta, 195       sahasrín, 203         rai, 194       vṛjána, 195       sātí, 200         rocaná, 184       vṛt $\sqrt{\ }$ , 204       ukṣámāṇa, 200         ródas, 184       Vṛtrá, 184       síndhu, 185	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$rayi$ , 194 $vidátha$ , 197 $satyá$ , 191 $rasmi$ , 202 $vidyút$ , 186 $satyásavas$ , 191 $r\bar{a} \checkmark$ , 206 $vipra$ , 199 $satyaśrut$ , 191 $rájan$ , 199 $viś\checkmark$ , 205 $sád\bar{a}$ , 202 $rádhas$ , 194 $viś$ , 203 $saptá$ , 203 $riśádas$ , 193 $viśva$ , 202 $sámanyu$ , 191 $riṣ$ , 199 $viśva*bhānu$ , 192 $samaná$ , 203 $r\bar{i} \checkmark$ , 193 $viśva*vedas$ , 193 $samurá$ , 186 $rukmá$ , 188 $Viṣnu$ , 183 $sámmiśla$ , 191 $rukmávakṣas$ , 188 $vit$ , 199 $sahá$ , 203 $Rudrá$ , 182 $vira$ , 187 $sajóṣas$ , 203 $rudriya$ , 192 $vr \checkmark$ , 197 $sáhas$ , 190 $rudriya$ , 192 $vr \checkmark$ , 206 $sahásra$ , 203 $rej \checkmark$ , 205 $vrkta$ , 195 $sahasrín$ , 203 $rai$ , 194 $vrjána$ , 195 $satí$ , 200 $rocaná$ , 184 $vrt \checkmark$ , 204 $ukṣámāṇa$ , 200 $ródas$ , 184 $Vrtrá$ , 184 $vrt \checkmark$ , 204 $vsámāna$ , 200	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$r\bar{a} \checkmark, 206$ $v\'{p}ra, 199$ $satya\'{s}rut, 191$ $r\'{a}jan, 199$ $v\'{i}s \checkmark, 205$ $s\'{a}d\bar{a}, 202$ $r\~{a}dhas, 194$ $v\'{i}s, 203$ $sapt\'{a}, 203$ $r\'{i}s\~{a}das, 193$ $v\'{i}sva, 202$ $s\'{a}manyu, 191$ $r\'{i}s, 199$ $v\'{i}sv\'{a}bh\bar{a}nu, 192$ $sam\bar{a}n\'{a}, 203$ $r\bar{i}\checkmark, 193$ $v\'{i}sv\'{a}vedas, 193$ $samudr\'{a}, 186$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	rấjan, 199       vi $\checkmark$ , 205       sádā, 202         rấdhas, 194       vi $\lesssim$ , 203       saptá, 203         ri sấdas, 193       vi $\lesssim$ va, 202       sámanyu, 191         ri $\lesssim$ , 199       vi $\lesssim$ vábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       vi $\lesssim$ vávedas, 193       samudrá, 186
rắdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         risắdas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         riṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203         rī $\checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186         rukmá, 188       Víṣṇu, 183       sámmiśla, 191         rukmávakṣas, 188       vītí, 199       sahá, 203         Rudrá, 182       víra, 187       sajóṣas, 203         rudrá, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 197       sáhas, 190         rudríya, 192       vṛ $\checkmark$ , 206       saháṣra, 203         rej $\checkmark$ , 205       vṛkta, 195       sahaṣrín, 203         rai, 194       vṛjána, 195       sātí, 200         rocaná, 184       vṛt $\checkmark$ , 204       ukṣámāṇa, 200         ródas, 184       Vṛtrá, 184       síndhu, 185	rấdhas, 194       vís, 203       saptá, 203         risấdas, 193       vísva, 202       sámanyu, 191         ríṣ, 199       visvábhānu, 192       samāná, 203 $r\bar{\iota} \checkmark$ , 193       visvávedas, 193       samudrá, 186
$ris\acute{a}das$ , 193 $vi\acute{s}va$ , 202 $s\acute{a}manyu$ , 191 $ri\surd$ , 199 $vi\acute{s}v\acute{a}bh\bar{a}nu$ , 192 $sam\bar{a}n\acute{a}$ , 203 $ri\surd$ , 193 $vi\acute{s}v\acute{a}vedas$ , 193 $samudr\acute{a}$ , 186 $rukm\acute{a}$ , 188 $Vi\surd{s}nu$ , 183 $s\acute{a}mmisla$ , 191 $rukm\acute{a}vak\jmath{a}s$ , 188 $v\~{t}t\acute{a}$ , 199 $sah\acute{a}$ , 203 $Rudr\acute{a}$ , 182 $v\'{t}ra$ , 187 $saj\acute{o}sas$ , 203 $rudr\acute{a}$ , 192 $vr\surd$ , 197 $s\acute{a}has$ , 190 $rudr\acute{y}a$ , 192 $vr\surd$ , 206 $sah\acute{a}sra$ , 203 $rej\surd$ , 205 $vrkta$ , 195 $sahasr\acute{n}$ , 203 $rai$ , 194 $vrj\acute{a}na$ , 195 $s\bar{a}t\acute{t}$ , 200 $rocan\acute{a}$ , 184 $vrt\surd$ , 204 $uk\surd{s}\acute{m}\bar{a}na$ , 200 $r\acute{o}das$ , 184 $Vrtr\acute{a}$ , 184 $s\acute{n}dhu$ , 185	$risãdas$ , 193 $viśva$ , 202 $sámanyu$ , 191 $ris$ , 199 $viśvábh\bar{a}nu$ , 192 $sam\bar{a}n\acute{a}$ , 203 $r\bar{\iota} \checkmark$ , 193 $viśvávedas$ , 193 $samudr\acute{a}$ , 186
$ris$ , 199 $visvábhanu$ , 192 $samāná$ , 203 $r\bar{i} \checkmark$ , 193 $visvávedas$ , 193 $samudrá$ , 186 $rukmá$ , 188 $Visnu$ , 183 $sámmisla$ , 191 $rukmávakṣas$ , 188 $v\bar{v}t$ , 199 $sahá$ , 203 $Rudrá$ , 182 $vira$ , 187 $sajóṣas$ , 203 $rudrá$ , 192 $vr \checkmark$ , 197 $sáhas$ , 190 $rudriya$ , 192 $vr \checkmark$ , 206 $sahásra$ , 203 $rej \checkmark$ , 205 $vrkta$ , 195 $sahasrín$ , 203 $rai$ , 194 $vrjána$ , 195 $s\bar{a}ti$ , 200 $rocaná$ , 184 $vrt \checkmark$ , 204 $ukṣámāṇa$ , 200 $ródas$ , 184 $Vrtrá$ , 184 $síndhu$ , 185	$r$ ís, 199 $v$ iśvábhānu, 192 $s$ amāná, 203 $r$ ī $\sqrt{193}$ $v$ iśvávedas, 193 $s$ amudrá, 186
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$r\bar{\imath} \checkmark$ , 193 $vi\acute{s}v\acute{a}vedas$ , 193 $samudr\acute{a}$ , 186
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	rukmá, 188 Víṣṇu, 183 sámmiśla, 191
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$rukm\'avakṣas$ , 188 $v\bar{\imath}t\'i$ , 199 $sah\'a$ , 203
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Rudrá, <b>182</b> víra, <b>187</b> sajóṣas, <b>203</b>
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$rudr'a$ , 192 $vr \lor$ , 197 $s'a has$ , 190
$rai$ , 194 $vrj\acute{a}na$ , 195 $s\bar{a}t\acute{i}$ , 200 $rocan\acute{a}$ , 184 $vrt \checkmark$ , 204 $uks\acute{a}m\bar{a}na$ , 200 $r\acute{o}das$ , 184 $Vrtr\acute{a}$ , 184 $s\acute{i}ndhu$ , 185	$rudriya$ , 192 $vr \lor$ , 206 $sah\acute{a}sra$ , 203
$rocan\'a, 184$ $vrt \checkmark, 204$ $ukṣ\'am\=ana, 200$ $r\'odas, 184$ $Vrtr\'a, 184$ $s\'indhu, 185$	$rej \lor$ , <b>205</b> $vrkta$ , <b>195</b> $sahasrin$ , <b>203</b>
ródas, <b>184</b> Vrtrá, <b>184</b> síndhu, <b>185</b>	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	ródas, <b>184</b> Vṛtrá, <b>184</b> síndhu, <b>185</b>
100 auct, 100	$Rodas ilde{t},  183$ $vrdh \checkmark,  204$ $s ilde{u}jar{a}ta,  192$
$v\acute{a}k$ ṣas, 193 $v\acute{r}$ ṣan, 187 $suj\bar{a}t\acute{a}$ , 192	

INDEX 211

sut'a, 197	$stu \sqrt{\ }, \ 205$	havis, 195
$sud\acute{a}nu,~192$	$stutcute{a}$ , 196	$havy\acute{a},\ 195$
sumatí, <b>197</b>	$stot\acute{r}$ , 196	$h\acute{a}vya,  196$
sú $makha$ , 187	$st\'oma, 196$	$hcute{a}sta$ , 193
$sumncute{a}$ , 194	$sth\bar{a} \sqrt{\ }, \ 204$	$h\bar{a} \ \sqrt{\ }, \ {f 205}$
$suvit\'a$ , 194	$sthircute{a},\ 191$	$hit\acute{a},\ 200$
suvira, 187	$sv\acute{a},\ 199$	$hit\acute{a},\ 202$
$suv \hat{i} rya$ , 187	$sv\'atavas, 190$	$h\'iranya, 200$
$s\bar{u}n\acute{u},~192$	$svadh ilde{a},\ 198$	hiranyáya, 200
$s\bar{u}ri$ , 196	$sv\acute{a}bh\bar{a}nu,192$	$h\'irany\'ay\bar{\imath}, 200$
$s ilde{u}rya$ , 186	$sv\grave{a}r,~184$	$h\bar{u} \checkmark,  {f 196}$
$srj \sqrt{, 206}$	$svast\'i$ , 194	$h\acute{r}d,\ {f 198}$
$s\acute{e}n\bar{a},~187$	$han \checkmark$ , <b>204</b>	$h \acute{o} t r$ , 196
$S\'oma$ , 182	$h\acute{a}va,196$	$hve \ \sqrt{\ }, \ {f 196}$

212 Bibliography

# Bibliography

- [Aur98] Sri Aurobindo. *The Secret of the Veda*. Sri Aurobindo Ashram Trust, Pondicherry, 1998.
- [Gon59] Jan Gonda. Four Studies in the Language of the Veda, chapter The 'Original' Sense and the Ethymology of Skt. māyā, pages pp.119–194. Mouton & Co, 1959.
- [Gon73] Jan Gonda. Mitra and mitra the idea of "frienship" in ancient india. *Indologica Taurinensia*, I:pp.71–107, 1973.
- [Gon75a] Jan Gonda. Selected Studies, volume II, chapter Bhuvana-, pages pp.434–449. E.J.Brill, 1975.
- [Gon75b] Jan Gonda. Selected Studies, volume II, chapter The meaning of Vedic kāru., pages pp.287–296. E.J.Brill, 1975.
- [Gon75c] Jan Gonda. Selected Studies, volume II, chapter Adhavara and adhvaryu, pages pp.86–100. E.J.Brill, 1975.
- [Gon84] Jan Gonda. The Vision of the Vedic Poets. Munshiram Manoharlal Publishers, 1984.
- [Iye11] T. Paramasiva Iyer. The Riks or Primeval Gleams of Light and Life. Bangalore, Mysore Government Press, 1911.
- [Iye10] R.N. Iyengar. Comets and meteoritic showers in the rgveda and their significance. *Indian Journal of History of Science*, 45.1:1–32, 2010.
- [JB14] S.W. Jamison and J.P. Brereton. *The Rig Veda*. South Asia research. Oxford University Press, USA, 2014.

214 Bibliography

[Kui74] F.B.J. Kuiper. Vi dayate and vidatha. *Indologica Tau*rinensia, 2:121–132, 1974.

- [Mü] Max Müller. The Sacred Books of the East, volume XXXII. Clarendon Press, 1891.
- [Ren58] Louis Renou. Etudes sur le Vocabulaire du Rgveda. Institut Français d'Indologie, 1958.
- [RL17] R.L.Kashyap. Semantics of Rig Veda. SAKSI, 2017.
- [RVS00] Rgveda-Samhitā. TITUS, 31.1.1997 / 28.2.1998 / 24.6.1998 / 22.10.1999 / 1.6.2000. The metrically restored version by B. van Nooten and G. Holland, the "Padapātha" version by A. Lubotsky, arranged by Jost Gippert, with corrections by Fco.J. Martínez García.
- [Sar98] Lakshman Sarup. The Nighantu and The Nirukta. Motilal Banarsidass Publishers, 1998.
- [Sas52] T.V.Kapali Sastry. Rig-bhashya Bhumika. Sri Aurobindo Ashram Press, 1952.
- [Sem] Dmitri Semenov. Asura and its derivatives in rgveda.
- [Sem18] Dmitri Semenov. *Hinduism and Tribal Religions*, chapter Psychological Method. Springer, 2018.
- [SM92] S.W.Jamison and M.Witzel. Vedic hinduism, 1992.
- [Thi52] Paul Thieme. Bráhman. Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft, 102:91–129, 1952.
- [Tho01] Karen Thomson. The meaning and language of the rigveda: Rigvedic grāvan as a test case. *The Journal of Indo-European Studies*, Volume 29(Number 3 & 4), 2001.